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I. INTRODUCTION 
1. The Procurement Task Force (the Task Force) was created on 12 January 2006 to 
address all procurement matters referred to the Office of Internal Oversight Services 
(OIOS).  The creation of the Task Force was the result of perceived problems in 
procurement identified by the Independent Inquiry Committee into the Oil-for-Food 
Programme, and the arrest and conviction of United Nations Procurement Officer 
Alexander Yakovlev. 

2. Under its Terms of Reference, the Task Force operates as part of OIOS, and 
reports directly to the Under-Secretary-General for OIOS.  The remit of the Task Force is 
to investigate all procurement cases, including all matters involving procurement bidding 
exercises, procurement staff and vendors doing business with the United Nations (the UN 
or the Organisation).  The mandate of the Task Force also includes a review of certain 
procurement matters which have been closed, but it nevertheless has been determined 
that further investigation is warranted. 

3. The Task Force investigations have focused upon numerous individuals and 
vendors doing business with the Organisation.  Some of these matters are particularly 
complex and span significant periods of time.  Since its inception, more than 200 matters 
involving numerous procurement cases in various United Nations missions and the 
United Nations Headquarters have been referred to the Task Force. 

4. On 20 January 2006, the Internal Audit Division (IAD) of the Office of Internal 
Oversight Services issued an Audit Review (Audit Review) (See AP2005/600/20) 
addressing particular concerns regarding fuel procurements at the United Nations 
Stabilization Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH) expressed in Recommendations 18 and 19.  
A subsequent audit (AP/2005/683/11) of fuel management in missions was issued and 
also made findings regarding the procurement of ground fuel at MINUSTAH, which 
included both breaches of the procurement rules and the procurement exercise overall.   

5. This Report addresses two competitive bidding exercises which were held to 
procure a short-term and then long-term supply of ground fuel for MINUSTAH.  The 
first procurement exercise for the short-term supply of fuel was conducted collectively by 
the Mission with UN Headquarters in June 2004.  The second exercise took place in the 
spring of 2005 and was performed solely by the Mission. 

6. In particular, this Report will address whether the winning bidder, Distributeurs 
Nationaux S.A. (Dinasa), should have been awarded the initial contract in June 2004 and 
whether the exercise was properly conducted.  The Task Force determined, as will be 
discussed in greater detail below, that the exercise was not conducted in a fair and 
transparent manner, and therefore Dinasa was improperly awarded the contract. 

7. Similarly, the Task Force investigated the second procurement exercise, which, 
too, had initially been awarded to Dinasa.  The Task Force subsequently concluded that 
this exercise also was not conducted in a fair and transparent manner.  In fact, the 
investigation revealed that several individuals at the Mission improperly favoured 
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Dinasa.  The Task Force discovered that these individuals rigged both the technical and 
commercial evaluations to make sure Dinasa won the contract.  The primary individuals 
involved in this scheme were Subject 1, Subject 2, Subject 6, Subject 3, Subject 4 and 
Subject 5.   

8. Finally, as part of its investigation, the Task Force also investigated a complaint 
filed with OIOS which alleged that Subject 4 attempted to solicit a bribe from another 
local vendor during this procurement exercise. 

II. APPLICABLE UNITED NATIONS STAFF 
REGULATIONS AND RULES 
9. The following provisions of the Staff Regulations and Rules of the United 
Nations are relevant: 

 (i) Regulation 1.2(b): “Staff members shall uphold the highest standards of 
efficiency, competence and integrity.  The concept of integrity includes, but is not limited 
to, probity, impartiality, fairness, honesty and truthfulness in all matters affecting their 
work and status.”1 

 (ii) Regulation 1.2(g): “Staff members shall not use their office or knowledge 
gained from their official functions for private gain, financial or otherwise, or for the 
private gain of any third party, including family, friends and those they favour.  Nor shall 
staff members use their office for personal reasons to prejudice the positions of those they 
do not favour.” 

 (iii) Regulation 1.2(r): “Staff members must respond fully to requests for 
information from staff members and other officials of the Organization authorized to 
investigate possible misuse of funds, waste or abuse.” 

 (iv) Regulation 1.3(a): Staff members are “accountable to the Secretary-
General for the proper discharge of their functions.  Staff members are required to uphold 
the highest standards of efficiency, competence and integrity in the discharge of their 
functions.” 

 (v) Rule 112.3: “Any staff member may be required to reimburse the United 
Nations either partially or in full for any financial loss suffered by the United Nations as a 
result of the staff member’s negligence or of his or her having violated any regulation, 
rule or administrative instruction.”2 

10. The following provisions of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the United 
Nations are relevant: 

 (i) Rule 101.2: all “United Nations staff are obligated to comply with the 
Financial Regulations and Rules and with administrative instructions issued in connection 
                                                 
1 Regulation 1.2(b) of the UN Staff Regulations (1 January 2002) (ST/SGB/2002/1).  All subsequent 
citations of the UN Staff Regulations and Rules refer to the 2002 version which was in effect at the time. 
2 Id., amended by ST/SGB/2005/1 (1 January 2005) (defining negligence). 
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with those Regulations and Rules.  Any staff member who contravenes the Financial 
Regulations and Rules or corresponding administrative instructions may be held 
personally accountable and financially liable for his or her actions.”3 

 (ii) Rule 105.15(b): which provides that “[w]hen a formal request for 
proposal has been issued, the procurement contract shall be awarded to the qualified 
proposer whose proposal, all factors considered, is the most responsive to the 
requirements set forth in the solicitation documents.” 

 (iii) Regulation 5.12(b): which states that the general principles governing 
procurement activities, “[f]airness, integrity and transparency,” shall be given due 
consideration when exercising the procurement functions of the United Nations. 

11. The following provisions of the United Nations Procurement Manual are 
relevant: 

 (i) Section 10.1.1(3): which provides that the members of the Tender 
Opening Committee “shall be staff members not part of the local Procurement Section or 
requisitioning office.”4 

 (ii) Section 10.8.4(4): which states that for requests for proposals, “only the 
technical proposals shall be opened at the public opening.  The financial details of the 
proposals shall normally remain unopened, and the contents shall remain unread, until the 
Procurement Officer has received the competed technical evaluation.  However, under 
exceptional circumstance as approved by the Chief, UN/PD, the financial details of the 
proposals may be opened and evaluated by the Procurement Officer prior to his or her 
receipt of the technical evaluation, provided that all measures will be taken to ensure the 
confidentiality of the financial details and that they are not shared with anyone until 
receipt of the technical evaluation.” 

 (iii) Section 11.1(1)(b): which explains that “[t]he purpose of the source 
selection process is to identify the Vendor(s) to whom the contract(s) is to be awarded, 
i.e. the process from the receipt of Solicitation Submission, through the evaluation of 
such submission to the decision to award the contract.”  It also states that “[i]n order to 
ensure that the procurement process is fair, objective and transparent, the source selection 
process shall also give due consideration to,” inter alia, the principles of “[f]airness, 
integrity and transparency.”  

 (iv) Section 11.1(2): which states that “[t]he Source Selection process shall be 
objective and documented throughout all its steps in order to verify that the Selection has 
been conducted in accordance with the above principles.” 

 (v) Section 11.3(2): which requires UN staff members to take an “objective, 
non-discretionary determination” in evaluating the proposals to determine whether such 

                                                 
3 Rule 101.2 of the UN Financial Regulations and Rules (9 May 2003) (ST/SGB/2003/7).  All citations to 
the Financial Regulations and Rules refer to the 2003 version which was in effect at the time. 
4 Section 10.1.1 (3) of the UN Procurement Manual  (January 2004, rev. 02).  All citations to the 
Procurement Manual refer to the 2004 version which was in effect at the time. 
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bids are responsive.  It further defines responsiveness as requiring “substantive, objective 
analysis of the bids or proposal in accordance with the actual . . . RFP duly prepared in 
accordance with this Manual.” 

 (vi) Section 11.6.1(1): which states that the source selection process “shall be 
open and transparent, and the evaluation of the received Submissions shall at all times be 
fair, reasonable and objective.”  

 (vii) Section 11.6.1(3): which states that “[i]f the submission is the result of an 
RFP, the best value for money shall consist in issuing an award ‘to the qualified proposer 
whose proposal, all factors considered, is the most responsive to the requirements set 
forth in the solicitation documents’ (Financial Rule 105.15(b)).”     

 (viii) Section 11.6.2(2): which dictates that the “technical assessment shall be in 
writing (and is independent of the commercial evaluations), and shall be performed 
without prior knowledge of cost. . . Under no circumstance shall any cost data furnished 
by the Vendors be released to the requisitioner prior to the finalization of the technical 
evaluation.” 

 (ix) Section 11.6.6(5): which states that “only the technical proposal shall be 
opened during the Public Bid Opening.  (The price/cost proposal shall remain sealed until 
completion and submittal of the technical evaluation and shall only then be opened).” 

 (x) Section 11.6.7(4): which requires that “[t]he evaluation committee shall 
devise the rating system in a manner that is consistent and fair to all prospective 
Vendors.”  

 (xi) Section 12.1.3(4): which provides that procurement officers “shall ensure 
that submissions to the Committee on Contracts are comprehensive, factually accurate 
and clear” and contain “sufficient detail to enable the Committee on Contracts to obtain 
an accurate and complete description of procurement actions taken and the basis of the 
proposed award.”  

 (xii) Sections 12.1.4(a)(d): which states that procurement officers shall ensure 
“accurate, timely and comprehensive presentations to the HCC/LCC,” and “that 
procurement action is undertaken in accordance with the FRR, established procurement 
practices and procedures, and applicable SGBs and AIs.” 

III. RELEVANT CONCEPTS OF CRIMINAL LAW 
12. The following well-established common law concepts are applicable to this 
Report: 

 (i) Bribery: Commonly, bribery is defined as an act of a public official to 
corruptly solicit, demand, accept or agree to accept anything of value from any person, in 
return for being influenced in the performance of any official act or being induced to do 
or omit to do any act in violation of the official duty of such official; 
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 (ii) Perjury: Commonly, perjury is defined as having taken an oath before a 
competent tribunal or in any case in which the law authorizes an oath to be administered, 
that he will testify and declare truly, and then wilfully and contrary to such oath states 
any material matter which he does not believe to be true. 

IV. METHODOLOGY 
13. As stated elsewhere in the Report, it is important to emphasize that the Task Force 
has limited coercive powers.  Cooperation with vendors and other third parties is entirely 
voluntary and the Task Force must therefore depend upon an individual’s consent when 
seeking assistance. 

14. Investigators visited Haiti and interviewed United Nations staff members, former 
employees, vendors and other witnesses.  A written record of conversation was prepared 
after each such meeting which the interviewee was invited to review for accuracy, and 
then sign.  The Task Force reviewed numerous documents with each witness and staff 
member, and subsequently offered staff the opportunity to further review additional 
material the Task Force collected. 

15. Although the Task Force conducted extensive witness interviews in this case, 
certain staff members were no longer with the Mission and thus unavailable.  This 
included both Mr. Alex Maisuradze, a member of the overall evaluation team for the 
long-term ground fuel procurement and Staff Member 1, another witness.  Likewise, 
although investigators located other former employees, some refused to be interviewed.  
These included Ms. Judi Shane and Mr. Philip Taylorson.   

16. In addition to testimonial evidence, the Task Force also examined and analyzed 
documentary evidence, both hard-copies as well as electronic evidence.  The Task Force 
made significant efforts to locate and obtain all relevant files.  However, the short-term 
procurement file was incomplete and missing significant documents. The use of forensic 
tools has been invaluable in this investigation. 

17. The Task Force investigators collected and reviewed extensive documentation, to 
include:  

 (i) Procurement files; 

 (ii) Relevant bids and requisitions for the contracts involved; 

 (iii) Vendor registration files; 

 (iv) Local and Headquarters Committee minutes; 

 (v) Background material; 

 (vi) Personnel files; 

 (vii) Correspondence files; and 

 (viii) Electronic evidence. 
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V. DUE PROCESS  
18. As for the individuals who were involved in the procurement exercise, the Task 
Force went to great lengths to accord them their due process rights.  The Task Force 
spoke with the six members that are subject of this Report at great lengths.  Each was 
interviewed on more than one occasion.  During the interviews, the Task Force reviewed 
an abundance of documentary evidence with each witness.  Further, each was afforded 
the opportunity to review further material collected by the Task Force.  Each person 
subject to Task Force recommendations below was sent a letter informing him of the 
proposed findings and invited to comment and provide any further information they so 
chose. 

19.   Specifically, Subject 1 was interviewed on 30 March 2006, 30 June 2006, 7 July 
2006 and 7 March 2007.  He also reviewed additional documents collected by the Task 
Force on 25 June and 28 June 2007. 

20. In early June 2007, the Task Force sent Subject 1 a letter inviting him to comment 
or respond to its proposed findings against him.  After he did not respond, the Task Force 
re-sent the letter to make sure he received it.  He acknowledged receiving the first letter, 
but nevertheless requested additional time to respond.  The Task Force thus granted him 
an extension until 6 July 2007.  His Response is attached as Annex G.  

21. Subject 2 was interviewed on 23 February 2007 and 1 June 2007.  He also had 
been invited to come to New York for a further interview and to review additional 
documents, but he said he was unable to do so.  Nevertheless, investigators reviewed a 
substantial amount of material with him during his interview.  In early June 2007, the 
Task Force sent Subject 2 a draft of its proposed findings against him for his review and 
comment.  His Response is attached as Annex A. 

22. Subject 6 was interviewed on 28 March 2006, 7 February 2007 and 14 May 2007.  
Subject 6 chose not to review and sign his records of conversations because OIOS’s 
policy prevented the Task Force from providing him with a copy.5  During his most 
recent interview, Subject 6 vehemently described the Task Force’s investigation as a 
“witch hunt” and “fishing expedition.”6   

23. In early June 2007, Subject 6 was advised of the Task Force’s proposed findings 
and invited him to comment or provide any further information.  On 22 June 2007, his 
legal counsel reviewed Subject 6’s statements and further material collected by the Task 
Force.  His Response is attached as Annex B. 

24. Subject 3 was interviewed on 14 December 2006 and 10 January 2007.  He also 
was invited to come to New York for a final interview in June 2007, but declined the 
Task Force’s offer. 

                                                 
5 Subject 6 interview (18 May 2007). 
6 Subject 6 interview (14 May 2007). 
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25. Subject 3, did, however, come to New York and reviewed material collected by 
the Task Force on 20 June and 21 June 2007.  In early June, the Task Force sent Subject 
3 a letter with its proposed findings, and invited him to comment and provide additional 
material.  He was granted an extension to respond until 29 June 2007.  His Response is 
attached as Annex D. 

26. Subject 4 was interviewed on 30 March 2006, 23 May 2007 and 24 May 2007.  
Subject 4 chose not to review and sign his latest records of conversations because OIOS’s 
policy prevented the Task Force from providing him with a copy.   

27. In early June 2007, Subject 4 received a letter from the Task Force advising him 
of its proposed findings, and inviting him to comment and provide further material.  
After—and only after—Subject 4 received this letter, he recanted much of his statements 
and complained that investigators were “unprofessional.”  His Response is attached as 
Annex C.  He nevertheless came to New York to review the Task Force notes from his 
interview on 18 June 2007. 

28. Subject 5 was interviewed on 22 May 2007 and 29 May 2007, and had an 
opportunity to review his records of conversations.  During his interviews, the Task Force 
reviewed a substantial amount of material with Subject 5.  Subject 5 did not receive a 
letter from the Task Force advising him of its findings because, as explained in its 
Recommendation Section below, the Task Force finds that no action should be taken 
against him. 

VI. BACKGROUND 
A. MINUSTAH 

29. United Nations involvement in Haiti began in February 1993 when the joint 
United Nations-OAS (Organization of American States) International Civilian Mission in 
Haiti was deployed.7  In September 1993, the Security Council established the first 
United Nations peacekeeping operation in the country.  Unfortunately, the Mission could 
not be fully deployed at that time because the Haitian military authorities were 
uncooperative.  Over the next few years, there were a number of positive developments, 
including the restoration of some measure of democracy.  Serious reform, however, never 
took hold because of a continuing political crisis and a lack of stability in the country. 

30. In early February 2004, armed conflict broke out in the city of Gonaives and, in 
the following days, spread to other cities.  On 29 February 2004, then-President Jean-
Bertrand Aristide tendered his resignation and left the country.  The same day, Mr. 
Boniface Alexandre, the President of the Supreme Court, was sworn in as interim 
President of Haiti.  One of his first actions was to request United Nations assistance, 
including the authorization for international troops to enter Haiti.   

                                                 
7 The following information was obtained from the UN’s website 
(www.un.org/depts/dpko/missions/minustah). 
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31. Pursuant to this request, the Security Council adopted Resolution 1529 (2004) 
which authorized the deployment of a Multinational Interim Force (MIF).  In addition, 
the Council expressed its readiness to establish a stabilization force to support the 
continuation of a peaceful and constitutional process and the maintenance of a secure and 
stable environment.  The MIF immediately started deploying to Haiti pursuant to that 
resolution.  On 30 April 2004, the Security Council then established the United Nations 
Stabilization Mission in Haiti (MINUSTAH) and requested that authority be transferred 
from the MIF, to MINUSTAH, on 1 June 2004.8 

B. MINUSTAH PROCUREMENT SECTION 
32. At MINUSTAH, the Chief Procurement Officer (CPO) supervises the 
Procurement Section.  The CPO reports directly to the Chief, Administrative Services 
(CAS). 

33. At mission start-up in the spring of 2004, Staff Member 2 was the first 
procurement officer to arrive.  At that time, there was no one else assigned to the 
Procurement Section; therefore, Staff Member 2 also functioned as its Officer-in-Charge 
(OIC).9  Staff Member 2 conducted the first short-term procurement exercise for the 
Mission’s ground fuel supply.   

34. In early June 2004, Ms. Judi Shane arrived and took over as Chief Procurement 
Officer.10  

35. Shortly thereafter, other procurement officers arrived, including Subject 4 and 
Staff Member 3.11   

36. In September 2004, UN Headquarters (UNHQ) asked Subject 1 to travel to 
MINUSTAH and help with its Procurement Section.  Initially, he went there for two 
weeks, but eventually returned in early October for a permanent position. On 22 October 
2004, Subject 1 assumed the role of CPO, which he held until May 2005.12   

37. During the entire time he was at MINUSTAH (October 2004 to December 2006), 
Subject 1 also served as the CAS for the Mission.  He left his position as CAS in 
December 2006 to join the Mission in Democratic Republic of Congo where he currently 
serves as the CAS today.13 

38. On 2 May 2005, Subject 2 joined the Mission and replaced Subject 1 temporarily 
as Officer-in-Charge of Procurement. Subject 2 served in this role until 22 June 2005, 
when the permanent CPO arrived, Mr. Amirthalingam Balakrishnan.14 

                                                 
8 S/Res/1542 (30 April 2004) (recalling Resolution 1529). 
9 Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007). 
10 Staff Member 3 interview (21 May 2007). 
11 Id. and Subject 4 interview (30 March 2006). 
12 See Subject 1 email from Subject 4’s computer to James Center (22 October 2004). 
13 Subject 1interview (7 March 2007). 
14 Id. 
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39. Subject 6 was assigned to MINUSTAH as a team leader in Procurement and 
supervised others, including Subject 4.  Subject 4 was a Procurement Assistant who was 
assigned to the long-term ground fuel procurement.15   

C. MINUSTAH FUEL UNIT 
40. Subject 3 arrived at the Mission on 10 August 2004.16  He became Chief of the 
Fuel Unit, the requisitioner in the long-term procurement exercise.  The Fuel Unit 
reported to Ms. Ellen Aamodt, who was head of the Supply Section for the Mission.   

41. Subject 3 supervised several staff members in the Fuel Unit, all of whom were 
new to the Mission.17  These included Ms. Cassandra Palanyk and Mr. David Carter, who 
arrived in September 2004 and Subject 5, who joined the Mission in January 2005.18 

D. DINASA 
42. In 2003, after seventy-five years in the market, Shell, the Dutch multinational 
energy company, sold its service stations and sales operation in Haiti to Distributeurs 
Nationaux SA (Dinasa), a local consortium, which re-branded the former Shell stations 
under the name “National.”  In 2004, Dinasa owned and operated a significant portion of 
the petroleum installations in Haiti and supplied fuel to government, and private, power 
generation companies.19 

VII. SHORT-TERM GROUND FUEL PROCUREMENT 
43. In June 2004, MINUSTAH and UN Headquarters conducted a competitive 
bidding exercise to procure a short-term supply of ground fuel for the Mission.  The 
contract was eventually awarded to Dinasa.   

44. The procurement exercise, however, was not conducted in a fair and transparent 
manner. After the initial evaluation, the technical evaluation team requested clarifications 
from vendors, including Dinasa, which initially had been ranked as non-compliant.  
Although the vendors provided the requested information, no final technical evaluation 
was completed.  Thus, it was unclear which, if any vendors were in fact fully compliant.  
Moreover, UN Procurement Service failed to complete a formal commercial evaluation, 
and merely recommended the award to Dinasa without providing any supporting 
documentation.  In fact, Dinasa had not been the lowest, technically qualified vendor and 
therefore should not have been awarded the contract.  

                                                 
15 Subject 6 interview (7 February 2007). 
16 Subject 3 email to Ian Divers (6 May 2006). 
17 Staff Member 4 interview (24 May 2007) and Staff Member 5 (26 April 2007). 
18 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
19 Dinasa Proposal to RFP/TEN/MIN/04/001 (3 June 2004); Dinasa website: 
www.gbgroup.net/pages/Dinasa.html (23 April 2007); and United States Department of State Report on 
Climate of Investment in Haiti in 2003, para. 16 (7 September 2004).   
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A. STATEMENT OF WORK 
45. At the start-up of the Mission, several commodities were urgently needed, 
including a reliable source of fuel.20  In order to procure the fuel as quickly as possible, 
and due to a lack of experienced fuel staff at MINUSTAH, it was decided that a quick 
procurement exercise would be done conjunctively by the Mission and UN 
Headquarters.21  The expected mobilization date was 1 June 2004.22  The Department of 
Peacekeeping Organization (DPKO) therefore requested a Delegation of Authority for the 
Mission on 10 May 2004 in the amount of US$200,000.  The Delegation was not 
authorized until 11 June 2004.23 

46. On 18 May 2004, Staff Member 7, an officer in UNHQ’s Supply Section, 
submitted a draft Statement of Works (SOW) for the short-term procurement of aviation 
and ground fuel.24  Since he had no background in fuel, he relied heavily upon Mr. Philip 
Taylorson, another officer in UNHQ’s Supply Section.25    In order to prepare the SOW, 
the Supply Section used a generic template and then added specific details, such as 
civilian and troop distribution and troop quantities, based on information from the 
Headquarters Military Planning Service in order to tailor it for MINUSTAH.26 

B. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
47. Initially, the UN Procurement Section at Headquarters (UNPS) intended to issue 
the Request for Proposal (RFP) “in order not to waste valuable time.”27 All subsequent 
procurement actions, however, such as the evaluations and committee presentations, 
would take place at MINUSTAH.28   Accordingly, on 17 May 2004, UNPS Procurement 
Officer Mr. Alexander Yakovlev issued a Request for Proposal for the Mission’s supply 
of POL (petrol, oil and lubricants) and aviation fuel.29 

48. Shortly thereafter, however, it was decided that the Mission itself would issue the 
RFP and the buyer would be Procurement Assistant Simone Trudo.30  UN Headquarters 
agreed to perform both the technical and commercial evaluations because the Mission 
still did not have a fuel specialist capable of performing such an evaluation.31 

                                                 
20 Haiti Support Concept, Section 14 (8 April 2004). 
21 Per Verwohlt email to Inamullah Siddiqui (11 May 2004); Ellen Aamodt email to Christian Saunders (20 
May 2004); and Staff Member 6 interview (13 April 2007). 
22 Ellen Aamodt email to Christian Saunders (20 May 2004). 
23 Luiz Carlos da Costa memorandum to Jean-Pierre Halbwachs, et al. (10 May 2004) and Andrew Toh’s 
Delegation of Procurement Authority to MINUSTAH (11 June 2004). 
24 Andrei Vesselov email to Philip Taylorson (18 May 2004). 
25 Staff Member 7 interview (18 April 2007). 
26 Staff Member 6 interview (13 April 2007). 
27 Per Verwohlt email to Inamullah Siddiqui (11 May 2004).   
28 Id. 
29 Request for Proposal, RFPS-654, “Supply of POL products to MINUSTAH” (17 May 2004). 
30 Christian Saunders email to Ellen Aamodt (17 May 2004); Christian Saunders email to Simone Trudo 
(20 May 2004); and Simone Trudo email to Christian Saunders (22 May 2004). 
31 Staff Member 6 interview (13 April 2007) and Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007). 
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49. On 31 May 2004, Ms. Trudo sent out a Request for Proposal to four companies on 
behalf of the Mission: Total Haiti Texaco, National (Dinasa) and Esso.32  Ms. Trudo 
advised that these four vendors were the only reliable companies capable of supplying 
fuel in Haiti.33  The RFP required financial proposals and technical proposals to be 
“submitted simultaneously in two (2) separate and sealed envelopes/packages.”34 

50. The fuel contract was for an initial one-month period, with an option for the 
Mission to extend it two additional one-month periods.35  The Mission expected that the 
three-month period would give it time to organise a procurement exercise for a long-term 
contract.36   

51. The RFP solicited bids for aviation fuel, needed for UN aircraft located in Port-
au-Prince, as well as ground fuel for UN generators, and oil and lubricants for vehicles 
and equipment.37  The Mission estimated it would need 286,440 litres of diesel (ground) 
fuel for the first month.38   

52. Among other things, the RFP specifically requested the bidders to include a 
detailed mobilization plan demonstrating “the related actions and activities required by 
the Contractor for mobilization and the time required by each, for mobilization of staff, 
equipment and facilities at each final delivery location from date of award of contract up 
to start of contract.”39  The contractor would be expected to deliver fuel to a variety of 
locations. 

53. Vendors also were asked to separate costs into two separate components: delivery 
costs and variable costs.  Delivery costs, once approved, would remain fixed throughout 
the duration of the contract; variable costs, on the other hand, could vary because those 
were based upon the Area Platt Register.40  Unless otherwise specified, all unit prices 
were to be quoted in US dollars per litre.  The SOW specifically asked the suppliers to 
quote pricing for vehicle refuelling at three locations: Port-au-Prince, Cap Haitien and 
Gonaives, and pricing for the delivery of fuel to generators at locations not yet 
determined.  However, the SOW did not specifically request that fuel be based on bulk 
prices or service station prices. 

54. Proposals were due on 3 June 2004, only three days after the RFP had been 
issued.41  This was an unusually short time period.  Staff Member 2 believed three days 

                                                 
32 Simone Trudo email to Christian Saunders (22 May 2004) and Staff Member 2 interview, para. 27 (11 
April 2006). 
33 Simone Trudo email to Christian Saunders (22 May 2004). 
34 Request for Proposal, RFP/TEN/MIN/04/001, para. 5 (31 May 2004). 
35 Id., Annex A, para. 3 (31 May 2004) and Alex Yakovlev email to Staff Member 9 (17 June 2004). 
36 Request for Proposal, RFP/TEN/MIN/04/001 (31 May 2004). 
37 Id., Annex A, para. 4 (31 May 2004). 
38 Id., Annex A, para. 5a (31 May 2004). 
39 Id., Annex E, IIA (31 May 2004). 
40 Id., Annex A, para. 10 (31 May 2004).  Platts has been the world’s leading energy information provider 
for nearly a century and offers price benchmarks for the industry known as the Platts Register.  PR 
Newswire (10 February 2006). 
41 Request for Proposal, RFP/TEN/MIN/04/001, para. 1 (31 May 2004).  
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was more than sufficient since the Mission needed the fuel urgently, and because fuel 
suppliers usually were able to respond to such a request within one day.42  Per the RFP, 
vendors sent the bids to Procurement, which then forwarded them immediately to 
Finance for safekeeping. 43 

C. BID OPENING 
55. On 4 June 2004, the tender opening was held at the Mission.44  The Chief 
Procurement Officer, Ms. Judi Shane, asked Staff Member 3 to attend the opening on 
behalf of Procurement.45  Staff Member 3, along with Ms. Trudo and Ms. Shane, were 
present.46  

56. Due to the shortage of staff at the start up of the Mission, the Tender Opening 
Committee (TOC) was an ad hoc committee.47  At the tender opening, Ms. Braima 
Jamanca, Chair of the Committee and Officer-in-Charge of Finance, chaired the 
committee, which was also comprised of Ms. Aleksandra Maksimovic, Ms. Bridgith 
Jacob, Mr. Mohamed Karbous and Ms. Suraya Abedraboh.48   

57. Four companies had responded to the RFP: Esso, Total, Texaco and Dinasa.  Each 
vendor sent a representative to witness the opening.49  Texaco was the only vendor that 
bid on the aviation fuel portion of the RFP.  For ground fuel, Texaco, Dinasa, Esso and 
Total Haiti submitted bids.  

58. During the bid opening, the members of the TOC signed each page of the 
proposals opened as proof of receipt.  Someone in Procurement—possibly Ms. Trudo—
requested that the vendors also initial each proposal.50  This was highly unusual and 
caused a great deal of chaos.51 

59. Although the vendors were supposed to submit two separate proposals—one 
financial and one technical—it appears that one vendor sent both bids in a single 
envelope.52  Another complication was that Total Haiti submitted a bid with hand-written 
corrections, which had not been certified.53 

                                                 
42 Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007). 
43 Id. 
44 The Task Force has been unable to determine when or why the closing date changed as indicated on the 
Bid Opening Sheet. 
45 Staff Member 3 interview (21 May 2007). 
46 Id. and Staff Member 8 (14 June 2007).  Staff Member 2 did not recall being present for the opening, but 
admits she may have been, and it appears she was not out of the Mission on that date.  See Staff Member 2 
interview (23 May 2007) and Staff Member 2 email to Task Force (4 June 2007). 
47 Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007). 
48 Bid Opening Sheet (4 June 2004) and Staff Member 3 interview (21 May 2007). 
49 Staff Member 3 interview (21 May 2007). 
50 Id.  Staff Member 8 also recalled the vendors being asked to sign, but did not recall who from 
Procurement made the request. Staff Member 8 interview (14 June 2007). 
51 Staff Member 3 interview (21 May 2007). 
52 Staff Member 2 (23 May 2007) and Staff Member 3 interview (21 May 2007). 
53 Alexandre Kislanski email to Task Force (26 May 2007). 



OIOS PROCUREMENT TASK FORCE 
REPORT ON MINUSTAH GROUND FUEL PROCUREMENT  
STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PAGE 13 

60. After the technical proposals were opened, the TOC opened the financial 
proposals.  The financial bids should have remained sealed until a technical evaluation 
was completed and sent to the Mission.54  There was no explanation as to why this was 
done except for a note by Ms. Shane regarding one vendor.  She wrote on the bid opening 
sheet that Texaco only sent one copy of its proposals, as demonstrated below in the 
figure.  Since she had to send a copy to New York, she therefore opened the financial 
proposal to make an extra copy for the Mission’s files.55 

Figure: Bid Opening Sheet (4 June 2004) 

61. On 7 June 2004, Ms. Shane packed the bids in a sealed envelope and sent them 
via DHL to UN Headquarters in New York for the technical and commercial 
evaluations.56  Mr. Dmitri Dovgopoly initially had been assigned the case, but since he 
was not in the office, it was reassigned to Mr. Alexander Yakovlev.57 

62. When Mr. Yakovlev received the proposals, he noticed there were irregularities 
with the financial proposals.  On 9 June 2004, he contacted Mr. Christian Saunders, Chief 
of UNPS, and Ms. Shane regarding this matter.58  In response, Ms. Shane explained that 
because the “RFP did NOT indicate that two originals of each proposal were required,” 
                                                 
54 Bid Opening Sheet (4 June 2004); Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007) (recalled seeing the prices 
when she packaged the bids and sent them to New York); and Staff Member 8 interview (14 June 2007) 
(financial and technical proposals opened at same time). 
55 Judi Shane email to Alex Yakovlev, et al. (9 June 2004). 
56 Suraya Abedraboh email to Dmitri Dovgopoly (7 June 2004). 
57 Christian Saunders email to Alex Yakovlev (8 June 2004) and Judi Shane email to Christian Saunders (8 
June 2004). 
58 Alex Yakovlev email to Christian Saunders, et al. (9 June 2004). 
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she “had to open one of them in order to make a photocopy for our files.”  She claimed, 
however, that only one vendor’s financial bid had been opened.59 

D. EVALUATION OF BIDS 

1. Technical Evaluation 
63. Mr. Yakovlev then forwarded the technical proposals to the Supply Section for its 
review.60  Mr. Vesselov and Mr. Taylorson comprised the Technical Evaluation 
Committee assigned to assess the technical proposals.61  They reported to Ms. Ellen 
Aamodt, who was at that time the Chief of UNHQ’s Supply Section. 62 

64. After Ms. Vesselov’s and Mr. Taylorson’s initial review, they determined that 
none of the proposals met all of the requirements of the SOW for ground fuel.63  
However, the Committee found Texaco’s proposal to be compliant, even though there 
were some outstanding issues that needed to be addressed.  Texaco had not indicated 
whether it had service stations in the three locations mentioned in the RFP.  It also 
needed to confirm whether it would be able to deliver fuel to “generators in as yet 
unspecified locations.” 

65. The second supplier, Total Haiti, was deemed to be partially compliant.  Before it 
could be ranked fully compliant, the Committee needed to know whether Total Haiti 
could deliver fuel to generators.   

66. Esso was completely eliminated from the exercise because it offered only bulk 
fuel, and did quote prices for service station fuel.  The evaluators therefore found Esso to 
be completely non-compliant.64 

67. The final supplier, Dinasa, too, was found to be non-compliant.  Despite this 
characterization, the Committee nonetheless asked Procurement to clarify Dinasa’s 
proposal.  In particular, Procurement needed to clarify whether Dinasa had service 
stations in the three specified locations and whether it would be able to deliver fuel to 
generators. 65   

68. In response, the Mission’s Procurement Section contacted each of the three 
vendors to obtain the requested information.66 

                                                 
59 Judi Shane email to Alex Yakovlev, et al. (9 June 2004). 
60 Staff Member 7 interview (18 April 2007). 
61 Staff Member 6 interview (13 April 2007). 
62 Id and Staff Member 7 interview (18 April 2007). 
63 Andrei Vesselov email to James Boynton (14 June 2004) with attached Technical Evaluation for RFP 
TEN/MIN/04-01 (draft). 
64 Philip Taylorson email to Judi Shane (9 June 2004). 
65 Philip Taylorson email to Judi Shane (9 June 2004) and (draft) Technical Evaluation for RFP 
TEN/MIN/04-01 (14 June 2004). 
66 Judi Shane letter to Carl Boisson (Dinasa) (11 June 2004); Judi Shane letter to Donald Emerant (Texaco) 
(11 June 2004); and Total Haiti letter to Simone Trudo (16 June 2004). 
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69. On 14 June 2004, the Technical Evaluation Committee had not yet received the 
responses back, but forwarded a copy of its draft evaluation to UNPS to help expedite the 
commercial evaluation.  In order to determine the cost of the contracts, the Technical 
Evaluation Committee also provided an updated estimate of the Mission’s monthly fuel 
requirement.  This amount (325,000 litres) was greater than that which had been 
previously stated in the RFP (286,440 litres).67 

2. Commercial Evaluation 
70. Mr. Yakovlev was assigned to evaluate the commercial offers.68  On 15 June 
2004, he complained to Ms. Shane that the financial proposals had already been opened.  
He was concerned because he was missing Texaco’s financial proposal for aviation fuel 
and another set of financial proposals had been opened and re-sealed.  He also referred to 
hand-written changes on Total Haiti’s prices which were not initialled by the vendor; he 
found this highly unusual since they came with “no explanation or signatures certifying 
those corrections.”69 

71. The next day, Ms. Shane wrote to Mr. Yakovlev and denied opening the financial 
proposals, except for Texaco’s.70  She claimed that Texaco had submitted only one 
proposal and MINUSTAH needed to make a copy for their records, which she noted on 
the bid summary sheet.71 (See above Figure)  She surmised that “the proposals must have 
been opened between us and you.”72  

72. Significantly, all financial proposals had been opened at the Mission and 
therefore, Ms. Shane misrepresented this fact to Mr. Yakovlev.73 

73. Ms. Shane added that the Mission noticed the same hand-written price changes to 
Total Haiti’s bid.74  Total Haiti later confirmed the company made those changes, but had 
never been required to certify the new prices.75 

74. There is no evidence that a commercial evaluation or an abstract of bids was ever 
completed.  Instead, on 17 June 2004, Mr. Yakovlev sent Staff Member 9 an email 
recommending two vendors for a split award.76  Staff Member 9 did not recall Mr. 
                                                 
67 Andrei Vesselov email to Alex Yakovlev (14 June 2004); James Boynton email to Andrei Vesselov (14 
June 2004); and Request for Proposal, RFP TEN/MIN/04/001, Annex A. para. 5 (31 May 2004) 
68 Judi Shane email to Alex Yakovlev, et al. (9 June 2004); Ellen Aamodt email to Christian Saunders (9 
June 2004); Christian Saunders email to Alex Yakovlev (9 June 2004); and Andrei Vesselov email to Alex 
Yakovlev (14 June 2004).   
69 Alex Yakovlev email to Judi Shane, et al. (15 June 2004).  See also Staff Member 3 interview (21 May 
2007) (requesting she prepare a draft response stating the same). 
70 Judi Shane email to Alex Yakovlev (16 June 2004). 
71 Id. 
72 Id. 
73 Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007) and Staff Member 8 interview (14 June 2007). 
74 Suraya Abedraboh email to Judi Shane (15 June 2004) and Judi Shane e-mail to Alex Yakovlev (16 June 
2004). 
75 Alexandre Kislanski email to Task Force (26 May 2007) and Total Haiti’s Proposal to 
RFP/TEN/MIN/004/001, Annex B-I (a), B-I (b), and B-II (b) (2 June 2004). 
76 Alex Yakovlev email to Staff Member 9 (17 June 2004). 



OIOS PROCUREMENT TASK FORCE 
REPORT ON MINUSTAH GROUND FUEL PROCUREMENT  
STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PAGE 16 

Yakovlev providing him with any financial evaluation.77  There also does not appear to 
be any document attached to Mr. Yakovlev’s email.   

75. Instead, Mr. Yakovlev simply told Staff Member 9 that he received four proposals 
from MINUSTAH, only two of which were technically compliant: Texaco and Dinasa.  
Staff Member 9 did not recall Mr. Yakovlev informing him that the technical team 
previously ruled Dinasa as non-compliant or explaining how it suddenly became 
qualified.78 

76. Mr. Yakovlev then recommended a split award.  Since Texaco was the sole bidder 
for aviation fuel, he recommended that it be awarded that part of the contract.  He 
suggested a one-month contract with Texaco for aviation fuel, valued at US$190,000. 

                                                 
77 Staff Member 9 interview (1 March 2006). 
78 Id. 
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Figure: Alex Yakovlev email to Staff Member 9 (17 June 2004) 

77. As for ground fuel, Mr. Yakovlev recommended the contract be awarded to 
Dinasa for one-month, valued at US$115,440.  It appears from the suggested value of the 
contract—US$115,440—that Mr. Yakovlev based his recommendations on Dinasa’s 
offer for bulk fuel, not service stations, though he did not specifically state this.  It 
appears Mr. Yakovlev reached this figure by multiplying Dinasa’s unit prices for bulk 
fuel by the monthly consumption estimates, which amounted to US$115,440. 

78. Since the amount of both contracts fell within Staff Member 9’s Delegation of 
Authority, they did not have to be presented to any Committee on Contracts, which 
would expedite their execution.79  Mr. Yakovlev expected the Mission to be able to 
obtain the fuel by the needed date of 21 June 2004.  Finally, Mr. Yakovlev stated that the 

                                                 
79 Procurement Manual Section 3.2.3 (2) (a) and Alex Yakovlev email to Staff Member 9 (17 June 2004). 
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procurement exercise had been completed in full compliance with the financial rules and 
procurement practice.80 

79. That very same day, Staff Member 9 approved Mr. Yakovlev’s 
recommendation.81  Staff Member 9 did not appear to ask for any documentation, and 
relied solely on this informal email communication.82 

. .  

Figure: Staff Member 9’s notation on Alex Yakovlev email (17 June 2004) 

80. The Mission apparently never received a copy of any financial evaluation, which 
was both highly unusual and not proper practice.83 

81. As the Task Force will discuss in greater detail below, UNPS should not have 
awarded the contract based on Mr. Yakovlev’s email alone.84  Instead, Mr. Yakovlev 
should have been required to produce a formal commercial evaluation to demonstrate the 
facts upon which his opinion was based.  Upon further investigation, the Task Force 
discovered that Dinasa was not the lowest bidder. 

                                                 
80 Alex Yakovlev email to Staff Member 9 (17 June 2004). 
81 Handwritten notation on the bottom of Alex Yakovlev email to Staff Member 9 (17 June 2004) and Alex 
Yakovlev facsimile to Dinasa (17 June 2004). 
82 Staff Member 9 did not recall Mr. Yakovlev showing him any evaluation or notifying him of Dinasa’s 
earlier non-compliance status.  Staff Member 9 interview (1 March 2006). 
83 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007) and Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007) (highly unusual for file 
to contain no bid abstract). 
84 Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007). 
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E. PROBLEMS WITH TECHNICAL AND COMMERCIAL EVALUATIONS 

1. Technical Evaluation 
82. As stated above, on 9 June 2004, the Technical Evaluation Committee advised 
that certain clarifications were needed from the three remaining vendors before it could 
determine whether some of the proposals were compliant.  On 14 June 2004, Mr. 
Vesselov forwarded a copy to the Mission, but specifically cautioned that this was merely 
a draft which could only be “finalized pending receipt of clarifications from vendors.”85   

83. On 15 June 2005, the vendors responded and provided the requested information.  
The Task Force found no evidence that this information was conveyed to Mr. Yakovlev.  
As a result, his commercial evaluation and recommendation of award was premature. 

84. On 15 June 2004, Dinasa confirmed that it indeed had service stations in the three 
areas mentioned.86  Dinasa added, however, that the Mission would have to pay higher 
prices if it sought to use these stations (an additional US$.0360 per litre) because of third-
party operational costs. 87  Dinasa further confirmed it would be able to deliver fuel to 
generators with its own fleet of delivery trucks or by sub-contracting the work.88 

85. Even though Texaco had been ranked compliant, the technical evaluators still 
requested further information.89  Texaco responded and sent a chart indicating it had 
service stations in two of the three requested locations, Gonaives and Cap Haitien; it did 
not appear to clarify any availability in Port-au-Prince.  Although Texaco agreed to 
deliver fuel to generators located in most of Haiti, it was unable to transport fuel to 
Jeremie, and noted that delivery to Port-de-Paix was “very difficult.”90   

86. Total Haiti, deemed partially compliant, had only been asked whether it could 
deliver fuel to generators.  In its 16 June 2004 response, it confirmed that it could meet 
this requirement.91 

87. Based on the information provided, all three vendors should have been found 
technically compliant.  Total Haiti initially had been ranked as “conditionally compliant,” 
pending clarification of generator fuel.92  Its response confirmed this information and as a 
result, Total Haiti should have been deemed fully compliant. 93  

                                                 
85 Andrei Vesselov email to James Boynton (14 June 2004) (requiring verification before they could state 
whether some vendors were compliant) and Philip Taylorson email to Judi Shane (9 June 2004).   
86 Carl Boisson letter to Judy [sic] Shane, para.1 (15 June 2004). 
87 Id. 
88 Id.  
89 Philip Taylorson email to Judi Shane (9 June 2004) and (draft) Technical Evaluation for RFP 
TEN/MIN/04-01 (14 June 2004). 
90 Texaco Haiti letter to Simone Trudo (15 June 2004). 
91 Philip Taylorson email to Judi Shane (9 June 2004) and Total Haiti letter to Simone Trudo (16 June 
2004).   
92 (draft) Technical Evaluation for RFP TEN/MIN/04-01 (14 June 2004). 
93 Staff Member 7 interview (18 April 2007). 
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88. Similarly, it appears that Dinasa also would have been compliant based on its 
responses to the clarifications.94  Finally, Texaco had already been deemed fully 
compliant before the request for clarifications was issued.95 

89. No final technical evaluation, however, was completed.96  The Technical 
Evaluation Committee never drafted a final written assessment summarizing this 
information, and indicating which vendors were compliant. 97 

90. Staff Member 7, in a subsequent interview, confirmed that, in light of the 
vendors’ responses to the request for clarifications, he would have considered all three 
proposals (Texaco, Dinasa and Total Haiti) to be technically compliant to supply ground 
fuel. 98 

91. Nonetheless, Mr. Yakovlev claimed that only Dinasa was technically compliant 
for ground fuel.  Since he wrote that the “Technical Evaluation performed by LSD (copy 
on file) assess[ed] 2 companies as technically compliant” and then recommended the 
award to Texaco and Dinasa, it follows that he meant only Texaco (aviation) and Dinasa 
(ground) were compliant.99   

92. There was no reason for Mr. Yakovlev to conclude that Dinasa was the only 
compliant supplier of ground fuel. In fact, Total Haiti’s initial proposal had been 
technically superior to Dinasa’s.  Since it had initially been rated as partially compliant, 
there was “no way that additional information could turn [Total Haiti] from partially 
compliant to non compliant.”100  It is entirely implausible that by providing missing 
information, Total Haiti suddenly went from “conditionally” compliant to “non-
compliant.”101 

93. In fact, Mr. Yakovlev later contradicted his own conclusion in a subsequent 
correspondence.  In May 2005, Mr. Yakovlev was reviewing the Mission’s presentation 
to the Committee on Contracts for an extension of the Dinasa contract.  He noted that “in 
the original bidding there were 4 bidders: Texaco, Total, Dinasa and Esso.  Out of the 4, 
the first 3 were found compliant and 2 (DINASA and TEXACO) were awarded the 
contracts.”102 

94. Mr. Yakovlev’s recommendation that the ground fuel contract be awarded to 
Dinasa was therefore based upon a material misrepresentation.  It is unclear whether this 
was intentional or inadvertent due to a complete lack of proper documentation in the 
files. 

                                                 
94 Id. 
95 (draft) Technical Evaluation for RFP TEN/MIN/04-01 (14 June 2004). 
96 Alex Yakovlev email to Staff Member 9 (17 June 2004). 
97 Staff Member 7 interview (18 April 2007). 
98 Id. 
99 Alex Yakovlev email to Staff Member 9 (17 June 2004). 
100 Philip Taylorson email to Judi Shane (9 June 2004); (draft) Technical Evaluation for RFP TEN/MIN/04-
01 (14 June 2004); and Staff Member 7 interview (18 April 2007).   
101 See, e.g., Staff Member 7 interview (18 April 2007). 
102 Alex Yakovlev email to Subject 2 (26 May 2005). 
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2. Commercial Evaluation 
95. Had Total Haiti been properly included in the commercial evaluation, Mr. 
Yakovlev would have realised that it was the lowest bidder for ground fuel.   

96. After an exhaustive review of Procurement and DPKO records, the Task Force 
has been unable to locate a bid abstract or formal commercial evaluation.  MINUSTAH 
also did not have a copy of anything resembling a bid abstract.103  When Ms. Shane later 
assigned the fuel case to Subject 4, he noticed that the case file was disorganized and he 
did not recall seeing either a technical or commercial evaluation.104  

97. Therefore, it appears that the only documentation supporting Mr. Yakovlev’s 
recommendation was his single e-mail to Staff Member 9 in which he merely concluded 
that a split award should be given to Texaco for aviation fuel and Dinasa for ground fuel.  
He supplied no back-up information, such as a financial spreadsheet or a final technical 
evaluation.   

98. While the Mission likely needed bulk fuel and fuel delivered from service 
stations, the RFP did not specify the quantities it would need.  It also did not specify 
which type of fuel would be used to evaluate the financial proposals.105  

99. Even without proper back-up documentation, it appears that Mr. Yakovlev 
reached the contract value of US$115,440 by using Dinasa’s prices for bulk fuel.106   In 
an ex-post facto presentation to the Local Committee on Contracts regarding a later 
extension of the contract with Dinasa, MINUSTAH advised that “the pricing structure 
agreed to is based on bulk fuel.”107   

100. Dinasa’s bulk fuel prices, however, were not the lowest.  On the contrary, Dinasa 
was in fact more expensive than Total Haiti and Texaco (excluding taxes).108 

                                                 
103 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007).  Subject 4 that MINUSTAH’s file was disorganized and contained 
very few documents.  Id. 
104 Id. and Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007). 
105 Staff Member 7 interview (18 April 2007). 
106 Dinasa’s Proposal to RFP/TEN/MIN/04/001 (3 June 2004) and James Boynton email to Andrei 
Vesselov (14 June 2004).  In its financial proposal, Dinasa indicated that the Platt unit price was US$.3552 
per liter.  This amount, multiplied by the updated monthly estimate of MINUSTAH diesel fuel 
consumption (325,000 liters) stated in Mr. Boynton’s email, totals US$115,440.  
107 MINUSTAH Presentation to the HCC (LCC Case No. MIN/2005/48), para. 7 (27 April 2005).  The 
Presentation stated that “[t]he original contract awarded with the help of Procurement Service, New York, 
included three regions-Port-au-Prince, Gonaives, and Cap Haitien…The pricing structure agreed to is based 
on bulk fuel [and] the unit price at the signing was based on the May 31 published price of $.3552 per 
liter.”  Id., para. 7-8. 
108 Total Haiti’s Proposal to RFP/TEN/MIN/04/001 (2 June 2004); Dinasa’s Proposal to 
RFP/TEN/MIN/04/001 (3 June 2004); and Texaco Haiti’s Proposal to RFP/TEN/MIN/04/001 (4June 
2004). 
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Figure: Task Force Commercial Evaluation of Bids 

101. Therefore, based on the lack of documents for both the commercial and technical 
evaluations, the procurement was not conducted in a transparent manner, nor was the 
contract awarded to the lowest-priced, technically compliant vendor. 

F. DINASA PERFORMANCE UNDER THE CONTRACT 
102. Dinasa continued to supply ground fuel to the Mission after the expiration of its 
initial contract on 20 July 2004.109  Indeed, Dinasa continues to be the Mission’s current 
supplier for this fuel, as discussed below. 

103. Dinasa’s performance was inconsistent and “fraught with problems.”110  In fact, 
when the Fuel Unit rated Dinasa’s performance for the period of January through March 
2005, it found Dinasa to be “marginal” or completely “unsatisfactory” for several 
sections, which posed a “serious problem” because it failed to meet certain contractual 
requirements.111   

                                                 
109 UN Contract Number PD/C0153/04. 
110 Subject 3 interview (14 December 2006, 10 January 2007). 
111 Contractor Performance Appraisal Report for Contract No. PD/CO1053/04, p. 4 (April 2005) (for period 
of 1 January 2005 to 31 March 2005). 
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104. The two areas in which Dinasa had the most problems was with its invoicing 
system and the delivery of fuel outside Port-au-Prince.  As for its invoicing, “[t]housands 
of transactions [were] carried out monthly and [were] recorded in hand writing making 
this accounting prone to mistakes.”112  The Mission received long lists of inaccurate 
(“funny numbers”) billing from Dinasa.113  As a result, Dinasa was not maintaining 
timely, accurate and complete records for billing.114  When the UN was late or did not 
pay its bills, Dinasa threatened to stop supplying the Mission with fuel.115  The Mission 
had requested that Dinasa implement an electronic data capturing system to record the 
retail and generator fuel, instead of relying on hand-written business records, but it was 
never done.116 

105. Second, Dinasa had major logistical problems in delivering fuel to locations 
outside the capital, Port-au-Prince.117  It was using substandard fuel tankers, and even 
more troubling was the fact that staff reported discrepancies between the reported amount 
of fuel Dinasa billed the UN and the amount of fuel it actually delivered.118  On more 
than one occasion, Dinasa delivered the wrong quantity of fuel, and at any given time, 
thousands of gallons might be missing at a delivery.119  As a result, Dinasa had “failed to 
rise to the challenge and support MINUSTAH with the increasing demands for fuel—
even after problems have been identified and flagged.”120 

106. Dinasa’s initial one-month contract was extended repeatedly over the next three 
years.  Since the contract far exceeded the original US$115,440, the Mission later had to 
submit the contract to the Local Committee on Contracts (LCC) and Headquarters 
Committee on Contracts (HCC) on an ex-post facto basis.  To date, over US$21 million 
has been authorized under this initial short-term contract with Dinasa (Attached as Annex 
E).121 

VIII. LONG-TERM GROUND FUEL PROCUREMENT 
107. In the spring 2005, MINUSTAH conducted a procurement exercise for the long-
term supply of ground fuel.  The initial technical evaluation concluded that the current 
supplier, Dinasa, was technically non-compliant.  The contract therefore should have 
been awarded to the lowest, technically compliant vendor, which was Total Haiti.  
                                                 
112 See Section F, Contractor Performance Appraisal Report for Contract No. PD/CO1053/04 (April 2005).  
113 Subject 3 interview, para. 23 (14 December 2006, 10 January 2007). 
114 See Sections A, B of Contractor Performance Appraisal Report for Contract No. PD/CO1053/04 (April 
2005).  
115 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
116 HCC Meeting Minutes, HCC/05/45 (HCC Minutes), para. 17. 12 (19 July 2005) and Technical 
Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1, p. 3 (3 May 2005). 
117 Technical Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1, p. 3 (3 May 2005). 
118 Section F, Contractor Performance Appraisal Report for Contract No. PD/CO1053/04 (April 2005). 
119 Subject 3 interview (14 December 2006, 10 January 2007). 
120 See Sections D, F Contractor Performance Appraisal Report for Contract No. PD/CO1053/04 (April 
2005).  
121 Balakrishnan Amirthalingam email to Task Force (21 June 2007) (with attached value of ground fuel 
procurements from Dinasa, approved until 31 December 2007). 
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However, staff members in the Fuel Unit and Procurement Section decided to hold a Best 
and Final Offer exercise in order to allow Dinasa the opportunity to correct its proposal 
and resubmit omitted information.  A subsequent technical evaluation of the responses 
was not fairly undertaken and in fact had been purposefully skewed so Dinasa became the 
most technically qualified supplier.  Similarly, although Dinasa had not submitted the 
lowest prices, the commercial evaluation was rigged in its favour; staff members 
manipulated fuel estimates to ensure that Dinasa became the least expensive bidder.  
Finally, staff members made numerous misrepresentations to conceal the favouritism 
shown to Dinasa. 

A. BACKGROUND 
108. Since the contract with Dinasa was a temporary solution—set to expire in two 
months—MINUSTAH had to undertake another procurement exercise for a longer term 
supply of ground fuel.122  This procurement would be purely a local exercise.  The 
Supply Section at UNHQ told the Mission to hire a “turnkey operation” for the supply of 
ground fuel.123  The supplier would have to construct and then manage fuel sites, hire and 
train local staff, establish a distribution system and provide other associated POL 
services, such as waste disposal.124  

109. On 27 August 2004, Subject 3, Chief of the Mission’s Fuel Unit, developed the 
Scope of Works for this exercise.125  Subject 3 calculated the estimated fuel 
consumptions for the Mission need based in part on information received from UNHQ’s 
Supply Section.126  He determined that the Mission would consume approximately 32.4 
million litres of ground fuel a year. 127 

110. After receiving the SOW, the Mission’s Procurement Section issued an 
Expression of Interest (EOI) on the UN’s web-site in October 2004.128  The EOI notified 
vendors of the commencement of a Request for Proposal for a turn-key fuel operation for 
a variety of fuel, including bulk fuel, diesel and petrol, and aviation fuel.129  One local 
and ten international companies responded, but three were deemed unqualified.  The 
Procurement Section then conducted a local and international market survey and 
identified an additional 20 potential vendors.130 

                                                 
122 RFP/TEN/MIN/04/01, p. 4 (31 May 2004). 
123 Subject 3 interview (14 December 2006, 10 January 2007). 
124 RFP/05/027/RP, p. 15 (29 January 2005). 
125 Subject 3 email to Subject 1, et al. (27 September 2004) with attached Scope of Work (SOW) for the 
Provision of Petroleum, Oils & Lubricants (POL) and Associated Support Services to the Mission Nations 
Unies Pour la Stabilization a Haiti (MINUSTAH). 
126 Subject 3 emails to Subject 4, et al. (1 and 9 September 2004). 
127 Scope of Work (SOW) for the Provision of Petroleum, Oils & Lubricants (POL) and Associated Support 
Services to the Mission Nations Unies Pour la Stabilization a Haiti (MINUSTAH). 
128 Sean Porter email to Subject 4 (30 September 2004) with attached Expression of Interest (EOI/FUEL-
00001/AK) (1 October 2004). 
129 Expression of Interest (EOI/FUEL-00001/AK) (1 October 2004). 
130 MINUSTAH Presentation for the HCC for LCC Case No: MIN/2005/92, para. 2 (8 June 2005). 
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B. REQUEST FOR PROPOSAL 
111. Although the SOW had been submitted in 2004, the Procurement Section did not 
initiate a competitive bidding exercise for several months.  During this time, Dinasa 
continued to supply fuel to the Mission without a written contract.  The Task Force has 
been unable to determine why this delay occurred. 

112. Subject 4 was assigned to the case, even though he had no experience in fuel 
procurements.131  Subject 6, a team leader in the Section, was Subject 4’s supervising 
officer, which is why the Request went out under his name (RFP Number 05/027/RP) 
(emphasis added).132  

113. On 29 January 2005, Subject 4 and Subject 6 issued the RFP, which had been 
approved by Subject 1, the Chief Procurement Officer.133 The RFP solicited bids for the 
supply, delivery and distribution of Jet Aviation Fuel, Petrol, Diesel, LPG and 
Lubricants.134    

114. The proposed contract was for a period of one year, with the option of extending 
it for two additional one-year periods.135  Vendors were asked to “provide all requisite 
information under this RFP and clearly and concisely respond to all points set out” in the 
Request.136  It further cautioned that any “proposal which does not fully and 
comprehensively address this RFP will be disqualified.”137  Additionally, it emphasized 
that the technical proposals must demonstrate an “understanding” of the required tasks” 
and were required to provide a “mobilization plan and time” for the commencement of 
services. 138 

115. Procurement sent the proposal to 28 companies, including Dinasa and Total 
Haiti.139  On 21 February 2005, five vendors attended a pre-bidding conference to review 
the RFP.140  After the conference, the Procurement Section prepared a list of 
clarifications in response to questions raised at the conference, and distributed it to all 
vendors.141  In addition to the questions raised at the conference, Dinasa asked the 
Mission to clarify other areas, including the timeline for mobilization.142 

                                                 
131 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
132 Staff Member 10 interview (21 May 2007). 
133 Subject 1 interview (7 March 2007). 
134 Request for Proposal, RFP/05/027/RP (29 January 2005). 
135 Id., para. 5. 
136 Id., para. 7. 
137 Id. 
138 Id., para. 8.1 (emphasis in the original). 
139 List of Invitees for RFP/05/027/RP. 
140 Attendance Report and Minutes of Pre-Bidding Conference for RFP/05/027/RP (21 February 2005). 
141 Questions and Answers Related to RFP/05/027/RP and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
142 Subject 4 email to Subject 3, et al. (1 March 2005) with attached Questions regarding Minustah Bid, 
para. 10 (28 February 2005). 
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116. On 21 March 2005, the RFP closed.  A public bid opening was held by the Tender 
Opening Committee the next day, 22 March 2005.143  At that time, the TOC was chaired 
by Ms. Kaltouma N’Guessan, from the Finance Department.  The TOC had been 
established at Mission start-up by the initial Chief Administrative Officer.144  Pursuant to 
the Procurement Manual and Financial Rules, the Committee was chaired by the Chief of 
the Finance Section, and was comprised of various staff members who were not part of 
the local Procurement Section or requisitioning office.145 

117. Accordingly, numerous individuals were invited to the bid opening, including 
members of the TOC.146  Only two members appeared at the bid opening: Mr. Goeran 
Biller and Mr. Joseph Brent, who chaired the committee on behalf of the Finance 
Department.147  Subject 4 attended as a witness on behalf of Procurement.148  Once Mr. 
Brent realized he needed a third member, he asked that Subject 3 participate.149  Although 
Mr. Brent and Mr. Biller were suitable members since they were not involved in the 
exercise, Subject 3, as requisitioner and an evaluator, should not have participated.150  
Subject 4 knew this was improper and violated the Procurement Manual, but he did not 
say anything because he did not believe it was his place to “interfere.”151   

118. As requested in the RFP, the vendors submitted separate envelopes for the 
financial and technical proposals.  Consequently, the TOC should have only opened the 
technical proposals at the bid opening, and forwarded the sealed financial bids to 
Procurement.152  In this case, the TOC nevertheless opened the financial proposals at the 
same time.153  Subject 4 knew this practice violated Procurement rules, but did nothing.154 

119. Six vendors replied to the RFP, but only three submitted proposals for the ground 
fuel portion: Dinasa, Total Haiti and SkyLink.155  Subject 4 took custody of the bids; he 

                                                 
143 The original closing date was set for 28 February, but was rescheduled after questions were raised at the 
pre-proposal conference.  Subject 2 memorandum to Chairman of Headquarters Committee on Contracts 
for LCC Case No. MIN/2005/92 (dated 8 June 2005) (HCC Presentation); Subject 4 email to Subject 1, et 
al. (10 March 2005); and Subject 1 memorandum to All Invited Proposers (10 March 2005). 
144 Antonio Gomez de la Torre memorandum to All MINUSTAH Personnel (20 June 2004). 
145 Procurement Manual Section 10.1.1 (3). 
146 Subject 4 email to MINUSTAH-TOC (10 March 2005) and Esperance Guirline email to Adama Fadika, 
et al. (11 March 2005). 
147 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
148 Bid Opening Sheet for RFP No. 05/027 (22 March 2005). 
149 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
150 Procurement Manual Section 10.1.1 (3). 
151 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
152 Procurement Manual Section 10.8.4 (4) and HCC Minutes, para. 17.04. 
153 See, e.g., Bid Opening Sheet for RFP No. 05/027 (“T&F opened”) (22 March 2005); HCC Minutes, 
para. 17.02; and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
154 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007).  See also Subject 4 email to Subject 2 (17 May 2005) (explaining 
that “the technical proposal [will be] completed prior to any price proposal being opened and compared and 
pricing “will be opened only for submissions that passed the minimum technical score of 60%”). 
155 Dinasa’s Proposal to RFP/05/027/RP (21 March 2005); SkyLink’s Proposal to RFPS/05/027/RP (21 
March 2005: and Total Haiti’s Proposal to RFP/05/027/RP (17 March 2005).  The Mission eventually split 
the award into three separate contracts, aviation; ground fuel; and oil and lubricants.  Since this Report 
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kept the technical proposals, but gave the financial proposals to the head of the 
Procurement Section, who stored them in a desk in his office.156 

C. THE EVALUATION COMMITTEES 

1. Technical Evaluation 
120. Since Subject 3 was Chief of the Fuel Unit, he created and chaired the team 
responsible for evaluating the technical proposals.157  He asked everyone in the Fuel Unit 
who was present at the time to participate.  This included Mr. David Carter, Subject 5, 
Ms. Freweini Elias and Ms. Cassandra Palanyk. 

2. Overall Evaluation Committee 
121. Subject 1 created a committee to perform the overall evaluation, which he titled 
the “Tender Evaluation Committee.”158  Subject 6, with Subject 1’s approval, announced 
that the team would be comprised of two members from the Fuel Unit, Subject 3 and 
Subject 5; the buyer, Subject 4; and a member of the Contracts Management Unit 
(CMU), Mr. Alexander Maisuradze.159   

122. The purpose of the Tender Evaluation Committee was to perform an overall 
evaluation of the proposals.160  Its decision would be based upon the technical evaluation, 
and the Committee’s own analysis of the vendors’ pricing information.  After the 
committee determined which proposal best met the requirements of the RFP, it would 
report to the CPO.161 

D. ORIGINAL TECHNICAL EVALUATION 

1. Initial Technical Evaluations (12 April and 18 April 2005) 
123. Although Procurement had all of the vendors’ responses on 22 March 2005, 
Subject 1 did not request that a technical evaluation be performed until over a week later, 
1 April 2005.162  Notably, the Supply Section did not receive the request and 

                                                                                                                                                 
relates solely to ground fuel, the other two sections will not be discussed.  Subject 1 memorandum to 
Technical Evaluation Committee (1 April 2005) and Matrix for Technical Evaluation (12 April 2005). 
156 Bid Opening Sheet for RFP/05/027 (22 March 2005) and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007).  Subject 4 
recalled giving the financial proposals to either the CPO or the OIC at the time.  Since Subject 2 had not yet 
joined the Mission, it likely was Subject 1 since he was the acting CPO.  Subject 2 interview (23 February 
2007) (joined Mission on 2 May 2005).   
157 Subject 3 email to Subject 4 et al. (8 April 2005).  Subject 3 announced this decision at an earlier 
meeting and then memorialized it in the 8 April 2005 memorandum.  Staff Member 5 interview, (26 April 
2007). 
158 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
159 Subject 6 memorandum to Subject 1 (19 March 2005). 
160 Id. 
161 Id. 
162 Subject 1 memorandum to Technical Evaluation Committee (1 April 2005). 
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accompanying proposals until 7 April 2005—almost two weeks after the opening.163  The 
Task Force could find no definitive explanation for this lengthy delay, which was highly 
unusual, particularly in light of the urgency of this procurement. 164 

124. A few days after the Fuel Unit received the technical proposals, Subject 3 
contacted Subject 4 and asked for the vendors’ financial proposals.165  Subject 3 claimed 
that he over-estimated the fuel consumption, and needed the pricing information to 
determine his budget.166   

125. Since the vendors’ financial bids had been kept in a secure place in one of his 
supervisor’s offices, Subject 4 informed Subject 6 of Subject 3’s request.167  Subject 6 
agreed with Subject 4 to turn over the pricing information even though the technical 
evaluation had not been completed.168  At some point, Subject 4 and Subject 6 spoke to 
Subject 1 and told him about Procurement’s disclosure of the financial bids.  Subject 4 
did not recall whether this conversation took place before he delivered the financial bids, 
or after.169  Either way, his supervisor handed over the financial bids to Subject 4 in order 
for him to forward them to Subject 3.170  Subject 4 then gave a copy of the financial bids 
to Subject 3 and Subject 5.171  Subsequently, the entire Technical Evaluation Committee 
saw the vendors’ pricing information.172 

126. On 12 April 2005, Subject 5 prepared an initial draft of the technical team’s 
findings, which he placed on a spreadsheet.173  He then sent it Subject 3 for his review.174   

127. The team found that SkyLink scored the highest and was technically compliant 
with a score of 97 points out of 100.  Total Haiti was deemed “conditionally compliant,” 
with a passing score of 68 points.  Dinasa, however, was technically non-compliant since 
it had a failing score of 52 (60 was required for passing); it was given no points for 
several areas because it failed to provide any mobilization plan.175   

                                                 
163 Ellen Aamodt’s handwritten note on Subject 1’s 1 April 2005 memorandum to Technical Evaluation 
Committee (dated 7 April 2005) and Subject 3 email to Subject 4, et al. (8 April 2005). 
164 Staff Member 10 interview (21 May 2007) and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
165 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
166 Id. 
167 Id. (23 May 2007).  Although Subject 4 recalled having this conversation with Subject 2 and Subject 6, 
as stated earlier, Subject 2 was not yet at the Mission (see supra paragraph 38) and therefore, Subject 4 
likely confused his participation with Subject 1’s.   
168 Subject 4 interview. (23 May 2007). 
169 Id.  Although Subject 4 recalled having this conversation with Subject 2 and Subject 6, as stated earlier, 
Subject 2 was not yet at the Mission (see supra paragraph 38) and therefore, Subject 4 likely confused his 
participation with Subject 1’s, but he clearly recalled speaking to someone above Subject 6. 
170 Id. (23 May 2007). 
171 Id; Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007); and Subject 3 email to Subject 4, et al (8 April 2005) (informing 
him of composition of Technical Evaluation Committee).  
172 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
173 Id. and Matrix for Technical Evaluation (12 April 2005). 
174 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007) and Staff Member 5 interview (26 April 2007). 
175 Matrix for Technical Evaluation (12 April 2005). A score of 60 points indicated whether or not the 
proposal was technically compliant, unless it was missing a substantive requirement to the RFP.  Subject 4 
understood that a score of below 60 meant it was a failing score. Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
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128. Significantly, the team referred to pricing information on its technical evaluation.  
In particular, the Technical Evaluation Committee had scored SkyLink’s prices for 
mobilization and products costs.176   

129. After composing the spreadsheet, the Technical Evaluation Committee drafted a 
memorandum summarizing its initial findings which was sent to the Tender Evaluation 
Committee, the team responsible for the overall evaluation.177  The Technical Evaluation 
Committee explained that it found SkyLink technically compliant, with a score of 97. 178  
Total Haiti addressed “most requirements…except the Staffing Plan which in itself [was] 
not a substantial part of the RFP.”179  Since Total Haiti had only presented a mobilization 
plan in “broad strokes,” the Committee wanted clarifications on this issue before it gave 
it a final rating.  As a result, Total Haiti was “Conditionally Technically Compliant” 
with a score of 68 until such confirmation was received.180 

130. Finally, Dinasa had received a failing score of 52 out of 100 and therefore was 
found to be “Technically Non Compliant” because it did “not address all the 
requirements of the RFP.”181  Dinasa had failed to “present a distribution and 
mobilization plan which not only represents a lack of understanding of MINUSTAH’s 
requirements, but affects directly the installation of the Contractor Managed Sites which 
are a substantive requirement of the RFP.”182   

 

Figure: Technical Evaluation Committee memorandum to Tender Evaluation Committee 
(18 April 2005) 

131. The Committee also referred to the problems the Mission was experiencing with 
Dinasa as its current supplier.  For example, the team pointed to the “major logistical 
problems in [Dinasa’s] delivery of fuel to areas outside Port-au-Prince,” the discrepancies 

                                                 
176 Matrix for Technical Evaluation (12 April 2005) and Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
177 Technical Evaluation Committee memorandum to Tender Evaluation Committee for RFP/05/027/PM 
(18 April 2005). 
178 Id., para. 2(a). 
179 Id., para. 2(b). 
180 Id. 
181 Id., p. 1. 
182 Id., para. 2(c). 
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between the fuel it claimed it delivered and what the Mission actually received, and the 
company’s failure to implement an electronic system for invoicing.183 

132. The Technical Evaluation Committee therefore sought further information from 
Total Haiti and SkyLink, which it considered to be “small, non-critical clarifications.”184  
Since Dinasa was non-compliant, the Technical Evaluation Committee did not seek any 
clarifications from the company.185   

133. Unlike SkyLink and Total Haiti, Dinasa was missing critical information in its 
proposal.  Indeed, the failure to provide a mobilization plan was so significant that it 
would not have been appropriate to allow the company to resubmit this information at 
this stage since this would have given Dinasa a second chance to bid.186  Accordingly, the 
team considered that Dinasa to be eliminated from the competition.187   At this stage, 
Dinasa was considered “out of the running” and only Total Haiti and SkyLink were 
eligible for the contract.188 

2. Request for Clarifications (25 April 2005) 
134. After the Technical Evaluation Committee issued its request for clarifications, the 
four members of the Tender Evaluation Committee met to discuss the situation.189  
Subject 3, Subject 5, Subject 4, and Mr. Maisuradze reviewed the technical evaluation as 
well as the financial proposals.190  They discussed why certain vendors were 
conditionally compliant and what those vendors needed to provide in order to become 
fully compliant.191  Since Subject 3 and Subject 5 were the fuel experts, the two other 
members deferred to their judgment. 192   

135. The Tender Evaluation Committee relied upon the earlier technical evaluation, 
and agreed that certain clarifications were needed before a final overall evaluation could 
take place.  All four members also agreed, however, that no information would be sought 
from Dinasa because it was considered non-compliant, and therefore disqualified from 
the exercise.193  Dinasa was missing such a large portion of the response that it was not 
included in this request for clarifications.194 

                                                 
183 Id.  
184 Subject 5 interview(22 May 2007). 
185 Technical Evaluation Committee memorandum to Tender Evaluation Committee for RFP/05/027/PM, 
para. 2(c) (18 April 2005).   
186 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007) 
187 Id.; Staff Member 5 interview (26 April 2007); and Staff Member 4 interview (24 May 2007).  See also 
Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007) (Dinasa lacked a mobilization plan, which was a “very important part of 
the proposal”). 
188 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
189 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
190 Id. 
191 Id. 
192 Id. 
193 Id.  See also Staff Member 10 interview (21 May 2007) (no reason to continue including a non-
compliant company in any further procurement activity). 
194 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
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136. On 25 April 2005, the Tender Evaluation Committee informed the OIC of 
Procurement, Mr. Alejandro Arigon, that the Mission needed to obtain further 
information from SkyLink and Total Haiti.195  Mr. Arigon was acting for Subject 1, who 
was out of the office at that time.196  When he returned, Subject 4 briefed Subject 1 and 
informed him that the Technical Evaluation Committee found Dinasa to be non-
compliant.197  

137. Mr. Arigon approved the request and told Subject 4 to proceed.198  Accordingly, 
Subject 4 contacted the various vendors and requested the additional information.199  The 
vendors all responded by deadline of 29 April 2005.200  Mr. Arigon forwarded the 
vendors’ responses to the Tender Evaluation Committee and requested that it complete a 
final evaluation as soon as possible.201 

138. The four members of the Tender Evaluation Committee met again to review the 
new information and decide which of the remaining vendors were qualified.202  Subject 3 
and Subject 5 made the final decision as to which was technically compliant or not.203  

139. Total Haiti and SkyLink were both now technically compliant.  However, the 
issue of Dinasa was raised at this meeting.  Subject 3 now mentioned that he knew 
Dinasa had the capabilities to perform, but that it merely “forgot” to include the requisite 
information.204  He insisted that he knew the company could perform under the 
contract.205 

140. Despite chairing the earlier Technical Evaluation Committee that unequivocally 
found Dinasa non-compliant, Subject 3 now claimed that they had made a mistake: 
Dinasa should have been rated conditionally compliant, not non-compliant.206  It is 
unclear why Subject 3 suddenly changed his position. 

141. He then purportedly came up with the idea of declaring that Dinasa, though “Not 
Technically Compliant” could “be made acceptable if the company demonstrates 
Mobilization details at no additional cost to MINUSTAH.”207  Subject 4 said that Subject 
3 insisted that Dinasa be given another chance.  Subject 3 said he did not want the 

                                                 
195 Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum for RFP/05/027/RP to Alejandra Arigon (25 April 2005).  
The Committee sought information from other vendors, which was unrelated to the ground fuel portion of 
the contract and therefore will not be discussed. 
196 Subject 1 interview 5 (7 March 2007) and Staff Member 10 interview (21 May 2007). 
197 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
198 Staff Member 10 interview (21 May 2007). 
199 See, e.g., Subject 4 email to Alexander Kislanski (Total Haiti) (26 April 2005); Subject 4 email to Jan 
Ottens (26 April 2005) (SkyLink); and Subject 4 email to Yvan Deas (26 April 2005) (Sodigaz). 
200 See, e.g., Philippe Nicolas email to Sujbect 4 (28 April 2005); Ivan Deas email to Subject 4 (28 April 
2005) and Richard Gelder email to Subject 4, et al. (28 April 2005). 
201 Alejandro Arigon Memorandum to Tender Evaluation Committee (29 April 2005) 
202 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
203 Id.  
204 Id. 
205 Id.  
206 Id.  
207 Id. and Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1, p. 5 (3 May 2005). 
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contract to be awarded to Total Haiti because he did not want to switch vendors.208  The 
other members eventually agreed with him.209 

3. Overall Commercial Evaluation (3 May 2005) 
142. After the meeting, the Tender Evaluation Committee issued a second report to 
Procurement summarizing its findings on 3 May 2005.210  Subject 5 drafted the initial 
report.211   In his draft, the team did not change the scores given in the initial evaluation.  
SkyLink was “Technically Compliant,” with the highest score of 97.212  Total Haiti, still 
scored at 68, was now “Technically Compliant” (rather than merely conditionally) in 
light of the new information provided. 213  Dinasa still failed with a score of 52 points; the 
committee also repeated its earlier statements regarding Dinasa’s proposal.214   As a 
result, the team still declared Dinasa to be “Technically Non Compliant.”215  The 
technical scores were summarized on a spreadsheet. 

 

Figure: Attached Matrix to Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1 (3 May 
2005) 

                                                 
208 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
209 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
210 Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1 (3 May 2005). 
211 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
212 Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1, para. 2(a) (3 May 2005). 
213 Id., para. 2(b). 
214 Id., para. 2(c) (Dinasa  did “not address all the requirements of the RFP,” failed “to present a distribution 
and mobilization plan” which “not only represents a lack of understanding of MINUSTAH’s 
requirements,” but also affected “a substantive requirement of the RFP”). 
215 Id. (emphasis in the original). 
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143. Under his version, only SkyLink and Total Haiti were ranked as compliant and 
Dinasa had been disqualified.  Subject 5 then forwarded the evaluation to Subject 3 and 
Subject 4 for their review.216   

144. A final version was then circulated to the four members of the team.  The first 
four pages had been left unedited from Subject 5’ version; the fifth page, however, was 
new and included a conclusion section.  Subject 5 told the Task Force that he did not 
write these recommendations; in fact, had never seen the conclusions before because the 
memorandum he signed did not include such a section.217  Subject 4 said Subject 3 
drafted this portion of the document.218   

145. The new section now concluded that Dinasa’s proposal could become compliant: 

 

Figure: Technical Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1 (3 May 2005) 

146. At this stage, the Mission had two technically compliant vendors from which to 
chose, Total Haiti and SkyLink.  The procurement exercise could have been completed at 
this stage and a contract immediately awarded.  Since Total Haiti’s bid was much lower, 
Total Haiti should have won the contract.219 

147. Instead, staff members in Fuel and Procurement, including senior management, 
took several steps to keep Dinasa in the procurement, and eventually steered the bidding 
exercise to favour Dinasa, thereby violating staff, financial and procurement rules as 
discussed below.   

E. DECISION TO CONTINUE PROCUREMENT FOR DINASA 
148. After Procurement received the memorandum which contained conflicting 
information, Subject 2 (OIC of Procurement) called a meeting between Procurement and 
Fuel to determine how best to proceed.220  Subject 3, Subject 6 and Subject 4 attended the 
meeting which was held in Subject 2’s office.221   

149. According to Subject 4, Subject 2 asked why Dinasa was being given a second 
chance.222  Subject 6 acknowledged that this was a novel idea—giving a non-compliant 

                                                 
216 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
217 Id. (22 May 2007). 
218 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
219 Indeed, the HCC reached the same conclusion which is why it later awarded the contract to Total Haiti.  
HCC Minutes, para. 17.13. 
220 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
221 Id. 
222 Id. 
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vendor a second chance to bid.223  However, Subject 4 claimed that Subject 3 forcefully 
argued at the meeting that Dinasa was currently performing the work and he knew it was 
capable of continuing to supply the Mission.224  As he pounded the desk, he argued that 
he knew Dinasa had the capacity to meet the requirements and the vendor simply 
“forgot” to include a mobilization plan.225  Subject 3 told Subject 2 that “we must give 
them another chance.”226  

150. They all then agreed to give Dinasa a second chance to submit a mobilization 
plan.  If Dinasa failed to include this information for a second time, the contract would 
then be awarded to Total Haiti.227   

151. After the decision was made, the group now had to find a way to allow Dinasa to 
“submit the missing information” and keep it in the procurement exercise.228  They 
considered re-bidding the contract and starting a new procurement exercise.  This 
approach also would have allowed MINUSTAH to incorporate more recent and accurate 
fuel estimates.229  This issue later posed significant problems for the Mission, which will 
be discussed below.  However, Subject 6 pointed out that the Mission did not have time 
to re-bid the procurement and that they should proceed as planned.230  The group all 
agreed that a re-bid was out of the question. 231 

152. Subject 1 raised the idea of a Best and Final Offer (BAFO).232  Subject 6 then 
announced that he would contact “New York” for guidance.233  After he spoke with Mr. 
Yakovlev, Subject 6 met with Subject 2 and Subject 4.  He told them that Mr. Yakovlev 
informed him that the Mission could use a BAFO exercise to address the situation.234   

153. The three Procurement staff members then met with Subject 1 to let him know 
what was going on.235  There was no doubt at this meeting that the sole purpose of 
holding a BAFO was to allow Dinasa another chance to correct its proposal.236  Subject 1 

                                                 
223 Id. 
224 Id. 
225 Id. 
226 Id. 
227 Id. 
228 See, e.g., Staff Member 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
229 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007) (recalling Subject 2 raising this option) and Subject 5 interview (22 
May 2007) (recalled Subject 1 raising the issue of a re-bid, which he later said was not feasible). 
230 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
231 Id. 
232 Subject 5 interview (29 May 2007) and Subject 6 interview (14 May 2007). 
233 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
234 Id. 
235 Id. 
236 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007).  See also Subject 6 interview (14 May 2007) (admitted discussing 
notion of BAFO with Mr. Yakovlev in order to confirm with Dinasa that it had a mobilization plan at no 
cost to the Mission). 
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had been briefed “at every step” of this procurement exercise as the scheme unfolded.237  
Subject 1—the most senior member of the group—agreed to proceed with the BAFO.238   

154. Subject 4 researched the Procurement Manual and found a section which 
discussed BAFOs.239  He brought the section to Subject 6, Subject 2 and Subject 1.240  He 
referred to the section in the Manual which allowed “competitive negotiations with a 
sufficient number of qualified proposers that have a reasonable chance for award” and 
which permitted vendors to “revise their proposals.”241  

155. Procurement then called a meeting with the Fuel Unit.  Subject 2, Subject 6 and 
Subject 4 met again with Subject 3 in Subject 2’s office.242  Subject 6 summarized his 
telephone call with Mr. Yakovlev and the approach the team would be taking.243  Subject 
2 announced that they would pursue a BAFO and invite Dinasa to participate.244  By 
issuing a BAFO, they would be able to give Dinasa a chance to submit a mobilization 
plan and qualify for the contract.245  Subject 3 was pleased, agreed to the plan and the 
meeting was concluded.246  

156. Subject 4 later met with Subject 5  to tell him what they had decided.  He sat 
down with Subject 5 and pointed out the section in the Procurement Manual justifying 
their actions. 247  The section indicated that a vendor could be given a second chance if it 
was believed that it had the capacity to do the job.248  In Subject 5’ experience, however, 
he never saw a technically non-compliant vendor invited to a BAFO.249 

F. INITIAL OVERALL EVALUATION  
157. Based on these discussions, Subject 5 drafted the overall evaluation, which 
combined both the technical and commercial analysis.250  He summarized the Technical 
Evaluation Committee’s earlier findings that SkyLink and Total Haiti were compliant, 
but Dinasa was “Technically Non Compliant” and “therefore no commercial evaluation 
may take place.”251  Subject 5 recommended that a BAFO “be requested from SkyLink 
and TOTAL Haiti,” but not Dinasa.252 

                                                 
237 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
238 Id. 
239 Procurement Section 11.6.8 and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
240 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
241 Procurement Manual Section 11.6.8 (1)(2). 
242 Subject 3 interview (23 May 2007). 
243 Subject 6 email to Subject 2 (9 May 2005) and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
244 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
245 Id. 
246 Id. 
247 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007) and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007) (admits he may have done 
this). 
248 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
249 Id. 
250 Id. 
251 Draft Memorandum from Tender Evaluation Committee to Subject 1, Section 2.3 (16 May 2005). 
252 Id., Section 2.3. 
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158. Subject 5 then conducted a commercial assessment of all three vendors’ prices.253  
In order to compare the vendors’ prices, he used the fuel estimates contained in the RFP, 
the total of which was approximately 32 million litres per year.254  He then multiplied the 
vendors’ prices to each of the 12 categories of fuel needed as seen below: 

 

 

Figure: Financial Evaluation attached to Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005) 

                                                 
253 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
254 Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005) with attached Request for Proposal No. 
RFP/05/027/RP for the provision of POL, FINANCIAL EVALUATION, p. 1. 
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159. Based on the financial evaluation, Total Haiti offered the lowest prices and was 
technically compliant.255  SkyLink was ranked the highest technically, but its prices were 
much higher than Total Haiti’s.256  He then circulated the draft to, inter alia, Subject 6 
and Subject 3.   

160. A second draft of the overall evaluation was distributed; this time, it incorporated 
the comments of Subject 6, Subject 2 and possibly Subject 1, regarding Dinasa’s 
participation in the BAFO.257  This time, Subject 5’ earlier language was still included -- 
Dinasa was found to be non-compliant and thus no commercial evaluation may take 
place.  However, Dinasa had been added to the list of BAFO participants, possibly by 
either Subject 6 or Subject 4.258  The new version now read that the BAFO would include 
all three vendors, Dinasa, Total Haiti and SkyLink.259 

161. The memorandum was re-written for a third time; this time, Procurement wrote 
the final version. Subject 2 asked Subject 4 to draft the memorandum and send it from 
himself (Subject 4) rather than the Tender Evaluation Committee.260  Subject 4 drafted 
both the official “overall evaluation,” which combined the technical and commercial 
aspects.  He then sent it to Subject 1 (CAS), Subject 2 (acting CPO), and Subject 6 
(supervisor) for their review.261 

162. On 20 May 2005, Subject 4 created the final evaluation stating that the Tender 
Evaluation Committee completed its overall evaluation of the proposals, which included 
both the financial and technical assessments.262  As for its pricing, Dinasa had not 
provided mobilization costs.  Despite this, Total Haiti’s prices were still lower than 
Dinasa’s even without factoring in Dinasa’s mobilization costs.  SkyLink’s prices were 
the highest.263 

163. Subject 4 attached both the technical and commercial evaluation to the 
memorandum.  In this version, Subject 6 drafted creative language to explain why Dinasa 
would continue to participate in this exercise.  This version intentionally omitted Subject 
5’s language that Dinasa’s financial proposal would not be evaluated since it was non-
compliant.  Instead, Subject 6 drafted a new paragraph; referring to Subject 3’s earlier 
section, he wrote that despite its failure to comply with the RFP, Dinasa nevertheless 
“could reasonably be made acceptable” if the company demonstrated “[m]obilization 
details at no additional cost.”264  This approach, he claimed, “would be in the interest of 
the Organization.”265 

                                                 
255 Id., para. 2.1. 
256 Id., para. 2.2. 
257 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
258 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
259 Draft Memorandum from Tender Evaluation Committee to Subject 1 (17 May 2005), Section 2.3. 
260 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
261 Subject 4 email to Subject 1, et al. (29 May 2005) (attached copy of overall evaluation and draft BAFO). 
262 Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005). 
263 Id., para. 2.3.2.2. 
264 Id. and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
265 Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2, para. 2.3.2 (20 May 2005). 
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Figure: Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005) 

164. Notably, the request for mobilization details “at no additional cost” had no logical 
relationship to a technical evaluation.  In order to be considered technically compliant, 
Dinasa had to submit a mobilization plan; the cost of any such plan should have been 
irrelevant since the only issue was whether or not it provided the missing information.266 

165. The summary then recommended the Mission seek a Best and Final Offer from all 
three vendors for the ground fuel portion.267 

                                                 
266 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
267 Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2, para. 2.3 and Summary of Findings, p. 6, para. 2 (20 May 2005). 
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Figure: Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005) 

166. Interestingly, Subject 4l added a Financial Evaluation Annex to the memorandum, 
which he obtained from another procurement exercise.268  The Annex claimed that 
proposals had only been opened for submissions that passed the minimum technical 
threshold.269 

167. An exception obviously was being made for Dinasa.  In complete contrast to the 
ground fuel, however, was the Mission’s treatment of Total Haiti.  In the same 
memorandum, Subject 4 eliminated Total Haiti from the procurement in the oil and 
lubricant portion of the contract because it was deemed non-compliant.  He noted that 
since the technical evaluation revealed that Total Haiti was non-compliant for not 
addressing all the requirements in the RFP, “no commercial evaluation may take place”  
and another vendor should be awarded the contract.270  Subject 4 later admitted that he 
“did it wrong.”271 

G. MEETING WITH VENDORS 
168. As part of the plan to issue a BAFO, Subject 6 wanted to meet with each of the 
vendors to discuss how they could improve their proposals.272  He told Subject 3, Subject 
5, Subject 4, and Subject 2 that they would meet individually with each vendor to discuss 
how to improve the technical aspects of the proposals. 273  After the meetings, the Mission 
would issue a BAFO.274 

                                                 
268 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007) (referring to page 7). 
269 Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005). 
270 Id. para 4.7 and Summary of Findings, p. 6, para. 4. 
271 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
272 Id. 
273 Subject 6 email to Subject 2 (9 May 2005). 
274 Id. 
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Figure: Subject 6 email to Subject 2 (9 May 2005) 

169. All of the individuals involved met with one or both of the vendors “in order to let 
them know what we want.”275  

170. During the meeting, Subject 6 and Subject 1 took the lead with the contractors.276  
With Dinasa, the Mission told the company about the BAFO and that it must include a 
mobilization plan, but it could not add any additional costs for this section.277  
Significantly, the MINUSTAH team knew it should not be discussing prices.278  If Dinasa 
was simply missing a plan, the cost of such a plan should not have been related 
whatsoever to whether or not it was compliant.  Dinasa may have been told to eliminate 
these costs as an attempt by the Mission to make sure that it would be the lowest bidder, 
thereby helping Dinasa with win the contract. 

                                                 
275 Dinasa interview (24 May 2007); Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007); Total Haiti interview (22 May 
2007); and Subject 5 email to Subject 3 (10 May 2005).  Subject 4 initially told the Task Force that he did 
not meet with the vendors, but eventually admitted his participation in these meetings. Subject 4 interview 
(23 May 2007). 
276 Subject 5 interview (29 May 2007). 
277 Dinasa interview (24 May 2007). When later interviewed by the Task Force, Dinasa was not entirely 
forthcoming with Task Force.  It initially denied meeting with MINUSTAH personnel before the BAFO, 
but eventually admitted that it had been told not to add mobilization costs to the BAFO response.  Dinasa 
interview (24 May 2007).   
278 Subject 6 email to Subject 2 (9 May 2005). 
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171. After the meeting, Dinasa indeed improved its technical proposal.  In fact, as a 
result of the new information, Dinasa hired a civil engineer to help the company prepare 
its BAFO response. 279  As directed, it did not include any costs for mobilization.280 

172. A meeting was then held with Total Haiti.  From the Mission, Subject 2, Subject 
6, Subject 3 and Subject 5 were present, but it is unclear if anyone else attended.281  The 
Mission discussed Total Haiti’s mobilization plan.  During this meeting, the Mission told 
the company that its proposal was weak in some areas and therefore needed to improve 
this aspect to better address the RFP.282  For example, Total needed to address how it 
would reach difficult locations like Jeremie and Hinche.283   

173. As for its pricing, however, a staff member—it is unclear whom—told Total Haiti 
that its prices were not a problem and implied that it did not need to lower them; Total 
Haiti was instructed “just keep the same price, don’t change anything.”284  Total Haiti 
therefore believed the BAFO was simply a formality and did not lower its prices.285 

H. THE BEST AND FINAL OFFER EXERCISE 

1. Emphasis of Mobilization Plan 
174. Subject 1 provided Subject 4 with a template to draft the BAFO.286  In the original 
template, there was no mention, highlighted or otherwise, of requiring vendors to submit 
a separate a mobilization plan.287  

175. Subject 4 sent the draft to Subject 2 and Subject 6 for their comments.288  Subject 
6  added a paragraph which blatantly specified that vendors must provide a mobilization 
plan; he even asked Subject 4 to highlight the words so the “vendors” (Dinasa) would not 
miss it.289  The only reason this paragraph was written was to benefit Dinasa.290  It 
emphasized that proposers who previously did not submit a mobilization plan now must 
do so, but that it could not add any mobilization costs.291  The BAFO also reminded 
vendors that “price increases will not be accepted.”292 

                                                 
279 Dinasa interview (24 May 2007).  
280 Id.  
281 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007) and Total Haiti interview (22 May 2007). 
282 Total Haiti interview (22 May 2007). 
283 Id. 
284 Id. and Subject 5 telephone interview (29 May 2007). 
285 Total Haiti interview (22 May 2007). 
286 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007) and Subject 4 email to Elisabeth N’Guessan (12 May 2005) with 
attached Best and Final Officer for RFP/4/OCI/002/ak (14 October 2004). 
287 Cf. Subject 4 email to Elisabeth N’Guessan (12 May 2005) with attached Best and Final Officer for 
RFP/4/OCI/002/ak (14 October 2004) with Best and Final Offer With regards to the Request for Proposal 
No. RFP/05/027/RP, para. 4.2 (24 May 2005) (BAFO). 
288 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
289 Id. 
290 Id. 
291 BAFO, para. 4.2 (emphasis in the original). 
292 Id. 
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Figure: BAFO (24 May 2005) 

176. A second important part of the BAFO was the announcement that “the original 
Statement of Work remains the same and unchanged.”293  Accordingly, all bidders 
were to rely on the original fuel consumptions based in the RFP.  As discussed below, the 
Procurement Section and the Fuel Unit were aware at this stage that the fuel consumption 
figures had changed substantially.  However, these new numbers were not included in the 
BAFO. 

177. On 24 May 2005, Subject 4 issued the BAFO to SkyLink, Dinasa and Total 
Haiti.294  The closing date was set for 31 May 2005, and the Tender Opening Committee 
was scheduled to open the bids publicly on 1 June 2005.295  

2. Vendors’ BAFO Responses 
178. On 1 June 2005, the TOC opened the BAFO proposals.  Mr. Brent again chaired 
the committee.  He, along with Subject 4, and Mr. Jean Marc Koumoue, opened the three 
bids.  Subject 4 served as a witness from the Procurement Section.296   

179. After Subject 4 copied and distributed the responses, he again met with Subject 3, 
Subject 5 and Mr. Maisuradze for a further evaluation.297  During these discussions, 

                                                 
293 BAFO, Annex C, para. 1.2 (emphasis in the original). 
294 BAFO and Subject 4 email to Subject 1, et al. (24 May 2005). 
295 Subject 4 email to MINUSTAH-TOC (24 May 2005). 
296 BAFO/2005/MINUSTAH/001/PM Bid Opening Sheet (1 June 2005). 
297 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
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Subject 3 informed the group that they had to change the quantities of fuel because the 
actual consumption figures were different from those stated in the SOW.298   

180. Subject 3 and Subject 5 were in charge of analyzing the financial proposals.299  
After a brief review, they met again with Subject 4 and Mr. Maisuradze to compare the 
BAFO prices with the original prices offered. 300  SkyLink and Total Haiti offered the 
same prices as before, and had made no changes.301   

181. Dinasa, however, had changed its prices.302  While some unit prices were 
significantly lower, there was one area in which Dinasa in fact raised its prices: generator 
fuel for Port-au-Prince.  Significantly, this was the one area in which the Mission was 
dramatically reducing its consumption: from over 16 million litres per year, to just over 2 
million litres.303  Dinasa’s price increase violated the BAFO and the Procurement 
Manual, both of which prohibited any increase in costs.  It also raises the question as to 
whether someone at the Mission provided the company with inside information regarding 
the Mission’s consumption of generator fuel (discussed infra in paragraphs 271 et seq.).  

182. In spite of Dinasa’s violation, the evaluators did not disqualify Dinasa from the 
BAFO exercise.  They later justified their decision on the fact that Dinasa’s overall prices 
were lower than its original bid.304 

IX. MANIPULATION OF THE EVALUATIONS 
A. THE TECHNICAL EVALUATION 

183. The Tender Evaluation Committee was set to meet formally and compose a final 
overall evaluation of the BAFO responses.  Prior to this meeting, Subject 6 and Subject 2 
told Subject 4 that they had discussed the technical evaluation with Subject 1.  They 
wanted to see it before it was issued to make sure the “figures were okay” and he was to 
show them the technical evaluation before the Committee made it official.305  Based on 
their earlier discussions where it was clear that Dinasa was “the way to go,” Subject 4 
inferred that they wanted to see the evaluation before it was finalized to make sure 
Dinasa was scored the highest.306   

184.  At the meeting with the other members of the Tender Evaluation Committee, 
Subject 4 informed the group that Subject 6 and Subject 2 wanted to review the 

                                                 
298 Id. 
299 Id. 
300 Id. 
301 Total Haiti’s Response to the BAFO (31 May 2005) and SkyLink’s Response to the BAFO (31 May 
2005). 
302 Dinasa’s Response to the BAFO (31 May 2005) and Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
303 Cf. Financial Evaluation attached to Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005) with Financial 
Evaluation attached to Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 2 (6 June 2005).  
304 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
305 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
306 Id. 
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evaluation before it was completed.307 The four sat down to review the new bids.  For 
guidance, they used the earlier technical evaluation drafted in May and compared those 
scores with the new bids submitted. 308  Subject 3 and Subject 5 (according to Subject 4) 
took the lead on this. 309 

185. The Committee agreed to make sure Dinasa was scored the highest for technical 
compliance.310  Indeed, they gave Dinasa extra points in every single category; Dinasa’s 
score jumped from 52 points to 98 points, intentionally one point ahead of SkyLink’s.311  
This score was completely unfair; while Dinasa certainly improved its proposal, the 
scoring was not done on merit but simply to make it the highest.312   

186. After the meeting, Subject 4 shared the draft with Subject 1, Subject 2 and Subject 
6  for their review, after which they allowed it to be officially submitted on 6 June 
2005.313  The report noted that all proposals remained the same “except the one presented 
by DINASA” which presented “a much more comprehensive Technical Proposal for 
Ground Fuels requirement;” the proposal “now address[ed] all of the requirements of the 
RFP in a very realistic manner” and “now demonstrated a complete understanding of the 
requirements.”314 

 

Figure: Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 2 (6 June 2005) 

                                                 
307 Id 
308 Id 
309 Id. 
310 Id. and Subject 5 interview (29 May 2007) (recalled that Tender Evaluation Committee discussed the 
issue that Dinasa’s technical score should be the highest, although he claimed he felt the score was 
deserved). 
311 Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1 (6 June 2005).  
312 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
313 Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1 (6 June 2005) and Subject 4 interview (24 
May 2007). 
314 Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1, para. 2 and 2(a) (6 June 2005) (emphasis 
added). 
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187. Although the technical scores for SkyLink and Total remained the same, Dinasa 
was now scored at “98 out of 100.”315  Dinasa was now the highest technically compliant 
vendor. 

 

Figure: Attached Technical Evaluation to Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 2 (6 
June 2005) 

B. THE COMMERCIAL EVALUATION 
188. Although Dinasa was now scored the highest technically, its prices were still 
slightly higher than Total Haiti’s.  Dinasa reduced some of its prices, but raised them in 
one area (generator fuel).  Under the original fuel estimates, Total Haiti had offered lower 
prices than Dinasa.  Dinasa’s total estimated expenditures were US$14,785.788.316  In 
contrast, Total Haiti’s estimated costs, including mobilization costs, were lower, at 
US$14,215.440.317   

189. The original estimates were as follows:318 

                                                 
315 Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1, para. 2(a)(b)(c) (6 June 2005) (emphasis 
added). 
316 This figures is derived from multiplying  Dinasa’s BAFO prices with the original fuel estimates, and 
then adding to that Dinasa’s UN Managed site fee of US$1,209,000. 
317 See attached Financial Evaluation to Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005). 
318 Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2004) (Overall Evaluation of Proposals). 
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Figure: Financial Evaluation Attached to Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 
2006)(original fuel estimates) 

190. At this time, the Fuel Unit had more accurate information regarding actual fuel 
consumption estimates, which were much lower than earlier anticipated.  Subject 5 
therefore prepared a new commercial analysis using the new consumption figures.  He 
then forwarded the updated evaluation to Subject 4 on 7 June 2007.319  The total 
consumption figures dropped from over 32 million litres per year, to just over 21.8 
million litres per year.320  He also drafted an initial financial analysis applying these new 
fuel estimates with the prices submitted by the vendors in response to the BAFO.  

191. The spreadsheet indicated the following new estimates:321 

                                                 
319 Subject 5 email to Subject 4 (7 June 2005). 
320 Attached “Costing Proposal” to Subject 5 email to Subject 4 (7 June 2005). 
321 Subject 1 email to Subject 4 (7 June 2005). 
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Figure: Attached Costing Proposal to Subject 5 email to Subject 4 (7 June 2005) (revised 
fuel estimates) 

192. Under Subject 5’s revised estimates, Dinasa’s overall costs were still higher than 
Total Haiti.  While Dinasa had not charged for mobilization costs, it included a fee for 
UN Managed sites of US$1,209,000.322  Total Haiti charged US$351,000 for 
mobilization costs, plus an additional US$1,080.000 for UN Managed sites, which 
totalled US$1,431,000.323  However, adding Dinasa’s site fee to its costs still amounted to 
US$10,833,885; on the other hand, Total Haiti was priced at US$10,809,934.324   

193. When Subject 5 told Subject 3 that Dinasa was not the lowest, Subject 3 
forcefully responded that he did not want to change vendors because it would be a 
“nightmare.”325 

194. At the same time, Subject 4 experienced a similar response when he raised this 
issue with his own supervisors in Procurement.326  When Subject 4 pointed out that 
Dinasa was not the lowest bidder, Subject 2 commented that “we need to discuss” and 

                                                 
322 See Dinasa BAFO Response to the BAFO, para. L (31 May 2005) and Attached Overall Financial 
Evaluation Chart to Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 2 (6 June 2005).  
323 Total Haiti Response to the BAFO, p. 4 (31 May 2005) and Attached Overall Financial Evaluation Chart 
to Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 2 (6 June 2005). 
324 Attached “Costing Proposal” to Subject 5 email to Subject 4 (7 June 2005).  The total amounts listed 
above were reached by multiplying the new estimated quantities to Dinasa’s new unit prices, and then 
adding in its UN Managed Site fee.  Like, the total amount for Total Haiti was derived by multiplying the 
new estimates to its unit prices, then adding in both the mobilization costs as well as its UN Managed Site 
fee.   
325 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
326 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
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called him into a meeting with Subject 6.327  Subject 6 and Subject 2 instructed Subject 4 
to “do whatever needs to be done to make sure Dinasa is the cheapest.”328  A second 
meeting was later held with Subject 1 in his office, which lasted over an hour.  There, 
they tried to figure out what to do since Dinasa was still not the lowest bidder.329  They 
all agreed to do what they could to make Dinasa the cheapest and have Dinasa win the 
contract.330  After the meeting, Subject 1 told Subject 4, they had “to help Subject 3 on 
this issue.”331  

195. Subject 6 then called a meeting with the Fuel Unit.332  By this point, it was clear 
that Subject 1, Subject 6 and Subject 3 were all aware that Total Haiti was the least 
expensive vendor under the revised estimates.333  

196. At the meeting, Subject 4 explained that Procurement could nonetheless 
recommend Dinasa for the award because it now had the highest technical score, and its 
prices were close enough that it would meet the “best value for money” standard.334  
Subject 6, however, did not want to take any chances of Dinasa losing the award.  He said 
they had to make a “solid case” for selecting Dinasa.335  In order for make sure Dinasa 
won, Subject 6  added, they had to make sure that Dinasa offered the lowest prices.336  

197. Since the prices could not be changed, they came up with alternative solution.  
Subject 3 suggested that since Dinasa had better prices for bulk fuel, they could increase 
the Mission’s consumption of fuel in this area.337  By changing the fuel estimate 
calculations, Dinasa could become the lowest bidder.338   

198. Subject 3 subsequently sat down with Subject 5 and together they adjusted the 
fuel estimate figures until Dinasa became the overall cheapest supplier.339  They then 
came up with new fuel estimates for the BAFO evaluation: 

                                                 
327 Id. 
328 Id 
329 Id. 
330 Id. 
331 Id. 
332 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
333 Id. 
334 Id. 
335 Id. 
336 Id  When asked about the new BAFO evaluation estimates, Subject 6 said Subject 4 had been instructed 
by Subject 1, Subject 2, and possibly himself to use numbers which differed from the original RFP.  
Subject 6  interview (18 May 2007). 
337 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007).  
338 Id. 
339 Id. 
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Figure: Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 2 (6 June 2005) (fuel 
estimates used for BAFO evaluation) 

199. Under the new fuel estimates, now and only now was Dinasa lower than Total 
Haiti: Dinasa’s total cost was US$10,148,320.01 whereas Total Haiti’s total cost at 
US$10,324,609 ($176,289 difference per year).340 

200. Subject 5 then informed Subject 4 that he had the new numbers.341  Subject 4 
collected the newly revised commercial analysis and brought the evaluation to Subject 2 
and Subject 6.342  They reviewed the evaluation and agreed it was fine.343  Dinasa was 
now the lowest priced and highest technically scored vendor.344   

201. Since the contract had not yet been approved by the Committees on Contracts, no 
official award had been given.  Nonetheless, on 10 June 2005, Subject 3 contacted Mr. 
Ronald Jean, the General Director of Dinasa.  He told him that “we hope that DINASA is 
the successful candidate for the long-term contract.345 

                                                 
340 Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 2 (6 June 2005) with attached Overall Financial 
Evaluation Chart. 
341 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
342 Id. 
343 Id. 
344 Id. 
345 Subject 3 email to Ronald Jean (10 June 2005). 
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Figure: Subject 3 email to Ronald Jean (10 June 2005) 

C. THE COVER-UP 
202. Subject 4 drafted the final overall evaluation on behalf of the Tender Evaluation 
Committee.  Although he dated it 6 June 2007, it was not in fact drafted until after he 
received the rigged commercial evaluation.346  He, and the other Tender Committee 
members, signed the official overall evaluation and sent it to Subject 2.347  In sum, the 

                                                 
346 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2005); Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007); and Subject 5 email to Subject 
4 (8 June 2005) (with attached overall evaluation which was dated 6 June 2005). 
347 Tender Evaluation Committee for RFP/05/027/RP memorandum to Subject 2 (dated 6 June 2005). 
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Committee concluded that Dinasa scored the highest technically—98 out of 100 points—
and with its new prices, Dinasa was now “the lowest of the three proposals” being “1% 
lower than Total Haiti.”348  Thus, the Committee recommended that the ground fuel 
contract be awarded to Dinasa for a NTE amount of US $10,148,320.01, plus two 
optional one-year periods, for a total NTE of US$30,859,716.65.349 

203. Subject 2, in order to protect himself and Procurement, asked Subject 3 to “send 
[him] something” for the file.350  Subject 2 sent Subject 3 a request that the Fuel Unit 
determine whether Dinasa or Total Haiti would perform better in light of the fact that the 
two companies now were competitively placed.351  He deliberately misdated the 
document to read as 6 June 2005.352 

204. Subject 3 responded and sent a memorandum recommending Dinasa for the 
award based.  He claimed that Dinasa was “better placed in the market to support 
MINUSTAH’s current and expanding requirements.”353  Subject 3 also misdated his 
memorandum.  Upon receipt, Subject 2 told Subject 4 to place both documents in 
Procurement’s file.354 

D. COMMITTEES ON CONTRACTS 
205. Procurement’s presentation to both the LCC and HCC contained a series of 
misrepresentations in order to conceal the scheme. 

1. Procurement Presentations 
206. Subject 4 began to draft Procurement’s presentation for the Local and 
Headquarters Committees on Contracts, but Subject 6 soon took charge as he had with 
other presentations because of his ability to get cases through the Committees.355  After 
Subject 6  drafted the final version, Subject 2 reviewed the presentation.356   

207. The presentation recommended Dinasa be awarded the contract for ground fuel 
pursuant to Financial Rule 105.15(b), the Qualified Most Responsive Proposal (lowest 
cost).357  Procurement reiterated many of the earlier evaluations.  It explained that the 
initial evaluation found that Dinasa did “not address all of the requirements of the RFP,” 
and failed to present a distribution and mobilization plan which reflected a lack of 

                                                 
348 Id., para. 2.3. 
349 Id. 
350 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
351 Subject 2 memorandum to Subject 3 (7 June 2005). 
352 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
353 Subject 3 and Subject 5 memorandum to Subject 2 (7 June 2005). 
354 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
355 Id. Staff Member 10 interview (21 May 2007) (Subject 6 generally took over other buyers’ files and 
prepared the Committee presentations because of his experience with it.).  Subject 6 admitted to reviewing 
it for accuracy and approving it. Subject 6 interview (18 May 2007). 
356 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
357 Subject 2 memorandum to Chairman of Headquarters Committee on Contracts for LCC Case No. 
MIN/2005/92 (dated 8 June 2005) (HCC Presentation). 
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understanding of the Mission’s requirements.358  Although Dinasa was technically non-
compliant, the Tender Evaluation Committee nevertheless “opined that the proposal from 
Dinasa could reasonably be made acceptable if the company demonstrates mobilization 
details at no additional cost to MINUSTAH, as it did not present the mobilization plan in 
their proposal.”359  As a result, the Mission decided to hold a BAFO.  After the BAFO, 
Dinasa submitted a mobilization plan at no additional cost and was found to be the lowest 
provider.  Consequently, Procurement and Supply Sections reached “a joint conclusion” 
that Dinasa should be awarded the contract.360  

208. The presentation did not explain that the technical team unconditionally found 
Dinasa to be non-compliant and hence, disqualified.  It also did not disclose the fact that 
they held the BAFO solely to enable Dinasa to correct its material omission.  More 
importantly, the presentation did not reveal that both the technical and commercial 
evaluations were rigged in order to make sure Dinasa won the award.  

2. Material Misrepresentations to the LCC 
209. On 15 June 2005, Procurement made its presentation for the award to Dinasa to 
the Local Committee on Contracts.361  Subject 2 and Subject 6 presented the case.362  

210. At the meeting, the LCC asked whether it was appropriate to invite a technically 
non-compliant bidder to participate in a BAFO.  Procurement asserted that it indeed was 
permitted because clarifications, including those involving technical issues, could be an 
element of a BAFO.363  Dinasa initially was deemed non-compliant due to “its failure to 
submit the information on this infrastructure and mobilization plan, however, it was a 
known factor that DINASA’s infrastructure in Haiti is superior to that of its competitors.  
Therefore it was deemed to be in the best interest of the Organization to include DINASA 
in the list for BAFO.”364  

211. Notably, Procurement did not explain that the technical evaluators considered 
Dinasa’s lack of a mobilization plan to be a material omission, not merely a minor 
deficiency.365   

212. The LCC then asked why Procurement simply did not request a clarification 
instead of issuing a BAFO.  In response, Procurement opaquely answered that a “request 
for clarifications as well as clarifications from the Mission were included in the BAFO 

                                                 
358 Technical Evaluation Committee memorandum to Tender Evaluation Committee (18 April 2005) and 
Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 1 (3 May 2005). 
359 HCC Presentation, p. 3. 
360 HCC Presentation, p. 4. 
361 LCC Meeting No. MIN/34/2005 (15 June 2005) (LCC Minutes). 
362 Subject 6 interview (18 May 2007). 
363 LCC Minutes, para. 89. 
364 Id. 
365 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
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document as it was discovered that many bidders had difficulty understanding the 
requirement of the RFP.”366   

213. Procurement did not explain that it had requested clarifications from SkyLink and 
Total Haiti, but not Dinasa because Dinasa had omitted too much critical information for 
it to be considered responsive.   

214. Procurement then claimed that there were three reasons for issuing the BAFO.  
Specifically, it said SkyLink’s prices were excessive, DINASA was missing information, 
and the Mission hoped Total Haiti would lower its prices.367  It did not elaborate that the 
sole purpose was to give Dinasa a second chance to become compliant. 

215. As for pricing, Procurement confirmed that vendors had been told not to increase 
their prices, and in fact “none of the bidders reduced their initial price proposals.”368 
Procurement did not disclose the fact that the Mission told Total Haiti not to change its 
prices, that Dinasa in fact changed its prices, and that the fuel consumption figures were 
manipulated so Dinasa’s prices became the lowest. 

216. Based upon the presentation, the LCC recommended that the ground fuel contract 
be awarded to Dinasa for one year, with option to extend for two additional one-year 
periods, with the estimated value to be NTE $30,859,716.65.369  

3. Material Misrepresentations to the HCC 
217. On 24 June 2005, MINUSTAH submitted the presentation and a copy of the LCC 
Meeting Minutes to Mr. Saunders, Chief of UNPS, for review and presentation to the 
HCC.370 

218. After the HCC received the presentation, it had numerous questions regarding the 
procurement and award, which it sent to the Mission.371  First, the HCC queried as to 
whether it was appropriate for a vendor’s financial proposal to be opened if it did not 
meet the minimum technical threshold.372  Second, it asked whether it was proper 
procedure to invite a technically non-compliant vendor to participate in a BAFO, 
particularly one who “lacked an understanding of the RFP.”373   Third, UNPS asked the 
Mission to reconcile its statement that no vendor lowered prices with the fact that Dinasa 
suddenly became the lowest bidder after the BAFO.374  Fourth, it inquired into the change 
in fuel estimates, and whether the BAFO evaluation figures were different from the initial 

                                                 
366 LCC Minutes, para. 89-90. 
367 Id., para. 91. 
368 Id., para. 94. 
369 Id., para. 99. 
370 Balakrishnan Amirthalingam facsimile to Christian Saunders (24 June 2005).  At that time, the HCC 
was comprised of Frank Eppert (Chair), Jun Hee Lee (Member, OLA), Seou Soumahoro (Alt. Member, 
DESA), and Joao Marcedo (Secretary, HCC).   
371 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
372 Joao Marcedo (HCC Secretary) email to Diana Mills-Aryee, et al., para. 1 (15 July 2005). 
373 Id., para. 2, 6. 
374 Id., para. 5. 
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commercial evaluation.375 Finally, it asked whether the two originally technically 
qualified vendors were in fact treated fairly in the procurement.376 

a. Opening the Financial Proposals 
219. The Procurement Section and Fuel Unit at the Mission worked collectively on the 
answers for the HCC.  In its response, the Mission confirmed that both the financial and 
technical evaluations were opened at the same time on the date of the bid opening.377  
Procurement then referred to a December 2004 correspondence from the then-Chief of 
Procurement Services in UNHQ, who had authorized such a procedure.378   

220. Notably, the Mission did not disclose the fact that Procurement intentionally 
turned over the financial bids to the technical evaluators before they completed their 
evaluation. 

b. Reason for BAFO 
221. The Mission claimed it invited Dinasa to participate in the BAFO “to ensure fair 
competition” and because it was “in the UN’s interest” to do so.379  The Mission opined 
that the “purpose of the BAFO [was] to give a chance to qualified vendors to strengthen 
identified weaknesses in their original proposal.”380  Dinasa has been a qualified 
contractor in the past, and its BAFO proposal demonstrated that they understood the RFP 
and BAFO requirements.381   

222. Similarly, the Mission asserted that SkyLink and Total Haiti were indeed treated 
fairly because all vendors received the same documents for the RFP and the BAFO.  
Moreover, all “vendors who submitted proposals were invited to submit a BAFO” and 
thus “had the chance to reconsider their offer.”382 

c. Price/Fuel Consumption Changes 
223. Finally, the Mission asserted—incorrectly—that “[u]nit Prices did not change.” 
Rather, the Mission changed the estimated quantities of fuel in its analysis.383  When the 
Tender Evaluation Committee evaluated the BAFO responses, it used the figure of 20.4 
million litres per year in consumption, rather than the originally stated 32.4 million litres 
found in the SOW and RFP. 

224. Subject 4 explained that when the SOW was prepared in September 2004, the 
troops were not fully deployed.  The estimated quantities were thus based on a DPKO 

                                                 
375 Natalia Nedel email to Subject 4 (15 July 2005). 
376 Joao Marcedo (HCC Secretary) email to Diana Mills-Aryee, et al., para. 4 (15 July 2005). 
377 Subject 5 email to Ellen Aamodt and Subject 4, para. 1 (18 July 2005). 
378 Id. 
379 Id., para. 2. 
380 Id. 
381 Id. 
382 Id., para. 4. 
383 Id., para. 5. 
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tool, assuming the total number of troops would be deployed.  Under this theory, the 
Mission would have needed approximately 32 million litres of fuel per year.  However, 
the Mission realized in June 2005, after more troops had been deployed, that the 
originally estimated quantities were “excessive” and thus reduced the estimation to 
approximately 20 million litres per year.384 

4. HCC Meeting 
225. On 19 July 2005, the HCC heard the presentation regarding MINUSTAH’s 
procurement of fuel.385  Ms. Natalia Nedel from UNPS attended the meeting.  Subject 6, 
who was in New York at the time, was asked to attend as a representative of 
MINUSTAH.386    

226. At the meeting, Ms. Nedel and Subject 6 answered more questions posed by the 
HCC.  They admitted that it was not the “correct procedure” for technical and financials 
to be opened by TOC at same time.  However, they felt there was no problem here 
because Subject 6 “confirmed that pricing information was not revealed when the 
proposals were opened” and that the technical evaluation was conducted independent of 
financial evaluation.387  Notably, he misrepresented this fact to the HCC.  Subject 6 knew 
Subject 4 had intentionally turned over the financial bids to Subject 3 before his team 
completed a technical evaluation.   

227. As for the BAFO, they claimed that the purpose of the BAFO was to give all 
vendors a chance “to reduce their prices.”388  When asked whether it was appropriate to 
invite a non-compliant vendor to participate in a BAFO, Subject 6 replied that it not 
routinely done, but here it was done on an “exceptional” basis.  When the HCC asked 
what was so “exceptional” in this case, he had no answer.389 

228. With respect to pricing, Total Haiti originally had been the lowest priced supplier.  
After BAFO, however, Dinasa submitted the lowest prices.  Subject 6 confirmed that 
Dinasa had changed its pricing based on the BAFO.390 

229. As for fuel estimates, they told the HCC that the fuel estimates used to evaluate 
the BAFO responses were based on revised quantities.  These new quantities combined 
with Dinasa’s BAFO prices led to “a change in the ranking with Dinasa emerging as the 
lowest proposer.”391  They did not disclose the fact that the numbers used for the BAFO 
evaluation had been manipulated to favour Dinasa. 

                                                 
384 Subject 4 email to Natalia Nedel (15 July 2005). 
385 HCC Meeting Minutes HCC/05/45 (19 July 2005) (HCC Minutes). 
386 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
387 HCC Minutes, para. 17.04. 
388 Id., para. 17.07. 
389 Id., para. 17.11. 
390 Id., para. 17.08. 
391 Id., para. 17.03. 
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5. HCC Findings 
230. After extensive review, the HCC found that the Mission violated several sections 
of the Procurement Manual during this procurement. 

231. First, the proposed fuel contract was valued at approximately NTE US$30 
million, and thus exceeded the Mission’s financial threshold under its Local Procurement 
Authority (LPA).392  Consequently, the Mission should have requested an LPA from 
UNHQ before it engaged in any procurement exercise.393  Subject 6 conceded this had 
not been done and UNPS never granted MINUSTAH the appropriate authority for the 
exercise. 394 

232. Second, the technical and financial proposals were opened simultaneously by the 
Tender Opening Committee, in violation of the Procurement Manual (“irrespective of 
compliance”).395   

233. Third, the HCC found that the procurement process was not conducted in a fair 
manner because the Mission should never have invited a non-compliant vendor to 
participate in the BAFO.  By doing so, the Mission gave Dinasa a “second bite at the 
apple.”396  The Committee noted that Dinasa did not simply fail to submit a distribution 
plan, but that the initial evaluation found other deficiencies as well.  The earlier technical 
evaluation graded Dinasa low due to logistical problems in delivering fuel to areas 
outside Port-au-Prince, discrepancies in reported versus actual deliveries of bulk fuel, and 
its failure to implement an Electronic Data Capturing System.397  

234. The Committee did not accept the Mission’s explanation for the BAFO, an 
exercise it found to be “unnecessary.”  It concluded that the BAFO was “likely issued 
with a view to leaving the present contracting arrangement in place.”398 

235. In light of the deficiencies in the procurement process, and UNPS’ “serious 
reservations about how the procurement had been conducted,” the Committee rejected the 
contract with Dinasa.399 Instead, it recommended that the contract be awarded to Total 
Haiti, the vendor which submitted the lowest, pre-BAFO, qualified submission.400 

236. When Assistant Secretary-General for Central Support Services Andrew Toh 
adopted the HCC minutes (and the award to Total Haiti), he directed the Chair of the 
HCC to draft a letter to the CPO of MINUSTAH.  The letter was to advise the CPO of the 
HCC’s findings, notify him that he was to ensure that the Mission complied with the 

                                                 
392 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
393 Id. 
394 Id. and HCC Minutes, para. 17.05. 
395 HCC Minutes, para. 17.02 and 17.04 and Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007).  See, e.g., 
Procurement Manual Sections 10.8.4 and 11.6.6(5). 
396 HCC Minutes para. 17.12. 
397 Id. 
398 Id., para. 17.13. 
399 Id., para. 17.04, 17.13. 
400 Id. 
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procurement rules, and instructed him that no vendor should be given preferential 
treatment.401 

E. POST-AWARD COMPLICATIONS 
237. After the announcement was made that Total Haiti won the award, Subject 3 
contacted Dinasa.  He wrote “[t]o say that I have a heavy heart is an understatement.  To 
have come so far and to have to commence the process with another company all over 
again is very difficult.  All I can say is thank [] you for all the wonderful work you have 
done and all the support you have given us over the past months.”402 

 

Figure: Subject 3 email to #28 All Fuel Staff (25 August 2005) 

238. Dinasa, however, did not simply acquiesce to losing the contract.  On the 
contrary, on 27 July 2005, Dinasa met with two staff members of OIOS to complain 
about the procurement.403  Dinasa told OIOS that it did not win even though its offer was 

                                                 
401 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
402 Subject 3 email to Carl Boisson, et al. (25 August 2005). 
403 Carl Boisson interview (27 July 2005). 



OIOS PROCUREMENT TASK FORCE 
REPORT ON MINUSTAH GROUND FUEL PROCUREMENT  
STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PAGE 58 

“much more realistic for MINUSTAH.”404  After the meeting, Dinasa filed a formal 
grievance with the Mission.405  Dinasa complained that Total Haiti “won the Ground Fuel 
Contract for MINUSTAH, despite having a higher price than Dinasa.”406   

239. In response, the Mission informed Dinasa that the contract was awarded on the 
Mission’s assessment of best value for money and was in compliance with the Financial 
Rules and Regulations, as well as established procurement procedures.407 

240. After Total Haiti was awarded the contract, the Mission entered into prolonged 
contractual negotiations with the company.408  One of the hotly contested issues was the 
change in fuel consumption figures—an issue both the Fuel Unit and Procurement knew 
about well before the award.  The amount of the award, 20.7 million litres, was far below 
the estimated fuel consumption from the Request for Proposal, 32.4 million litres.409   
Total Haiti viewed the 30% decrease as significant and insisted that its original prices 
were tied to the original volumes.410   

241. Despite extensive meetings and lengthy negotiations, MINSTAH never reached a 
final agreement with Total Haiti.  As a result, since July 2004, the UN has been 
purchasing ground fuel from Dinasa without a long-term written contract in place. 

X. THE TASK FORCE EVALUATION 
A. FAVOURITISM TO DINASA 

1. BAFO Exercise 
242. The BAFO in this case was not conducted in a fair and transparent manner, but 
rather as a means to award Dinasa the contract. 

243. After the initial evaluations, the Mission had two technically compliant vendors 
from which to choose.  Dinasa, as a non-compliant vendor, should not have been invited 
to the BAFO.411 In light of the vast price difference between SkyLink and Total Haiti, a 
BAFO was never even necessary.  As the HCC later concluded, Total Haiti should have 
been awarded the contract after the initial technical and commercial evaluations.  The 
only reason a BAFO was held was to keep Dinasa in the procurement exercise.  

                                                 
404 Id. 
405 Carl-Auguste Boisson letter to Willi Scholl (11 August 2005) and Carl Boisson interview (29 March 
2006). 
406 Carl-Auguste Boisson letter to Willi Scholl (11 August 2005). 
407 Willi Scholl letter to Carl Boisson (16 August 2005). 
408 Subject 1 interview (7 March 2007).  
409 Minutes of Meeting between MINUSTAH and Total Haiti, pp. 1- 2 (14 October 2005). 
410 Total Haiti interview (22 May 2007) and LCC Meeting Minutes, Case No. MIN/014/FY2006, para. 23 
(27 October 2005). 
411 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007).  
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244. Subject 1 and Subject 6 argued that Dinasa’s failure to provide a mobilization 
plan was not so substantial that it should have been considered non-compliant.  Subject 1 
reasoned that Dinasa, as incumbent, may have believed it did not need to provide this 
information because the Mission already had it.412  He believed Dinasa should have been 
asked to clarify this aspect of its proposal.413  Likewise, Subject 6 claimed that Dinasa 
should not have been characterized as non-compliant because the Procurement Manual 
allows for opportunities to correct a deficiency.414 

245. It was clear that Dinasa’s proposal did not merely need to be clarified; it was 
missing important information and did not respond to an essential part of the RFP.415  
Even Subject 1 conceded that Dinasa may not have been asked for clarifications because 
it would be “too huge” and essentially it would be giving Dinasa a second shot to 
respond.416 For this reason, the Technical Evaluation Committee consistently ranked it 
“non-compliant” and did not believe it was appropriate to request a clarification from the 
company.417  Once Dinasa was deemed non-compliant, its financial bid should not have 
been opened and it should have been disqualified from the procurement. The 
Procurement Manual indeed permits “competitive negotiations with a sufficient number 
of qualified proposers that have a reasonable chance for award;” it also allows 
Procurement to point out the “deficiencies in the proposals” and vendors to “revise” their 
proposals.418 The purpose of BAFO, however is to “ensure effective competition.”419   

246. Here, Dinasa did not have a “reasonable chance for award,” nor was the lack of a 
mobilization plan a mere “deficiency.”  More importantly, the Fuel Unit and Procurement 
did not conduct the BAFO to ensure effective competition.  They held it only so Dinasa 
could have a second opportunity to remain in the procurement exercise and continue as 
the Mission’s supplier.420   

247. Despite Subject 1’s claim that the BAFO was “well-intentioned,” the Task Force 
finds that a procurement exercise which failed to be undertaken fairly, and which was 
intentionally conducted to favour one vendor is never in the UN’s best interest.421  As a 

                                                 
412 Subject 1 interview (7 March 2007) and Subject 6 interview (14 May 2007). 
413 Subject 1 interview (7 March 207). 
414 Subject 6 interview (28 March 2006). 
415 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
416 Subject 1 interview (7 March 2007). 
417 Dinasa’s omission “not only represents a lack of understanding of MINUSTAH’s requirements, but 
affects directly the installation of the Contractor Managed Sites which are a substantive requirement of the 
RFP.”  Technical Evaluation Committee memorandum to Tender Evaluation Committee for 
RFP/05/027/PM, para. 2(e) (18 April 2005).  
418 Procurement Manual Section 11.6.8(1)(2). 
419 Procurement Manual Section 11.6.8(1).  The purpose of BAFO is to get the best deal for the UN. Staff 
Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
420 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007) (BAFO conducted to continue Dinasa’s contract) and HCC 
Meeting Minutes, 17.13 (BAFO “likely issued with a view to leaving the present contracting arrangement 
in place”).   
421 Subject 1 interview (30 March 2006).  See also, Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 1 para. 2, p. 6 (20 
May 2005) and Subject 4 email to Balakrishnan Amirthalingam (18 July 2005). 
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result, the procurement lacked fairness, integrity and transparency and therefore was not 
conducted in the best interests of the UN. 422 

2. Manipulation of the Technical and Commercial Evaluations 
248. The Procurement Section and Fuel Unit together colluded to manipulate both the 
technical and commercial evaluations for the BAFO responses in order to make sure 
Dinasa won the contract.  Senior management was involved and in fact directed or at 
least approved of the bid-rigging.  They included the CAS, Subject 1, the OIC of 
Procurement, Subject 2, a  team leader in Procurement, Subject 6, and the Chief of the 
Fuel Unit, Subject 3. 

249. It began with the technical evaluation, which senior procurement officials wanted 
to review before it was issued to make sure the “figures were okay.”423  Since Subject 4 
and Subject 5 had been told Dinasa was to win the contract, they knew Dinasa’s technical 
score had to be the highest.  Accordingly, when the Tender Evaluation Committee 
assessed Dinasa’s response to the BAFO, they increased Dinasa’s score for each 
category, and made sure it was higher than SkyLink’s.  This was no small feat: SkyLink 
had previously been ranked at 97 points, so Dinasa’s score had to jump from 52 points to 
98 points.  The rigged evaluation was then presented to senior managers prior to its 
release for their approval. 

250. Rigging the technical evaluation, however, was not enough.  Since Dinasa’s 
prices were still higher than Total Haiti’s, senior staff members directed and instructed 
their employees, Subject 4 and Subject 5, to “do whatever needs to be done to make sure 
Dinasa is the highest in score.”424  Specifically, Subject 4 and Subject 5 had to make a 
“solid case” for selecting Dinasa so Dinasa’s prices had to be lower.425  

251. Consequently, Subject 3 sat down with Subject 5 and helped him adjust the fuel 
quantities in a way that favoured Dinasa.  Together, they increased the requirement for 
bulk fuel since Dinasa offered lower prices in that category.  By manipulating the fuel 
estimates, they were finally able to make Dinasa the lowest priced vendor.  Once again, 
the new figures were presented to senior staff members for their approval.  

252. As Subject 4 admitted, “[w]e favoured Dinasa, that’s true.”426  Even Subject 1, 
who did not admit to any manipulation, nonetheless conceded that Dinasa should have 
been given “a little bit” of a second shot to correct its proposal despite the deficiencies.427   
He justified this by claiming that since Dinasa was the incumbent, if the UN disqualified 
the company for a failure to provide a mobilization plan, Dinasa would have complained. 
428  

                                                 
422 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
423 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
424 Id. 
425 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
426 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
427 Subject 1 interview (7 March 2007). 
428 Id. 
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3. Possible Release of Confidential Information 
253. The Task Force has uncovered evidence that suggests Dinasa may have been 
provided confidential information during the procurement exercise.  First, the initial 
technical evaluation stated that Dinasa would be technically compliant if it included a 
mobilization plan “at no additional cost.”  Since a technical assessment is completely 
unrelated to costs or pricing, this statement is highly suspect.  The technical evaluation 
should have merely requested that a plan be submitted, irrespective of its cost.   

254. Dinasa confirmed that the Mission told the company to submit a mobilization plan 
in response to the BAFO, and it had to do so without any costs.429  At this time, a 
commercial evaluation had already been completed and everyone was aware that Dinasa 
was not the lowest bidder.  Consequently, the fact that they told Dinasa to submit a plan 
at no cost may have been an attempt to signal to Dinasa to keep its prices down in order 
to bid lower Total Haiti. 

255. A second troubling aspect was that Dinasa increased pricing for one specific 
area.430  While it lowered certain unit prices, Dinasa raised its price in one area: generator 
fuel for Port-au-Prince.  Significantly, this was the category of fuel that the Mission 
dramatically reduced its consumption, from over 16 million litres per year, to just over 2 
million litres.431   Subject 6 later told the Task Force that other vendors decreased prices 
“because the revised quantities changed,” but he did not elaborate as to whether this 
meant Dinasa learned of the revised quantities.432 

256. Dinasa’s price increase raises the question as to whether someone at the Mission 
provided the company with confidential information.  Dinasa denied having any inside 
information regarding the substantial reduction in generator fuel.  Instead, it claimed that 
any increase in prices was a miscalculation by the computer; that the Excel spreadsheet 
rounded up numbers after a certain number of decimal points and as a result, certain 
prices increased slightly. 433 

257. Finally, Dinasa learned that under the final evaluation, Total Haiti was higher than 
Dinasa.  When Dinasa met with staff members of OIOS, it complained that Dinasa did 
not win even though its offer was “much more realistic for MINUSTAH.”434   In its 
formal complaint, Dinasa again referred to the fact that Total Haiti “won the Ground Fuel 
Contract for MINUSTAH, despite having a higher price than Dinasa.”435  When later 
questioned about this, Mr. Carl Boisson, General Manager of Dinasa, denied obtaining 

                                                 
429 Dinasa interview (24 May 2007). 
430 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
431 Cf. Financial Evaluation attached to Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005) with Financial 
Evaluation attached to Tender Evaluation Committee memorandum to Subject 2 (6 June 2005).  One reason 
for this reduction was the procurement of a separate procurement for generator fuel, as discussed later.  See 
infra paragraphs 271 et seq. 
432 Subject 6 interview (28 March 2006). 
433 Dinasa interview (24 May 2007). 
434 Carl Boisson interview (27 July 2005). 
435 Carl-Auguste Boisson letter to Willi Scholl, p. 1 (11 August 2005). 
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this information from a UN staff member.  He defended that Total Haiti told him its 
prices had been more expensive.436   

258. Subject 4 admitted that it was obvious Dinasa had inside information because it 
only increased the price for that one area.437  Indeed, Subject 1, Subject 2 and Subject 6 
all commented to him that there had to be a leak in the Mission.438   

259. Furthermore, during the procurement exercise, certain staff members appeared to 
have a closer than usual relationship with certain employees at Dinasa.  For example, 
Subject 3 stated that he hoped Dinasa would win the contract.439  Similarly, when he later 
learned that Dinasa did not win the long-term contract, he wrote “[t]o say that I have 
heavy heart is an understatement.”440 At the same time, Subject 4 was looking into 
renting a house from Mr. Ronald Jean, a representative of Dinasa.441    

260. The Task Force has been unable to corroborate any disclosure of confidential 
information.  Nonetheless, in light of the way the overall procurement exercise was 
conducted to favour Dinasa, the Task Force has a difficult time believing this was merely 
coincidental.  

261. Similarly, the Task Force has been unable to determine whether the favouritism 
shown to Dinasa was due to criminal conduct or bribery.  Dinasa denied that any UN 
staff member ever solicited a bribe.442  Since the Task Force does not have subpoena 
power, and only one staff member partially complied with the financial disclosure 
request, the Task Force is unable to reach any definitive conclusion. 

B. PROCUREMENT VIOLATIONS 

1. The Tender Opening 
262. Subject 3 should not have been part of the Tender Opening Committee since he 
was both the requisitioner and the Chief of the Fuel Unit, responsible for leading the 
technical evaluation of the proposals.443  His participation therefore violated Procurement 
Manual 10.1.1(3), which prohibits requisitioners from serving on the TOC.444  The 
purpose of this rule is to prevent a technical evaluator from being “influenced by the 
pricing element.”445   

                                                 
436 Carl Boisson interview (29 March 2006). 
437 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
438 Id. 
439 Subject 3 email to Ronald Jean, et al. (10 August 2005). 
440 Subject 3 email to #28 All Fuel Staff, et al., including Dinasa (25 August 2005). 
441 Ronald Jean emails to Subject 4 (2 March 2005); Subject 4 email to Ronald Jean (3 March 2005); and 
Ronald Jean email to Subject 4 (3 March 2005). 
442 Carl Boisson interview (29 March 2006).  
443 Procurement Manual Section 10.1.1(3) and Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007). 
444 Procurement Manual Section 10.1.1 (3).  
445 Christian Saunders email to Task Force (4 June 2007). 
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263. Subject 4 knew Subject 3 was the requisitioner and admitted that he “should never 
have been there.”446  As the Procurement representative, Subject 4 therefore should have 
requested that someone else participate in the bid opening. 

264. Both Subject 1 and Subject 6 would have discovered this violation after seeing 
Subject 3’s signature on the bid opening sheet.447  Neither Subject 1 nor Subject 6 
appears to have taken any steps to determine whether Subject 3 saw the pricing 
information, or investigated any compromise of the procurement exercise.448  

265. Second, the financial proposals should not have been opened before a final 
technical evaluation had been completed and received.  The Tender Opening Committee 
violated Procurement Manual Section 10.8.4 when it opened both sets of proposals at the 
same time absent any “exceptional circumstances.”449  

266. Even if MINUSTAH was following a policy that permitted bids to be opened 
simultaneously, the HCC found that this practice was done irrespective of compliance.  
Further, Subject 1 admitted to the Task Force that the both sets of evaluations should not 
have been opened at the same time.450  

2. Disclosure of Financial Proposals  
267. Subject 3 should not have requested—and Subject 4 should not have provided—
the vendors’ pricing proposals prior to the completion of a technical evaluation.  
Accordingly to Subject 4, Subject 6 explicitly and the CPO (at the time, Subject 1) 
implicitly approved of his actions.451  Regardless of any claim by Subject 3 that he 
needed this information for budgetary purposes, pricing is not supposed to be considered 
when performing a technical evaluation. 

268. The financial proposals should not have been opened with the technical bids 
absent exceptional circumstances.  Moreover, the financial bids especially should not 
have been released to the technical evaluators until a final technical evaluation had been 
completed and received by Procurement.452  Consequently, the disclosure and approval of 
such disclosure violated the Procurement Manual. 

269. First, these individuals violated Section 10.8.4 of the Procurement Manual 
because they did not take the appropriate steps “to ensure the confidentiality of the 
financial details” were not “shared with anyone until the receipt of the technical 

                                                 
446 Subject 4 interviews (30 March 2006, 23 May 2007). 
447 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
448 Id.  
449 Procurement Manual Section 10.8.4 (4) and HCC Meeting Minutes, para. 17.04. 
450 Subject 1 interview (7 March 2007). 
451 As stated earlier, Subject 4 believed Subject 2 was already serving as the OIC of Procurement at this 
time, but Subject 2 had not yet arrived.  See supra paragraph 38.  Since Subject 4 firmly recalled a 
supervisor above Subject 6 and did make a reference to Subject 1, he likely meant Subject 1 in this 
instance. 
452 Staff Member 4 interview (24 May 2007) (recalling that they discussed the prices for each of the three 
ground fuel vendors).  See Procurement Manual Section 10.8.4 (4). 
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evaluation.”453  On the contrary, Procurement actually provided the technical evaluators 
with copies of the financial proposals. 

270. They also violated Section 11.6.2(2) of the Procurement Manual because the 
technical assessment was not “performed without prior knowledge of cost” which 
expressly dictates that “[u]nder no circumstance shall any cost data furnished by the 
Vendors be released to the requisitioner prior to the finalization of the technical 
evaluation.”454 

3. Material Change in the RFP 
271. The Fuel Unit and Procurement discovered during the bidding exercise that the 
fuel estimates had changed dramatically, and yet this information was not disclosed to the 
vendors.  A reduction of fuel by 30% was a material change in the RFP.455  Whenever 
there is a significant change in the requirements, the procurement should be re-bid.456  
Accordingly, the procurement likely should have been terminated and a new one 
commenced.  At the very least, Procurement should have notified the vendors of this 
material change during the BAFO.457 

272. When the original fuel quantities were developed in the fall of 2004, the 
Mission’s troop strength was not fully deployed.  At that time, the troop strength was less 
than 50%.458  However, by the time of the evaluations and subsequent BAFO in May 
2005, troop strength had reached 95% and the Supply Section had been able to provide 
better estimates of actual consumption.459  The Mission therefore needed less fuel in light 
of the new troop strength.460  The new fuel estimates had thus changed significantly and 
they learned that the Fuel Unit had grossly overestimated the consumption figures in the 
RFP.461 

273. Another reason for the delay in determining actual consumption was attributable 
to Dinasa.  Dinasa’s late submission of invoices made it difficult for the Fuel Unit to 
know the actual consumption figures.462  In fact, Dinasa did not start submitting invoices 
on a regular basis until February, March and April 2005.463 

                                                 
453 Procurement Manual Section 10.8.4 (4). 
454 Procurement Manual Section 11.6.2(2).  See also Section 11.6.5(3) (the procurement officer adds the 
price information for an RFP “only after the technical evaluation has been completed”). 
455 Subject 1 interview (30 June and 7 July 2006). 
456 Staff Member 11 interview (21 March 2007).  
457 Subject 2 interview (23 Feb. 2007).  Section 9.11.2(3) of the Procurement Manual clearly states that any 
significant change of information related to the solicitation process prior to Bid Closure shall be appended 
to the official Solicitation Document and shall constitute part of the solicitation process. 
458 Balakrishnan Amirthalingam email to Natalia Nedel (15 December 2005) (attached response, p. 1). 
459 Id. 
460 Id. 
461 Subject 6 interview (28 March 2006). 
462 Subject 3 interview (14 December 2006, 10 January 2007). 
463 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007). 
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274. At the same time, the Engineering Section was in the process of finalizing a new 
contract for generators which would have included the provision of generator fuel—a 
commodity requested in the original ground fuel RFP.464  This contract would have 
drastically reduced the amount of generator fuel needed in Port-au-Prince under the long-
term ground fuel contract.465  As discussed above, this was the one category of fuel in 
which Dinasa raised its prices. 

275. Accordingly, the Fuel Unit knew about the decrease in consumption as early as 
April 2005.466  By this point, they knew actual consumption was approximately 30% less 
than anticipated.467  Such a large decrease constituted a material change to the SOW 
which vendors would want to know.468  However, the Fuel Unit did not update this 
information in the BAFO. 

276. Similarly, even after Procurement learned the fuel estimates were much lower 
than originally stated in the RFP, it did not disclose this information in the BAFO.469  
Subject 6 later claimed that the “major reason for the BAFO” was the change in fuel 
estimates, a fact the Fuel Unit orally informed Procurement about “several weeks” before 
it was issued.470  He added that Subject 1 or Subject 2 told him about the new numbers.471  
Yet Procurement took no steps to inform vendors of this “major reason.”  As a result, the 
vendors purportedly were not given an opportunity to bid on the new fuel estimates.   

277. Subject 4 discussed this issue with Subject 6 and Subject 2, who decided that they 
could not mention the fuel reductions in the BAFO.472  Pursuant to the Procurement 
Manual, a BAFO could not materially change the SOW; a BAFO only allowed a vendor 
to lower its prices, reduce warranties, or provide other benefits to the UN.473  If 
Procurement had substantially changed the fuel consumptions, it would not have been 
able to issue the BAFO.474  Such a material change to the RFP would have required a re-
bidding of the procurement.  Subject 1 insisted, and the others agreed, that a re-bid was 
out of the question.475  They claimed that the Mission simply did not have time to 
recommence a lengthy bidding exercise.476  

278. Nevertheless, two years have passed since Total Haiti was awarded the contract, 
and yet no contract has been executed between the parties.  The failure of the parties to 
successfully negotiate the terms of the contract was due, in good part, to the material 

                                                 
464 Id. 
465 Id. 
466 Id. 
467 Id. 
468 Id. 
469 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007) and Subject 6 interview (18 May 2007). 
470 Subject 6 interview (7 February 2007). 
471 Id. 
472 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
473 See Procurement Manual Section 11.6.8 (6). 
474 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
475 Subject 6 interview, (18 May 2007). 
476 Staff Member 11 interview, (21 March 2007). 
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change to the RFP with the substantial reduction in fuel.477  Consequently, perhaps re-
bidding may have been the prudent course of action. 

C. MATERIAL MISREPRESENTATIONS TO TASK FORCE 

1. Subject 1 
279. Subject 1 was interviewed on 30 March 2006, 30 June 2006, 7 July 2006 and 7 
March 2007.  He also was given an opportunity to review additional documents collected 
by the Task Force, which he did on 25 June and 28 June 2007.  His Response is attached 
as Annex G. 

280. Subject 1 claimed he was not involved in the technical evaluation of the bids, 
which had been done by a committee.478  When advised by investigators that it appeared 
the technical evaluation team indeed had pricing information, Subject 1 replied that he 
disagreed.479  He never disclosed to the Task Force that he learned Subject 4 had in fact 
provided the financial bids to Subject 3. 

281. He also opined that the Technical Evaluation Committee should not have 
disqualified Dinasa, but rather stated that it did not have enough information to assess the 
bid.480  He believed Dinasa should have been given an opportunity to better its technical 
offer.481  He characterized his staff’s handling of this as “well intentioned.”482 

282. Subject 1 did not disclose the fact that the BAFO was designed to keep Dinasa in 
the procurement, by essentially allowing it to have another chance to re-submit a 
proposal, so it could win the contract.  On the contrary, when investigators asked whether 
it was fair to invite a non-compliant vendor to participate in the BAFO, he claimed the 
process was indeed fair since the other vendors were also invited to participate.483 

283. As for favouritism, Subject 1 admitted some degree of special treatment because 
Dinasa was the incumbent.  He commented that if Dinasa had not been the current 
contractor, this would not have been an issue.484  Procurement knew it was giving Dinasa 
another bite at the apple (as the HCC commented), which is why it did this in such a 
“roundabout way.”485  His “guys cut corners a little” by holding the BAFO, and giving 
“Dinasa an opportunity to say [it had] no mobilization costs.”486  Further, he believed 

                                                 
477 Balakrishnan Amirthalingam email to Subject 1 (20 December 2005) (“fundamental reason why Total 
had asked for the change in the contract duration is because of the substantial reduction in the quantities of 
fuel from the one stated in the RFP document”) and Minutes from Meetings between MINUSTAH and 
Total Haiti (14 October, 22 October 2005). 
478 Subject 1 interview (30 June, 7 July 2006). 
479 Subject 1 interview (7 March 2007). 
480 Subject 1 interview (30 March 2006). 
481 Id. 
482 Id. 
483 Subject 1 interview (7 March 2007). 
484 Id. 
485 Id 
486 Id. 
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they should have said “we understand we’re pushing the envelope but it’s the 
incumbent.”487  However, he denied Dinasa was favoured and pointed to the fact that it 
was initially ranked technically non-compliant.488 

284. Subject 1 was given the opportunity to admit his participation in the manipulation 
of the technical evaluation, with Dinasa purposefully being ranked higher than the other 
two vendors.  He also had the opportunity to tell investigators about the manipulation of 
the commercial evaluation.  When the Task Force asked about the BAFO fuel estimates, 
he firmly denied knowing how Dinasa’s costs suddenly became 1% lower than Total’s 
after the BAFO.489  He intentionally and purposefully did not disclose his knowledge of 
the rigged evaluations.     

2. Subject 2 
285. Subject 2 was interviewed on 23 February 2007 and 1 June 2007.  He had been 
sent numerous documents prior to the interviews and was given the opportunity to review 
further material collected by the Task Force.  Subject 2 also was invited to come to New 
York for a final interview in June 2007, but declined the Task Force’s offer.  Attached as 
Annex A is his Response to the Task Force’s letter notifying him of its proposed findings. 

286. Subject 2 claimed that, since he was only placed at the Mission temporarily, he 
was not informed of the details of the procurement exercise, which was planned by 
Subject 6 and Subject 4.490  He added that they primarily consulted Subject 1 on this 
exercise.491  He denied participating in any meetings regarding the procurement or 
evaluation of the fuel contract, nor was he informed about the discussions from those 
meetings.492 

287. With respect to the BAFO, he purported that he did not know whose idea it was to 
invite Dinasa.  He said he did not believe Dinasa had been “wholly disqualified,” but that 
it could become compliant if it provided certain clarifications.493  Accordingly, he felt 
that a BAFO was a legitimate way to obtain such information.494  He did not disclose the 
fact that the BAFO was designed to keep Dinasa in the procurement, so it could win the 
contract.  

288. Subject 2 was given the opportunity to admit his participation in the manipulation 
of the technical evaluation, with Dinasa purposefully being ranked higher than the other 
two vendors.  He also had the opportunity to tell investigators about the manipulation of 
the commercial evaluation and why new fuel estimates were used.  He failed to disclose 
any such information.  Instead, he said he was not aware of any problems or inaccuracies 
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488 Id. 
489 Id. 
490 Subject 2 interview (23 February 2007). 
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that took place in the evaluation of the financial bids submitted by Total Haiti and 
Dinasa.495  He claimed he never discussed the procurement with Subject 1, and had no 
idea whether Subject 1 checked the evaluations or numbers.496 

289. With regard to the Committee Presentation, Subject 2 said he “briefly” read it and 
that he did not ask any questions of the case officer.497  He claimed that he knew it had 
been extensively discussed and if there was a misrepresentation in the presentation, he 
expected the requisitioner to point it out.498  He later claimed his staff did not properly 
keep him informed.499 

290. Finally, Subject 2 denied meeting with any vendor during the procurement 
exercise, and said he had no reason to suspect that any staff member took any action to 
favour Dinasa.500  Even when the Task Force informed Subject 2 that it was aware of the 
scheme to favour Dinasa, he continued to deny seeing documents and claimed he could 
not recall meeting with the Fuel Unit about the procurement. 501  He intimated that he 
may have “gone along” with or observed, but did not “consciously” “participate” in any 
scheme to favour a vendor.502  He then concluded that he felt “victimized” and 
maintained that he was not aware of what was going on.503 

3. Subject 6 
291. Subject 6 was interviewed on 28 March 2006, 7 February 2007 and 14 May 2007.  
Subject 6 chose not to review and sign his records of conversations because OIOS’s 
policy prevented the Task Force from providing his with a copy of it.504  However, on 22 
June 2007, Subject 6’s legal counsel reviewed the Task Force’s notes from Subject 6’s 
last interview, as well as additional material collected during the investigation.  During 
his last interview, Subject 6 vehemently described the Task Force’s investigation into this 
matter as a “witch hunt” and “fishing expedition.”505 Attached as Annex B is his 
Response to the Task Force’s letter notifying him of its proposed findings. 

292. The Task Force asked Subject 6 whether or not the technical evaluation team saw 
pricing information before it completed its report.  He said he had “no idea” how they 
received the pricing information.506  The Task Force also asked, based on his experience 
at MINUSTAH and the HCC, whether he had ever seen another case where a technically 
non-compliant vendor had its pricing information opened.  Subject 6 responded that he 
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saw this happen “quite often” at MINUSTAH and at UNHQ.507  He had “no problem” 
with opening a commercial bid for a non-compliant company.508 

293. Subject 6 believed that Dinasa should not have been considered “technically non-
compliant,” because the Procurement Manual provided an opportunity for a vendor to 
correct its deficiency.509  He criticized the Committee (the “stupidity” of the team calling 
Dinasa non-compliant) and said its technical evaluation was “biased and invalid.”510   

294. Subject 6 claimed the decision to hold the BAFO was a “collective decision” 
taken by the Supply Section and Procurement.511  From Procurement, this included 
Subject 6,,Subject 2 and Subject 1.512  He did not agree with investigators that the BAFO 
was designed to help Dinasa remain in procurement exercise and win.513   Yet he 
conceded that he, along with Subject 1 and Subject 2, supported the BAFO to “correct 
Dinasa’s bid.”514   

295. Subject 6 did not accurately explain the purpose of the BAFO.  In fact, he 
provided contradicting reasons for the exercise.  In the Procurement presentation to the 
Committees on Contracts, he claimed the reason for the BAFO was threefold, which 
included SkyLink’s excessive costs, Total Haiti’s prices and Dinasa’s missing 
mobilization plan.  However, during an interview with the Task Force, he later asserted 
that the major reason for the BAFO was the change in the estimated fuel 
consumptions.515 

296. Subject 6 also defended that Subject 4 drafted the BAFO and denied drafting this 
section on mobilization.  He said he simply approved the document, along with Subject 2 
and Subject 1.516  He claimed to have no idea why material information about the reduced 
fuel consumption was omitted.  He also said it was the Fuel Unit’s responsibility to offer 
such updates.517   

297. Subject 6 never disclosed his conversation with Mr. Yakovlev, and that the 
purpose of the BAFO was to favour Dinasa by preventing it from being disqualified.  He 
also denied having any knowledge that the Fuel Unit met with the vendors to discuss the 
proposed BAFO exercise.518 
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about the competence of UN staff members in general, including senior staff.  Subject 6 interview (18 May 
2007). 
511 Subject 6 interview (28 March 2006). 
512 Subject 6 interview (7 February 2007). 
513 Id. 
514 Subject 6 interview (18 May 2007). 
515 Subject 6 interview (7 February 2007). 
516 Id.  Cf. Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007) (Subject 6’s idea and language for mobilization requirement 
for the vendors to see). 
517 Subject 6 interview (7 February 2007). 
518 Subject 6 interview (14 May 2007). 
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298. Subject 6 was given the opportunity to admit his participation in the manipulation 
of the technical evaluation, with Dinasa purposefully being ranked higher than the other 
two vendors.  He also had the chance to admit his participation in the manipulation of the 
commercial evaluation and explain why they used new fuel consumption numbers for the 
financial assessment.  He intentionally and purposefully did not disclose his knowledge 
as to where these numbers came from, or the reason behind the new estimates. 

299. Instead, even when presented with evidence that Total Haiti had been lower than 
Dinasa at every stage of the procurement prior to the final evaluation, Subject 6 refused 
to comment and just said he would consider the matter and respond later.519  He later 
claimed it was Subject 4 who changed the quantities for the commercial evaluation 
following the BAFO.520  He added that Procurement was unable to change the fuel 
quantities, which would have been done by the Supply Section.  Subject 1 and “senior 
management” decided to use the new estimates for the BAFO evaluation.521  Further, he 
did not disclose the reason for the new numbers was to lower Dinasa’s total costs, but 
instead claimed that these were the correct fuel consumption figures.522  He also denied 
ever seeing Subject 5’s 7 June 2007 email to Subject 4 with the attached fuel 
consumption figures (under which Total Haiti was lower than Dinasa).523  When asked 
why new estimates were used in the final BAFO financial evaluation, Subject 6 merely 
defended that the consumption figures were “changing by the hour” and it was 
impossible for everyone to know what happened.524 

300. While Subject 6 made some statements demonstrating an underlying favouritism, 
he flatly denied any improper conduct to favour Dinasa.  For example, he commented 
that “no one wanted SkyLink” and the Fuel Unit did not want Total Haiti because it did 
not have facilities in certain locations.525  He admitted that they wanted Dinasa because it 
already had existing stations that the UN could use.  Conversely, if Total Haiti won the 
award, the Mission would have to rely on the vendor to build gas stations.526 

301. When asked about Subject 2’s memorandum to the Fuel Unit asking which 
vendor it preferred, Subject 6 did not disclose the fact that this document was written to 
conceal the scheme.  Instead, he claimed it was drafted in response to security issues and 
which vendor would be better able to import fuel into Haiti.527 

302. Moreover, Subject 6 may have attempted to obstruct the investigation.  After he 
was interviewed by the Task Force—in which he adamantly denied any wrongdoing—he 

                                                 
519 Subject 6 interview (7 February 2007). 
520 Subject 6 interview (18 May 2007).  
521 Id. (admits Subject 4 had been instructed by Subject 1, Subject 2, and possibly himself to use the new 
numbers).  Id. 
522 Id. 
523 Id 
524 Id. 
525 Id. (14 May 2007). 
526 Id. (18 May 2007). 
527 Id. 
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contacted Subject 4 in Haiti and told him to call him right away.528  When Subject 4 
spoke to him, Subject 6 told Subject 4 that the Task Force was going to ask him questions 
regarding the bid opening and the fact that the financial evaluations were given to the 
technical team (before they completed the evaluation).529  Subject 6 reminded Subject 4 
that “you know what to say.”  Subject 6 then asked Subject 4 to call him once he finished 
his interview with the Task Force.530 

303. Finally, Subject 6 testified in a criminal trial at which he made several denials 
under oath which appear to constitute perjury.  On 4 June 2007, Subject 6 testified in a 
United States federal court for the Southern District of New York at the criminal trial of 
Mr. Sanjaya Bahel.  Mr Bahel, a former Section Chief at UNPS, had been charged with 
accepting valuable New York City real estate in exchange for assisting a vendor in 
obtaining valuable UN contracts. 

304. During Subject 6’s testimony, on behalf of Mr. Bahel, the Prosecution asked him 
if he had ever shown favouritism to a particular vendor.  Subject 6 testified that he had 
not. The Prosecution then asked whether he had ever asked a subordinate to adjust a 
rating for a particular vendor; he again denied this.  When asked whether he had ever 
done anything to assist Dinasa, he once again denied this.  In light of Subject 6’s active 
participation in rigging both the technical and commercial evaluation, and his 
encouragement and direction to Subject 4 and others, Subject 6 did not appear to testify 
truthfully and honestly at the trial.  Accordingly, his material misstatements under oath 
appear to violate the U.S. criminal code.531  His testimony is attached as Annex F. 

4. Subject 3 
305. Subject 3 was interviewed on 14 December 2006 and 10 January 2007.  Subject 3 
was invited to come to New York for a final interview in June 2007, but declined the 
Task Force’s offer.  He was, however, able to review additional material collected by the 
Task Force at its office on 21 and 22 June 2007.   

306. Although Subject 3 admitted he participated in the financial evaluation, he claims 
he did not recall using new fuel estimates.532  He also said he could not recall why they 
used these new figures for the BAFO commercial evaluation.533  He believed these 
numbers were generated by Subject 5, Mr. Albert Munipi or Ms. Freweini Elias and then 
someone in the Fuel Unit forwarded them to Procurement on his or her own initiative. 534   

307. Subject 3 was given the opportunity to admit his participation in the manipulation 
of the technical evaluation, with Dinasa purposefully being ranked higher than the other 
two vendors.  Similarly, he had the chance to disclose the rigging of the commercial 

                                                 
528 Subject 6 email to Subject 4 (21 May 2007). 
529 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
530 Id. 
531 See Title 18 U.S.C. § 1621. 
532 Id., para. 39. 
533 Id., para. 36. 
534 Id., para. 36, 38. 
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evaluation and explain why they used new fuel consumption numbers for the financial 
assessment.  He had an opportunity to explain how he directed and helped Subject 5 
change the fuel numbers so Dinasa became the lowest bidder.  He intentionally and 
purposefully did not disclose his knowledge of where these numbers came from, or the 
reason behind the new estimates.535 

5. Subject 4 
308. Subject 4 was interviewed on 30 March 2006, 23 May 2007 and 24 May 2007.  
Subject 4 chose not to review his May 2007 record of conversation because OIOS policy 
prevented the Task Force from providing him with a copy.  He nevertheless reviewed the 
Task Force’s notes from the interview on 18 June 2007.  Attached as Annex C is his 
Response to the Task Force’s letter notifying him of its proposed findings. 

309. Subject 4 initially was not forthcoming with the Task Force and did not disclose 
the scheme or his role.  At his second interview, after being presented with evidence of 
the manipulation, he finally cooperated with the Task Force and confirmed this 
information.  However, after – and only after – he received the Task Force’s letter with 
its proposed findings, he recanted much of his statements and accused investigators of 
being unprofessional and coercive, as explained in his Response.   

310. For example, Subject 4 initially asserted that he never spoke to his colleagues 
regarding the decision to offer a BAFO.536  He later admitted that he had, and the 
decision for the BAFO was a mutual one, taken by Subject 6 and Subject 2, in 
consultation with Subject 1, who said it was the best way to go.537  Likewise, Subject 4 
initially denied meeting with Total Haiti and Dinasa to discuss their responses for the 
BAFO.538  After being shown Subject 5’s email referring to such a meeting, he conceded 
that he did in fact meet with a vendor during this time.539 

311. Similarly, he initially claimed that he did not know about the change in fuel 
quantities and simply relied on the Supply Section.540   It was not until his last interview, 
after being presented with several drafts of the technical and commercial evaluations, 
where he finally disclosed to investigators that the sole purpose of BAFO was to keep 

                                                 
535 In addition, Subject 3 was not fully forthcoming about when his Unit learned of the change in fuel 
consumptions.  He admitted that the initial fuel estimates, which he said had been calculated by UNHQ, 
were inaccurate and off by 30%.  Id., para. 31.  However, he claimed that it was not until June or July 2005 
that he realized MINUSTAH was using a lot less fuel than projected.  Id., para. 33.  He is directly 
contradicted by Subject 5 and Subject 6, both of whom confirmed they knew before this date—possibly as 
early as April—about the new fuel estimates.  Subject 6 interview (14 May 2007) (fuel reductions well 
known in Mission as early as initial technical evaluation) and Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007) (new fuel 
numbers known in April or May). 
536 Subject 4 interview (30 March 2006). 
537 Id.  
538 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
539 Id 
540 Subject 4 interview (30 March 2006). 
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Dinasa in the exercise, and that both the technical and commercial evaluations were 
rigged to ensure that Dinasa won the award.541 

D. THE ROLE OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT 
312. Another troubling aspect of this procurement was the conduct of supervisors and 
senior managers regarding influence over junior staff members.  From drafting 
documents, to requiring approval of evaluations before they were completed, senior 
management placed a great deal of pressure upon their employees, and therefore hold the 
most responsibility. 

313. Subject 6 would “impose himself on other colleagues” and he “liked pushing in 
and taking over,” he had developed a lot of “unexpected power” in Procurement.542  He 
did not seem to “know the limitations” or appropriate conduct of a procurement 
officer.543  When another staff member pointed out there were ethics that procurement 
officers had to follow, he responded that “yes, but sometimes” one has to “push to get 
things done.”544   

314. Interestingly, although Subject 6 liked to take over cases, he rarely took official 
responsibility for the file.545  For example, Subject 6 helped Subject 4 draft the overall 
evaluation for the procurement of ground fuel, and creatively came up with language to 
permit Dinasa to remain in the exercise, however, the memorandum still went out under 
Subject 4’s name.546  He also gave Subject 4 the language for the mobilization section in 
the BAFO, which had been written for Dinasa’s benefit.  He also told Subject 4 to 
highlight the section in bold.547 

315. Similarly, Subject 3 was “forceful,” he physically banged the desk and insisted 
that he did not want to change fuel vendors because “he was the one who would have to 
live with it.”548   Subject 5, who had only just arrived a few months before, felt extreme 
pressure to comply with his supervisor’s demands.549  In fact, Subject 3 sat at the 
computer with Subject 5 and directed how the fuel estimates should be changed to make 
Dinasa the lowest bidder. 

316. The fact that the CAS (Subject 1) and Officer-in-Charge of Procurement (Subject 
2) were involved was equally troubling.  Since the direction and approval was coming 

                                                 
541 See supra paragraphs 183 et seq. 
542 Staff Member 2 interview (23 May 2007). 
543 Id 
544 Id. 
545 Id 
546 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007).  See e.g., Subject 4 memorandum to Subject 2 (20 May 2005). 
547 Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007). 
548 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007).  
549 Subject 5 interview (22 May 2007) and Subject 5 interview (29 May 2007) (he was manipulated by 
Subject 3 as Subject 4 had been by Subject 6). 
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from such senior representatives, staff felt both that they could not refuse to follow these 
instructions, and that their actions were in fact sanctioned.550 

XI. BRIBERY ALLEGATIONS 
A. TOTAL HAITI’S COMPLAINT 

317. On 6 June 2005, OIOS received a complaint that Subject 4 attempted to solicit a 
bribe from Total Haiti.551  In response, OIOS investigated the matter, which included 
interviews by the Task Force.  Notably, the complaint was filed before the procurement 
exercise had been completed. 

318. In May 2005, Subject 4 called a Total Haiti representative, Mr. Wilclair Clerger.  
Mr. Clerger was in charge of the company’s commercial accounts.  Subject 4 told him he 
wanted to stop by to see him at the office on his way home from work.552   

319. Once there, he told Mr. Clerger that Total Haiti’s proposal was well-presented, 
but the company still needed to address the remote locations where fuel would be 
delivered.553  According to Mr. Clerger, Subject 4 then informed him that MINUSTAH 
was considering sending Total Haiti a letter of intent based on its proposal; however, with 
a contract this size, Mr. Clerger “might have to give something to some people."554  Mr. 
Clerger was not told who these “some people” were.  Mr. Clerger recalled a 10% figure, 
possibly linked to equipment prices being mentioned.555  Mr. Clerger said he understood 
this to be a request for kickbacks. 556  Mr. Clerger then told Subject 4 that he would 
discuss the matter with the General Manager. 557 

320. The next day, Mr. Clerger told the General Manager, Mr. Alexandre Kislanski.  
Mr. Kislanski knew such conduct was illegal and therefore asked Mr. Clerger to set up a 
second meeting with Subject 4.558  A few days later, Subject 4 visited Total Haiti; again, 
he was alone.559   

321. This time, Mr. Kislanski said he confronted Subject 4 directly and asked why he 
wanted to help Total Haiti.  Subject 4 did not make any statements alluding to kickbacks 
in this meeting.560  Instead, Subject 4 told him that the way the first contract had been 
handled was “outrageous” and that “this shouldn’t be done” because it was “not 

                                                 
550 Subject 5 interview (29 May 2007); Subject 4 interview (23 May 2007); Subject 2 interview (23 
February 2007). 
551 OIOS Case No. 299/05 (received 6 June 2005). 
552 Total Haiti interview (22 May 2007) and Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
553 Total Haiti interview (22 May 2007). 
554 Id. 
555 Id. 
556 Id. 
557 Id. 
558 Id. 
559 Id. 
560 Id. 
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normal.”561  Mr. Kislanski interpreted Subject 4’s comments to mean that a competitor, 
Dinasa, had been bribing a staff member in the Mission.562  Mr. Kislanski said Subject 4 
never asked him directly for money, but his behaviour implied it.563  Subject 4 then added 
that he had taken “a risk coming” to Total Haiti’s offices.564  

322. Shortly thereafter, on 11 May 2005, Mr. Kislanski contacted a UN staff member 
and asked for guidance on this matter, which he found very troubling.565  He was then 
directed to OIOS and officially reported the matter.566  He told OIOS that his employee, 
Mr. Clerger, relayed information suggesting that Subject 4 solicited a bribe from Total 
Haiti.567  

B. SUBJECT 4 DEFENCE 
323. Subject 4 conceded that he visited Total Haiti on two occasions, without another 
UN representative with him.568  However, he vehemently denied soliciting any kickback 
or requesting a bribe.569 

324. When Subject 4 was initially interviewed by the Task Force, he told investigators 
that he never met with Mr. Clerger alone; he only went to Total Haiti once, and met with 
Mr. Clerger and Mr. Kislanski together.570  Subject 4 maintained this version when he 
met with Task Force investigators again.571  Only after investigators reminded Subject 4 
of his duty to be truthful, informing him that they had uncovered evidence of two 
separate visits, Subject 4 relented and confirmed he did attend two separate meetings at 
Total Haiti.  

325. Subject 4 explained that on the first occasion, he went to Total Haiti’s offices to 
meet with Mr. Clerger alone.572  He confirmed that he called Mr. Clerger on the 
telephone and told him he would be stopping by Total Haiti’s offices on his way home.573 
He said they discussed some of the difficulties in Total Haiti’s proposals, such as fuel 
delivery to remote locations.  Subject 4 denied telling Total Haiti that it was probably 
going to win the contract.  On the contrary, Subject 4 claimed it was Mr. Clerger who 
made this statement. 574 

                                                 
561 Id. 
562 Id.; Alexandre Kislanski interviews (25 July 2005) and (29 March 2006). 
563 Alexandre Kislanski interview (29 March 2006). 
564 Total Haiti interview (22 May 2007) 
565 Staff Member 1 interview (25 May 2005). 
566 OIOS Case No. 299/05 (received 6 June 2005). 
567 Alexandre Kislanski interview (25 July 2005). 
568 Subject 4 interview (24 May 2007). 
569 Subject 4 interview (30 March 2006). 
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326. Subject 4 also confirmed that he attended a second meeting at Total Haiti, which 
had been arranged when Mr. Clerger called him and asked him to stop by the office.575  
Subject 4 told investigators that he had informed Subject 6 of this visit and that he stayed 
for almost one hour.576  This time, Subject 4 met with both Mr. Kislanski and Mr. Clerger 
in Mr. Kislanski’s office.577 

327. Subject 4 claimed he went to see Mr. Kislanski “to explain the bidding document 
because he didn’t understand it well.”578  There, he answered questions regarding the 
change in delivery locations in the procurement exercise and the mobilization aspect of 
the proposal.579  Subject 4 said he did not recall Mr. Kislanski asking Subject 4 why he 
wanted to help the company.  Similarly, Subject 4 did not recall describing the situation 
as unfair to Total Haiti, or suggesting that Dinasa had been bribing someone in 
Procurement.580  In his view, Mr. Kislanski must have simply “misunderstood” him.581 

C. TASK FORCE EVALUATION 
328. The Task Force found a number of circumstances noteworthy.  In light of this 
evidence, it appears Subject 4 indeed attempted to solicit a bribe from Total Haiti. 

329. First, Subject 4 confirmed much of Mr. Clerger’s and Mr. Kislanski’s statements.  
Subject 4 eventually and reluctantly admitted that he did make two separate visits to 
Total Haiti, one of which was with Mr. Clerger, and the second with both gentlemen.  He 
conceded he was alone, and did not have another representative from the Mission.  He 
also admitted discussing the procurement exercise.  

330. Subject 4’s independent visit to a vendor, in the middle of a procurement exercise 
was not the most prudent course of action.  While staff may visit vendors, ideally, he or 
she should be accompanied by another staff member, and should obtain written direction 
from a supervisor authorizing the visit.582  The preferred course would be to have vendors 
attend meetings at the Mission’s offices instead. 583 

331. Second, Subject 4 initially misrepresented information to the Task Force.  He 
initially denied meeting with Mr. Clerger alone, and maintained that it was a joint 
meeting with Mr. Kislanski.  Only after investigators presented him with evidence did he 
admit the earlier meeting.  If he had done nothing wrong, there would have been no 
reason or motive for him to hide this information from investigators. 
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332. Third, Mr. Kislanski quickly reported the alleged bribery attempt.  He told 
investigators that he knew bribery was illegal in France and felt troubled that this would 
take place with a UN staff member.   

333. Fourth, there is no obvious reason for Total Haiti to have filed such a compliant, 
further supporting its accuracy.  Mr. Kislanski had no incentive or motive to fabricate this 
story.  On the contrary, by making such allegations, he actually risked jeopardizing his 
and Total Haiti’s working relationship with the Mission.  He, and Total Haiti, received no 
material benefit, financial or otherwise, by coming forward and notifying OIOS of what 
transpired. 

334. Fifth, Subject 4’s subsequent conduct demonstrated a consciousness of guilt.  
After the Task Force interviewed Subject 4 in May 2007, he called Mr. Clerger to 
complain.  Notably, the Task Force had cautioned Subject 4 not to discuss this case with 
anyone involved since the investigation was still pending.  Subject 4 nevertheless told 
Mr. Clerger that he had put Subject 4 in an “awkward situation,” which he did not 
“appreciate.”584 

335. Finally, this alleged incident took place during a procurement exercise fraught 
with manipulation.  The allegation was that Dinasa had been bribing a UN employee, a 
company that was unfairly awarded the short-term contract.  Subject 4’s purported 
solicitation of a kickback from Total Haiti was unsuccessful.  Significantly, Total Haiti 
was not initially awarded the long-term contract, but Dinasa was. 

XII. THE TASK FORCE FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS 
A.  SHORT-TERM PROCUREMENT EXERCISE 

336. The Task Force finds that short-term procurement for ground fuel in MINUSTAH 
was fraught with irregularity and the failure to adhere to proper procedure.  The issues 
began at the Tender Opening when both the financial and technical proposals were 
opened simultaneously in violation of the Procurement Manual.   

337. At the request of UNHQ’s Fuel Unit, clarifications were requested from Total 
Haiti, Dinasa and Texaco, before they could all be considered fully compliant.  After 
receipt of these clarifications, however, no final technical evaluation was completed.  
Such an evaluation would have shown that all three of these vendors became technically 
compliant after providing the requested information.   

338. When Mr. Yakovlev performed the commercial evaluation, which consisted 
solely of an email to the Chief of UNPS, Mr. Saunders, he stated that only two vendors 
were deemed to be technically compliant.  This misstatement was facilitated by the lack 
of a final technical evaluation.  In addition, it appears that Mr. Yakovlev used bulk fuel 
pricing as the basis for his award.  In that category, the company he recommended, 
Dinasa, did not offer the lowest prices; rather, Total Haiti did.  The situation was further 

                                                 
584 Wilclair Clerger interview (11 June 2007). 
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complicated by the fact that the case files at UNPS and MINUSTAH did not contain 
crucial documents, namely a final technical evaluation, a commercial evaluation or an 
overall evaluation matrix. 

339. These facts render the entire evaluation process far from transparent.  
Responsibility for this failure, and for the fact that the lowest, technically compliant 
vendor was not selected, must be shared by UNHQ Fuel Unit, for failing to complete a 
final technical evaluation, UNPS for conducting a faulty commercial evaluation, and 
ultimately, by MINUSTAH Procurement, who was responsible for the overall 
procurement exercise. 

B. LONG-TERM PROCUREMENT EXERCISE 

1. Subject 1 
340. During this procurement exercise, Subject 1 served both as Chief, Administrative 
Services, as well as Chief Procurement Officer until he was replaced in May 2005.  As 
such, he oversaw the procurement exercise for the long-term ground fuel contract.  The 
Task Force finds that Subject 1 knowingly and purposefully colluded with others to steer 
the technical and commercial evaluations to favour a specific vendor, Dinasa.  This was 
accomplished through an intentional effort by the evaluators, at the direction of 
supervisors, Subject 1, Subject 2, Subject 6, and Subject 3, to inflate Dinasa’s score and 
rate the company’s proposal just slightly better than SkyLink, the vendor who previously 
had been given the highest score.  Dinasa was intentionally given a score of 98 in order to 
exceed SkyLink, which had been given a score of 97.  The evaluators then made sure that 
Dinasa’s financial bid was commercially more viable than the other competitors, and this 
manufactured result was accomplished through the alteration and manipulation of the fuel 
estimate requirements.  The requirements were manipulated just enough to cause 
Dinasa’s prices to be lowest.  

341. As a result of the bid-rigging scheme, the integrity of procurement exercise was 
severely compromised, and the process wholly lacked fairness, objectivity, and 
transparency. 

342. Subject 1 engaged in the following actions in furtherance of the scheme: 

• as CPO, Subject 1 failed to object to the improper participation of a requisitioner in 
the tendering opening, yet made no objection despite the fact that he was aware of 
this circumstance from his review of the bidding sheet;  

• when the Tender Opening Committee improperly opened both the financial and 
technical evaluations simultaneously Subject 1 failed to object to this procedure, or 
take any steps to investigate whether the exercise had been conducted properly; 

• after Subject 1 learned that a Procurement Assistant under his supervision improperly 
provided the pricing information to the Technical Evaluation Committee prior to the 
completion of the technical evaluation, he failed to take any steps to investigate 
whether the exercise had been compromised, or otherwise object to this action; 
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• after discovering that Dinasa had been found to be non-compliant, Subject 1 attended 
and participated in a series of meetings between Fuel and Procurement in which they 
discussed a strategy to keep Dinasa alive in the procurement exercise; 

• Subject 1 approved a memorandum which manipulated the language of the initial 
technical evaluation and changed Dinasa from “non-compliant” to a vendor that 
“could reasonably be made acceptable” if it provided certain information; 

• Subject 1 agreed to allow Dinasa a second opportunity to correct its proposal and 
submit missing information regarding a mobilization plan, even though the company 
had been disqualified from the procurement exercise; 

• Subject 1 recommended and approved that a BAFO be held solely to help a non-
compliant vendor, Dinasa, which impermissibly allowed the company a second 
opportunity to correct its proposal; 

• Subject 1 provided the template to help Procurement draft the BAFO; 

• Subject 1 approved the use of the BAFO which included a mobilization section that 
was written and highlighted specifically to assist Dinasa; 

• Subject 1 approved the BAFO which misrepresented to vendors that the Statement of 
Works had not changed, despite knowing that the fuel estimates indeed had changed 
dramatically; 

• Subject 1 attended and participated in a meeting with Dinasa during the procurement 
exercise at which the company had been told to submit a mobilization plan at no cost 
to the Mission in its BAFO response; 

• Subject 1 improperly participated in discussions as to how the vendors would be 
technically evaluated; 

• Subject 1’s subordinates instructed the technical evaluation team to reveal to them the 
proposed evaluation prior to the release of the evaluation in order to confirm that the 
figures were acceptable and at a level to ensure the intended result, an effort Subject 1 
knew, or should have known.  As a result of this effort, the technical evaluation team 
intentionally increased Dinasa’s score so the company offered the leading proposal 
and was positioned to win the contract; 

• after learning that Dinasa was not the lowest bidder, Subject 1 held meetings and 
participated in discussions with others to reach a strategy to ensure that Dinasa won 
the award; 

• Subject 1 colluded with staff members in the Fuel Unit and Procurement Section to 
take steps to ensure that Dinasa became the lowest bidder; 

• Subject 1 colluded with others to establish Dinasa as the lowest bidder in order for the 
company to win the award; 

• Subject 1 was aware that the commercial evaluation was also altered in order to 
favour Dinasa and that the proposals were not fairly evaluated; 
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• during this time, as the most senior member involved, Subject 1’s participation gave 
the appearance that he approved of the actions that took place during the exercise, and 
thereby sent a message to his subordinates to participate in this scheme; 

• Subject 1 was not truthful with investigators when questioned about this procurement 
exercise and made material misrepresentations, specifically that he participated in a 
scheme to favour Dinasa through the rigging of the final financial and technical 
evaluations, which he intentionally did not disclose to the Task Force and indeed 
denied any improper favouritism. 

343. Based on the foregoing, Subject 1 breached Regulation 1.2(b) of the Staff 
Regulations of the United Nations because he failed to “uphold the highest standards of 
. . . integrity” when he failed to be to impartial, fair, honest and truthful during this 
procurement exercise.   

344. Subject 1 breached Regulation 1.2(g) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations when he used his “office or knowledge gained from [his] official functions for 
private gain, financial or otherwise, or for the private gain of any third party, including. . . 
those he favor[ed],” specifically, Dinasa.  

345. Subject 1 breached Regulation 1.2(r) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he failed to “respond fully to requests for information from” the Task 
Force in its investigation into the possible misuse of funds, waste or abuse. 

346. Subject 1 breached Regulation 1.3(a) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he did not “uphold the highest standards of . . . integrity in the discharge 
of [his] functions” during this procurement exercise. 

347. Subject 1 breached Rule 101.2 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the 
United Nations because he intentionally did not “comply with the Financial Regulations 
and Rules and with administrative instructions issued in connection with those 
Regulations and Rules” during this procurement exercise, and therefore should “be held 
personally accountable and financially liable for his . . . actions.” 

348. Subject 1 breached Regulation 5.12(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules 
of the United Nations because this procurement exercise was purposefully not 
conducted in a fair manner, with “integrity and transparency.”  

349. Subject 1 breached Rule 105.15(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules of 
the United Nations because the recommended award to Dinasa was not “awarded to the 
qualified proposer whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most responsive to 
the requirements set forth in the solicitation documents.” 

350. Subject 1 breached Section 10.1.1(3)  of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual when, as Chief Procurement Officer, knew or should have known that the 
requisitioner, Subject 3, improperly served on the Tender Opening Committee. 

351. Subject 1 breached Sections 10.8.4(4) and 11.6.6(5) of the United Nations 
Procurement Manual when, as Chief Procurement Officer, knew or should have known 
that both the technical and financial proposals were opened simultaneously.   
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352. Subject 1 breached Section 11.1(1)(b) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the “procurement process [was not] fair, objective and transparent,” nor 
did the process “give due consideration to” the general principles of “[f]airness, integrity 
and transparency.”  

353. Subject 1 breached Section 11.1(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the selection process was not “objective and . . . conducted in accordance with 
the above principles.” 

354. Subject 1 breached Section 11.3(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated based on “objective, 
non-discretionary” criteria or with an “ objective analysis” in accordance with the RFP 
and the Procurement Manual. 

355. Subject 1 breached Section 11.6.1(1) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the selection process was not “open and transparent,” and the evaluation 
of the proposals was not “fair, reasonable and objective.” 

356. Subject 1 breached Section 11.6.1(3) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the recommended award to Dinasa was not to “the qualified proposer 
whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most responsive to the requirements set 
forth” in the RFP.  

357. Subject 1 breached Section 11.6.2(2) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical evaluation was not “performed without prior knowledge of 
cost” and the financial proposals had been released to the Technical Evaluation 
Committee prior to the finalization of a technical evaluation. 

358. Subject 1 breached Section 11.6.7(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated “in a 
manner that [was] consistent and fair to all prospective Vendors.”  

359. Subject 1 breached Section 12.1.4(d) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual, because he failed to ensure “that the procurement action [was] undertaken in 
accordance with the FRR, established procurement practices and procedures, and 
applicable SGBs and AIs.” 

2. Subject 2 
360. In May through June 2005, Subject 2 served as Officer-in-Charge of the 
Procurement Section.  The Task Force finds that during the long-term ground fuel 
procurement exercise, Subject 2 colluded with others to steer the technical and 
commercial evaluations to favour a specific vendor, Dinasa.  This effort was 
accomplished through the participation of the evaluators, who, at the direction of their 
supervisors, rated Dinasa’s proposal 1% higher than SkyLink, the previously highest 
scoring vendor.  Dinasa was intentionally given a score of 98 in order to exceed SkyLink, 
which had been given a score of 97.  The evaluators also made sure that Dinasa’s 
financial bid was commercially superior to the other competitors, which was 
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accomplished by altering and manipulating the fuel estimate requirements until Dinasa 
offered the lowest prices. 

361. As a result of the bid-rigging scheme, the procurement exercise was not 
conducted in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations, nor was it undertaken 
in a fair and transparent manner.   

362. Specifically, Subject 2 was responsible for the following actions: 

• he received a conflicting evaluation that ranked Dinasa as technically non-compliant, 
and yet recommended allowing it a second chance to correct its proposal; 

• he held and attended a series of meetings between Fuel and Procurement in which 
they discussed how to keep Dinasa in the procurement exercise; 

• he approved a memorandum which manipulated the language of the initial technical 
evaluation, which changed Dinasa from “non-compliant” to one that “could 
reasonably be made acceptable” if it provided certain information; 

• he agreed to give Dinasa a second chance to correct its proposal and submit missing 
information regarding a mobilization plan, even though it had been disqualified from 
the procurement exercise; 

• he approved that a BAFO be held solely to help a non-compliant vendor, Dinasa, 
which gave it a second opportunity to correct its proposal; 

• he approved a BAFO, which contained a mobilization section that had been written 
and highlighted specifically to assist Dinasa; 

• he approved the BAFO, which misrepresented to vendors that the Statement of Works 
had not changed, despite knowing that the fuel estimates indeed had changed 
dramatically; 

• his staff attended a meeting with Dinasa during the procurement exercise at which the 
company had been told to submit a mobilization plan at no cost to the Mission in its 
BAFO response; 

• he attended a meeting with Total Haiti during the procurement exercise, at which the 
company had been told not to change its prices, thus reducing Total Haiti’s chance to 
offer more competitive prices; 

• he participated in discussions as to how the vendors would be technically evaluated; 

• he instructed the Tender Evaluation Committee to reveal to him the final technical 
evaluation prior to its release in order that he could ensure that the figures reflected 
the desired result;  

• as a result, the technical evaluation team intentionally increased Dinasa’s score so it 
became the most qualified vendor in order for it to win the contract; 

• he approved the final technical evaluation which had not been fairly conducted and 
which was intentionally manipulated to favour Dinasa; 
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• after learning that Dinasa was not the lowest bidder, he held meetings and 
participated in discussions with others to discuss a strategy to ensure that Dinasa 
could win the award; 

• he agreed with staff members in the Fuel and Procurement to take whatever steps 
were necessary in order for Dinasa to become the lowest bidder; 

• he agreed with others to make Dinasa the lowest bidder so it could win the award; 

• he thus knew that the commercial evaluation was eventually rigged to favour Dinasa 
and that the proposals were not fairly evaluated; 

• he intentionally misdated a document, which ostensibly asked the requisitioner to 
recommend the most qualified vendor, even though he knew the procurement had 
been manipulated to favour Dinasa, in order to conceal the scheme; 

• he provided and/or approved of misrepresentations regarding the procurement 
exercise to the LCC and HCC; 

• during this time, as a senior member involved, his participation gave the appearance 
of approving and/or condoning the actions that took place during the exercise, thereby 
sending a message to his staff to participate in this scheme; 

• he was not truthful with investigators when questioned about the procurement 
exercise and made material misrepresentations, specifically that he participated in a 
scheme to favour Dinasa through the rigging of the final financial and technical 
evaluations, which he intentionally did not disclose to the Task Force and indeed 
denied any improper favouritism. 

363. Based on the foregoing, Subject 2 breached Regulation 1.2(b) of the Staff 
Regulations of the United Nations because he failed to “uphold the highest standards of 
… integrity” when he failed to be to impartial, fair, honest and truthful during this 
procurement exercise.  

364. Subject 2 breached Regulation 1.2(g) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations when he used his “office or knowledge gained from [his] official functions for 
private gain, financial or otherwise, or for the private gain of any third party, including . . 
. those he favor[ed],” specifically, Dinasa.  

365. Subject 2 breached Regulation 1.2(r) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he failed to “respond fully to requests for information from” the Task 
Force in its investigation into the possible misuse of funds, waste or abuse. 

366. Subject 2 breached Regulation 1.3(a) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he did not “uphold the highest standards of. . . integrity in the discharge 
of [his] functions” during this procurement exercise. 

367. Subject 2 breached Rule 101.2 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the 
United Nations because he intentionally did not “comply with the Financial Regulations 
and Rules and with administrative instructions issued in connection with those 
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Regulations and Rules” during this procurement exercise, and therefore should “be held 
personally accountable and financially liable for his . . . actions.” 

368. Subject 2 breached Regulation 5.12(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules 
of the United Nations because this procurement exercise was purposefully not 
conducted in a fair manner, with “integrity and transparency.” 

369. Subject 2 breached Rule 105.15(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules of 
the United Nations because the recommended award to Dinasa was not initially 
“awarded to the qualified proposer whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most 
responsive to the requirements set forth in the solicitation documents.” 

370. Subject 2 breached Section 11.1(1)(b) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the “procurement process [was not] fair, objective and transparent,” nor 
did the process “give due consideration to” the general principles of “[f]airness, integrity 
and transparency.”  

371. Subject 2 breached Section 11.1(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the selection process was not “objective and . . . conducted in accordance with 
the above principles.” 

372. Subject 2 breached Section 11.3(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated based on “objective, 
non-discretionary” criteria or with an “ objective analysis” in accordance with the RFP 
and the Procurement Manual. 

373. Subject 2 breached Section 11.6.1(1) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the selection process was not “open and transparent,” and the evaluation 
of the proposals was not “fair, reasonable and objective.”  

374. Subject 2 breached Section 11.6.1(3) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the recommended award to Dinasa was not to “the qualified proposer 
whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most responsive to the requirements set 
forth” in the RFP.  

375. Subject 2 breached Section 11.6.7(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated “in a 
manner that [was] consistent and fair to all prospective Vendors.”  

376. Subject 2 breached Section 12.1.3(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because he submitted a presentation to the LCC and HCC which was not 
factually accurate. 

377. Subject 2 breached Sections 12.1.4(a)(d) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual, because he submitted an inaccurate presentation to the LCC and HCC and he 
failed to ensure “that the procurement action [was] undertaken in accordance with the 
FRR, established procurement practices and procedures, and applicable SGBs and AIs.” 
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3. Subject 6 
378. As a team leader in Procurement, Subject 6 was a supervisor for the procurement 
exercise for the long term fuel contract.  The Task Force finds that during the long-term 
ground fuel procurement exercise, Subject 6 colluded with others to steer the technical 
and commercial evaluations to favour a specific vendor, Dinasa.  This was done when the 
evaluators, at the direction of their supervisors, rated Dinasa’s proposal 1% higher than 
SkyLink, the previously highest scoring vendor.  Dinasa was intentionally given a score 
of 98, to be higher than SkyLink’s score of 97.  The evaluators also made sure that 
Dinasa’s financial bid was commercially superior to the other competitors, which was 
accomplished by altering and manipulating the fuel estimate requirements until Dinasa’s 
prices were the lowest. 

379. As a result of the bid-rigging scheme, the procurement exercise was not 
conducted in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations, nor was it undertaken 
in a fair and transparent manner. 

380. Specifically, Subject 6 was responsible for the following actions: 

• he approved a Procurement Assistant’s improper disclosure of pricing information to 
the Technical Evaluation Committee prior its completion of a technical evaluation; 
and did not object to the fact that the exercise had been compromised 

• he received a conflicting evaluation that ranked Dinasa as technically non-compliant, 
and yet recommended allowing it a second chance to correct its proposal; 

• after discovering that Dinasa had been found to be non-compliant, he attended and 
participated in a series of meetings between Fuel and Procurement in which they 
discussed how to keep Dinasa in the procurement exercise; 

• he drafted a section of the initial overall evaluation which changed Dinasa from “non-
compliant” to one that “could reasonably be made acceptable” if it provided certain 
information, in order to justify its continued participation in the procurement; 

• he agreed to give Dinasa a second chance to correct its proposal and submit missing 
information regarding a mobilization plan, even though it had been disqualified from 
the procurement exercise; 

• he contacted Mr. Yakovlev in New York to find a way to keep Dinasa in the 
competition; 

• he approved proceeding with a BAFO that was held solely to help a non-compliant 
vendor, Dinasa, and which gave it a second opportunity to correct its proposal; 

• he intentionally added the mobilization section to the BAFO, which he then had 
highlighted, specifically to assist Dinasa; 

• he approved the BAFO, which misrepresented to vendors that the Statement of Works 
had not changed, despite knowing that the fuel estimates indeed had changed 
dramatically; 
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• he attended a meeting with Dinasa during the procurement exercise at which the 
company had been told to submit a mobilization plan at no cost to the Mission in its 
BAFO response; 

• he attended a meeting with Total Haiti during the procurement exercise, at which the 
company had been told not to change its prices, thus reducing Total Haiti’s chance to 
offer more competitive prices; 

• he participated in discussions as to how the vendors would be technically evaluated; 

• he instructed the technical evaluation team to show him the proposed evaluation prior 
to its release so he could make sure the “figures were okay;”  

• as a result, the technical evaluation team intentionally increased Dinasa’s score so it 
became the most qualified vendor in order for it to win the contract; 

• he approved the final technical evaluation which had not been fairly conducted and 
which was rigged to favour Dinasa; 

• after learning that Dinasa was not the lowest bidder, he participated in meetings with 
others to figure out how Dinasa could win the award; 

• he agreed with staff members in the Fuel and Procurement Section to do whatever 
was necessary in order for Dinasa to become the lowest bidder; 

• he instructed staff to make Dinasa the lowest bidder so it could win the award; 

• he thus knew that the commercial evaluation was eventually rigged to favour Dinasa 
and that the proposals were not fairly evaluated; 

• he provided and/or approved of misrepresentations regarding the procurement 
exercise to the LCC and HCC; 

• during this time, as a supervisor, his participation gave the appearance of approving 
and/or condoning the actions that took place during the exercise, and implicitly, if not 
explicitly, placed pressure upon his employees to participate in this scheme; 

• he was not truthful with investigators when questioned about the procurement 
exercise and made material misrepresentations, specifically that he participated in a 
scheme to favour Dinasa through the rigging of the final financial and technical 
evaluations, which he intentionally did not disclose to the Task Force and indeed 
denied any improper favouritism; 

• and finally, Subject 6 falsely testified under oath in a U.S. criminal trial in which he 
denied favouring Dinasa, and denied having a rating system adjusted to favour a 
vendor. 

381. Based on the foregoing, Subject 6 breached Regulation 1.2(b) of the Staff 
Regulations of the United Nations because he failed to “uphold the highest standards of 
. . . integrity” when he failed to be to impartial, fair, honest and truthful during this 
procurement exercise.  Moreover, not only does his allegedly perjured testimony 
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constitute a criminal offence, such an action also discredits and dishonours the United 
Nations.  Intentionally submitting false testimony in a criminal trial can hardly be 
considered acting with integrity, truthfully and honestly.  

382. Subject 6 breached Regulation 1.2(g) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations when he used his “office or knowledge gained from [his] official functions for 
private gain, financial or otherwise, or for the private gain of any third party, including. . . 
those he favor[ed],” specifically, Dinasa.  

383. Subject 6 breached Regulation 1.2(r) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he failed to “respond fully to requests for information from” the Task 
Force in its investigation into the possible misuse of funds, waste or abuse. 

384. Subject 6 breached Regulation 1.3(a) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he failed to “uphold the highest standards of . . . integrity in the 
discharge of [his] functions” during this procurement exercise. 

385. Subject 6 breached Rule 101.2 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the 
United Nations because he intentionally did not “comply with the Financial Regulations 
and Rules and with administrative instructions issued in connection with those 
Regulations and Rules” during this procurement exercise, and therefore should “be held 
personally accountable and financially liable for his . . . actions.” 

386. Subject 6 breached Regulation 5.12(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules 
of the United Nations because this procurement exercise was purposefully not 
conducted in a fair manner, with “integrity and transparency.” 

387. Subject 6 breached Rule 105.15(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules of 
the United Nations because the recommended award to Dinasa was not initially 
“awarded to the qualified proposer whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most 
responsive to the requirements set forth in the solicitation documents.” 

388. Subject 6 breached Section 11.1(1)(b) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the “procurement process [was not] fair, objective and transparent,” nor 
did the process “give due consideration to” the general principles of “[f]airness, integrity 
and transparency.”  

389. Subject 6 breached Section 11.1(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the selection process was not “objective and . . . conducted in accordance with 
the above principles.” 

390. Subject 6 breached Section 11.3(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated based on “objective, 
non-discretionary” criteria or with an “ objective analysis” in accordance with the RFP 
and the Procurement Manual. 

391. Subject 6 breached Section 11.6.1(1) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the selection process was not “open and transparent,” and the evaluation 
of the received proposals was not “fair, reasonable and objective.”  
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392. Subject 6 breached Section 11.6.1(3) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the recommended award to Dinasa was not to “the qualified proposer 
whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most responsive to the requirements set 
forth” in the RFP.  

393. Subject 6 breached Section 11.6.2(2) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical evaluation was not “performed without prior knowledge of 
cost” and the financial proposals had been released to the Technical Evaluation 
Committee prior to the finalization of a technical evaluation. 

394. Subject 6 breached Section 11.6.7(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated “in a 
manner that [was] consistent and fair to all prospective Vendors.”  

395. Subject 6 breached Section 12.1.3(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because he submitted a presentation to the LCC and HCC which was factually 
inaccurate. 

396. Subject 6 breached Sections 12.1.4(a)(d) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual, because he submitted an inaccurate presentation to the LCC and HCC, and he 
failed to ensure “that the procurement action [was] undertaken in accordance with the 
FRR, established procurement practices and procedures, and applicable SGBs and AIs.” 

397. Finally, Subject 6 committed perjury in violation of Title 18 United States Code 
Section 1623 while a witness, under oath, in the criminal trial in the matter of United 
States v. Sanjaya Bahel when he testified that he did not steer the fuel contract to Dinasa. 

4. Subject 3 
398. Subject 3 was Chief of the Fuel Unit and a member of both the Technical and 
Tender Evaluation Committees.  He therefore was responsible for performing the 
technical and overall evaluations for this procurement.   

399. During the long-term ground fuel procurement exercise, Subject 3 colluded with 
others to steer the technical and commercial evaluations to favour a specific vendor, 
Dinasa.  He did so by making sure Dinasa was the highest qualified vendor, which was 
accomplished by rating its proposal 1% higher than SkyLink, the previously highest 
scoring vendor.  Dinasa was intentionally given a score of 98 so that it was higher than 
SkyLink’s scored of 97.  Subject 3 also made sure that Dinasa’s financial bid was 
commercially superior to the other competitors, which was accomplished by altering and 
manipulating the fuel estimate requirements until Dinasa’s prices were the lowest. 

400. As a result of the bid-rigging scheme, the procurement exercise was not 
conducted in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations, nor was it undertaken 
in a fair and transparent manner.  

401. Specifically, Subject 3 was responsible for the following actions: 

• he improperly asked for, received, and then distributed vendors’ pricing information 
prior to the completion of a technical evaluation; 
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• he initially agreed that Dinasa’s proposal was non-compliant and lacked an 
understanding of the RFP; 

• he initially agreed not to request any clarifications from Dinasa because it failed to 
respond to a material element in the proposal, and therefore was non-compliant; 

• after several drafts of the initial technical evaluation, he suddenly decided that Dinasa 
merely forgot to include this information, and should therefore be given another 
chance; 

• he repeatedly told staff members in the Fuel Unit and Procurement Section that he 
wanted Dinasa to win the contract; 

• he told his employees that he did not want Total Haiti to win the award because he 
did not want to switch vendors; 

• he subsequently drafted language in an evaluation that changed Dinasa from being 
non-compliant to one that could reasonable be made acceptable in order to keep 
Dinasa in the procurement; 

• he held and attended a series of meetings between Fuel and Procurement in which 
they discussed how to keep Dinasa in the procurement exercise; 

• he agreed to give Dinasa a second chance to correct its proposal and submit missing 
information regarding a mobilization plan, even though it had been disqualified from 
the procurement exercise; 

• he knew or should have known as the Chief of the Unit (and author of the original 
SOW) that the BAFO misrepresented to vendors that the Statement of Works had not 
changed, despite the fact that the fuel estimates had changed dramatically; 

• he attended a meeting with Dinasa during the procurement exercise at which the 
company had been told to submit a mobilization plan at no cost to the Mission in its 
BAFO response; 

• he attended a meeting with Total Haiti during the procurement exercise, at which the 
company had been told not to change its prices, thus reducing Total Haiti’s chance to 
offer more competitive prices; 

• as Chair of the technical evaluation team, he intentionally increased Dinasa’s score so 
it became the most qualified vendor in order for it to win the contract; 

• he knew the final technical evaluation had not been fairly conducted since it was 
rigged to favour Dinasa; 

• after learning that Dinasa was not the lowest bidder, he attended meetings and 
participated in discussions with others to figure out how Dinasa could win the award; 

• he agreed with others to make Dinasa the lowest bidder so it could win the award; 
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• he suggested that the Fuel Unit manipulate the fuel estimates (by increasing the 
Mission’s demand for bulk fuel, where Dinasa offered lower prices) in order for 
Dinasa to become the lowest bidder; 

• he physically sat with and assisted one of his employees to change the fuel estimates 
for the commercial evaluation in order to accomplish this; 

• he therefore rigged the commercial evaluation to favour Dinasa and he thus knew that 
the proposals were not fairly evaluated; 

• he intentionally misdated a document recommending Dinasa as the most qualified 
vendor, even though he knew the procurement had been manipulated to favour  the 
company; 

• during this time, as a supervisor, his participation gave the appearance of approving 
and/or condoning the actions that took place during the exercise, and implicitly, if not 
explicitly, placed pressure upon his employees to participate in this scheme; 

• and he was not truthful with investigators when questioned about the procurement 
exercise and made material misrepresentations, specifically that he participated in a 
scheme to favour Dinasa through the rigging of the final financial and technical 
evaluations, which he intentionally did not disclose to the Task Force and indeed 
denied any improper favouritism. 

402. Based on the foregoing, Subject 3 breached Regulation 1.2(b) of the Staff 
Regulations of the United Nations because he failed to “uphold the highest standards of 
. . . integrity” when he failed to be to impartial, fair, honest and truthful during this 
procurement exercise.  

403. Subject 3 breached Regulation 1.2(r) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he failed to “respond fully to requests for information from” the Task 
Force in its investigation into the possible misuse of funds, waste or abuse. 

404. Subject 3 breached Regulation 1.3(a) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he did not “uphold the highest standards of . . . integrity in the discharge 
of [his] functions” during this procurement exercise. 

405. Subject 3 breached Rule 101.2 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the 
United Nations because he intentionally did not “comply with the Financial Regulations 
and Rules and with administrative instructions issued in connection with those 
Regulations and Rules” during this procurement exercise, and therefore should “be held 
personally accountable and financially liable for his . . . actions.” 

406. Subject 3 breached Regulation 5.12(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules 
of the United Nations because this procurement exercise was purposefully not 
conducted in a fair manner, with “integrity and transparency.” 

407. Subject 3 breached Rule 105.15(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules of 
the United Nations because the recommended award to Dinasa was not initially 
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“awarded to the qualified proposer whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most 
responsive to the requirements set forth in the solicitation documents.” 

408. Subject 3 breached Section 11.1(1)(b) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the “procurement process [was not] fair, objective and transparent,” nor 
did the process “give due consideration to” the general principles of “[f]airness, integrity 
and transparency.”  

409. Subject 3 breached Section 11.1(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the selection process was not “objective and  . . . conducted in accordance with 
the above principles.” 

410. Subject 3 breached Section 11.3(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated based on “objective, 
non-discretionary” criteria or with an “ objective analysis” in accordance with the RFP 
and the Procurement Manual. 

411. Subject 3 breached Section 11.6.1(1) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the selection process was not “open and transparent,” and the evaluation 
of the proposals was not “fair, reasonable and objective.”  

412. Subject 3 breached Section 11.6.1(3) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the recommended award to Dinasa was not to “the qualified proposer 
whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most responsive to the requirements set 
forth” in the RFP.  

413. Subject 3 breached Section 11.6.2(2) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical evaluation was not “performed without prior knowledge of 
cost” and the financial proposals had been released to the Technical Evaluation 
Committee prior to the finalization of a technical evaluation. 

414. Subject 3 breached Section 11.6.7(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated “in a 
manner that [was] consistent and fair to all prospective Vendors.”  

5. Subject 4 
415. As a Procurement Assistant, Subject 4 was the case officer for the procurement, 
as well as a member of the Tender Evaluation Committee.  During this time, he was 
primarily supervised by Subject 6, Subject 2 and Subject 1.  During the long-term ground 
fuel procurement exercise, Subject 4 colluded with others to steer the technical and 
commercial evaluations to favour a specific vendor, Dinasa.  Subject 6 participated in this 
effort by ensuring that Dinasa was the highest qualified vendor, which was accomplished 
by rating its proposal 1% higher than SkyLink, the previously highest scoring vendor.  
Dinasa was intentionally given a score of 98 in order to exceed SkyLink’s score of 97.  
Subject 4 was also a member of the Tender Evaluation Committee which improved 
Dinasa’s financial bid until it was commercially superior to the other competitors by 
altering and manipulating the fuel estimate requirements until Dinasa’s prices were the 
lowest. 
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416. As a result of the bid-rigging scheme, the procurement exercise was not 
conducted in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations, nor was it undertaken 
in a fair and transparent manner.   

417. Furthermore, Subject 4 attempted to bribe one of the vendors, Total Haiti, during 
this procurement. 

418. Specifically, Subject 4 was responsible for the following actions: 

• as the Procurement representative, he knew that the requisitioner improperly 
participated in the tender opening, yet made no objection;  

• he knew the Tender Opening Committee improperly opened both the financial and 
technical evaluations simultaneously, and yet did not object or take any steps to 
investigate whether the exercise had been compromised; 

• he improperly disclosed pricing information to the Technical Evaluation Committee 
prior its completion of a technical evaluation; 

• he initially agreed that Dinasa’s proposal was non-compliant and lacked an 
understanding of the RFP; 

• he initially agreed not to request any clarifications from Dinasa because it failed to 
respond to a material element in the proposal, and therefore was non-compliant; 

• as part of the Tender Evaluation Committee, he agreed to allow Dinasa to remain in 
the competition if the company demonstrated “mobilization details at no additional 
cost,” even though the company had been rated technically non compliant;  

• he drafted the overall evaluation which contained both the decision and 
recommendation to allow a technically non compliant vendor to remain in the bidding 
process;   

• after reporting to his supervisors that Dinasa had been found to be non-compliant, he 
attended and participated in a series of meetings between Fuel and Procurement in 
which they discussed how to keep Dinasa in the procurement exercise; 

• with the help of Subject 6, he drafted a memorandum which changed Dinasa from 
“non-compliant” to one that “could reasonably be made acceptable” if it provided 
certain information, in order to justify its continued participation in the procurement; 

• he agreed to give Dinasa a second chance to correct its proposal and submit missing 
information regarding a mobilization plan, even though it had been disqualified from 
the procurement exercise; 

• he agreed to proceed with a BAFO that was held solely to help a non-compliant 
vendor, Dinasa, and which gave it a second opportunity to correct its proposal; 

• with the help of Subject 6, he drafted the BAFO which intentionally highlighted the 
mobilization section to assist Dinasa; 
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• he drafted the BAFO which misrepresented to vendors that the Statement of Works 
had not changed, despite knowing that the fuel estimates indeed had changed 
dramatically; 

• he attended a meeting with Total Haiti during the procurement exercise, at which the 
company had been told not to change its prices, thus reducing Total Haiti’s chance to 
offer more competitive prices; 

• he agreed to show the proposed technical evaluation to his supervisors prior to its 
release so they could make sure the “figures were okay;”  

• as part of the evaluation team, he agreed to intentionally increase Dinasa’s score so it 
became the most qualified vendor in order for it to win the contract; 

• he participated in a final technical evaluation which had not been fairly conducted 
and which was steered to favour Dinasa; 

• after learning that Dinasa was not the lowest bidder, he notified his supervisors; 

• he then participated in meetings with others for the purpose of determining how 
Dinasa could win the award; 

• he agreed with staff members in the Fuel and Procurement Section to do whatever 
was necessary in order for Dinasa to become the lowest bidder; 

• he agreed with others to make Dinasa the lowest bidder so it could win the award; 

• he knew the fuel estimates were being manipulated so Dinasa would become the 
lowest bidder; 

• he thus knew that the commercial evaluation was eventually rigged to favour Dinasa 
and that the proposals were not fairly evaluated; 

• he drafted the final overall evaluation which concluded that Dinasa scored the highest 
technically and, with its new prices, was “the lowest of the three proposals” and “1% 
lower than Total Haiti;”  

 
• he deliberately misdated the final evaluation document to disguise that it was drafted 

after the rigged commercial evaluation;  

• he provided and/or approved of misrepresentations regarding the procurement 
exercise to the LCC and HCC; 

• during this procurement exercise, he met with representatives from Total Haiti and 
attempted to a solicit bribe in exchange for assistance with the award; and 

• he was not consistently truthful with investigators when questioned about the 
procurement exercise and made material misrepresentations, specifically that he 
participated in a scheme to favour Dinasa through the rigging of the final financial 
and technical evaluations, which he intentionally did not disclose to the Task Force 
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and indeed denied any improper favouritism, as well as his denial of any attempt to 
solicit a bribe from Total Haiti. 

419. Based on the foregoing, Subject 4 breached Regulation 1.2(b) of the Staff 
Regulations of the United Nations because he failed to “uphold the highest standards of 
. . . integrity” when he failed to be to impartial, fair, honest and truthful during this 
procurement exercise.  

420. Subject 4 breached Regulation 1.2(g) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations when he used his “office or knowledge gained from [his] official functions for 
private gain, financial or otherwise, or for the private gain of any third party, including. . . 
those he favor[ed],” specifically, Dinasa.  

421. Subject 4 breached Regulation 1.2(r) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he failed to “respond fully to requests for information from” the Task 
Force in its investigation into the possible misuse of funds, waste or abuse. 

422. Subject 4 breached Regulation 1.3(a) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he did not “uphold the highest standards of . . . integrity in the discharge 
of [his] functions” during this procurement exercise. 

423. Subject 4 breached Rule 101.2 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the 
United Nations because he intentionally did not “comply with the Financial Regulations 
and Rules and with administrative instructions issued in connection with those 
Regulations and Rules” during this procurement exercise, and therefore should “be held 
personally accountable and financially liable for his . . . actions.” 

424. Subject 4 breached Regulation 5.12(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules 
of the United Nations because this procurement exercise was purposefully not 
conducted in a fair manner, with “integrity and transparency.” 

425. Subject 4 breached Rule 105.15(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules of 
the United Nations because the recommended award to Dinasa was not initially 
“awarded to the qualified proposer whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most 
responsive to the requirements set forth in the solicitation documents.” 

426. Subject 4 breached Section 10.1.1(3) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because he knew the requisitioner, Subject 3, improperly served on the Tender 
Opening Committee. 

427. Subject 4 breached Sections 10.8.4(4) and 11.6.6(5) of the United Nations 
Procurement Manual because he knew that both the technical and financial proposals 
were opened simultaneously, prior to the completion of a technical evaluation.   

428. Subject 4 breached Section 11.1(1)(b) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the “procurement process [was not] fair, objective and transparent,” nor 
did the process “give due consideration to” the general principles of “[f]airness, integrity 
and transparency.”  



OIOS PROCUREMENT TASK FORCE 
REPORT ON MINUSTAH GROUND FUEL PROCUREMENT  
STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PAGE 95 

429. Subject 4 breached Section 11.1(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the selection process was not “objective and . . . conducted in accordance with 
the above principles.” 

430. Subject 4 breached Section 11.3(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated based on “objective, 
non-discretionary” criteria or with an “ objective analysis” in accordance with the RFP 
and the Procurement Manual. 

431. Subject 4 breached Section 11.6.1(1) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the selection process was not “open and transparent,” and the evaluation 
of the proposals was not “fair, reasonable and objective.”  

432. Subject 4 breached Section 11.6.1(3) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the recommended award to Dinasa was not to “the qualified proposer 
whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most responsive to the requirements set 
forth” in the RFP.  

433. Subject 4 breached Section 11.6.2(2) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical evaluation was not “performed without prior knowledge of 
cost” and the financial proposals had been released to the Technical Evaluation 
Committee prior to the finalization of a technical evaluation. 

434. Subject 4 breached Section 11.6.7(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated “in a 
manner that [was] consistent and fair to all prospective Vendors.”  

435. Subject 4 breached Section 12.1.4(d) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because he failed to ensure “that procurement action [was] undertaken in 
accordance with the FRR, established procurement practices and procedures, and 
applicable SGBs and AIs.” 

436. Subject 4 breached Section 12.1.3(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because he submitted a presentation to the LCC and HCC which was factually 
inaccurate. 

437. Finally, Subject 4 breached Section 12.1.4(a)(d) of the United Nations 
Procurement Manual because he submitted a presentation to the HCC and LCC which 
was not accurate and he failed to “ensure that the procurement action [was] undertaken in 
accordance with the FRR, established procurement practices and procedures, and 
applicable SGBs and AIs.” 

6. Subject 5 
438. Subject 5 was a member of both the Technical and Tender Evaluation Committees 
and shared responsibility for performing the technical and overall evaluations.  During 
the long-term ground fuel procurement exercise, Subject 5 participated in the collusive 
effort with others to steer the technical and commercial evaluations to favour a specific 
vendor, Dinasa.  As a result of the bid-rigging scheme, the procurement exercise was not 
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conducted in compliance with the applicable rules and regulations, nor was it undertaken 
in a fair and transparent manner.  

439. Subject 5, however, fully cooperated with the Task Force regarding the 
circumstances of this procurement exercise.  When the procurement was commenced in 
January 2005, Subject 5 had just joined the Mission.  He acted under the directions of 
senior staff members, including his supervisor, Subject 3, and the CAS, Subject 1.  
Furthermore, Subject 5 transferred out of the Fuel Unit after this procurement exercise 
because he found it such a troubling experience.   

440. Specifically, Subject 5’s actions included: 

• he initially agreed that Dinasa’s proposal was non-compliant and lacked an 
understanding of the RFP; 

• he initially agreed not to request any clarifications from Dinasa because it failed to 
respond to a material element in the proposal, and therefore was non-compliant; 

• after reporting to his supervisors that Dinasa had been found to be non-compliant, he 
attended and participated in a series of meetings between Fuel and Procurement in 
which they discussed how to keep Dinasa in the procurement exercise; 

• he agreed to give Dinasa a second chance to correct its proposal and submit missing 
information regarding a mobilization plan, even though it had been disqualified from 
the procurement exercise; 

• he agreed to proceed with a BAFO that was held solely to help a non-compliant 
vendor, Dinasa, which also gave it a second opportunity to correct its proposal; 

• he attended a meeting with Total Haiti during the procurement exercise, at which the 
company had been told not to change its prices, thus reducing Total Haiti’s chance to 
offer more competitive prices; 

• as part of the evaluation team, he agreed to intentionally increase Dinasa’s score so it 
became the most qualified vendor in order for it to win the contract; 

• he therefore participated in a final technical evaluation which had not been fairly 
conducted and which was rigged to favour Dinasa; 

• he then participated in meetings with others to figure out how Dinasa could win the 
award; 

• he agreed with staff members in the Fuel and Procurement Section to do whatever 
was necessary in order for Dinasa to become the lowest bidder; 

• he agreed with others to make Dinasa the lowest bidder so it could win the award; and 

• under the supervision and direction of his supervisor, Subject 3, he manipulated the 
fuel estimates so Dinasa would become the lowest bidder; 

• he thus knew that the commercial evaluation was eventually rigged to favour Dinasa 
and that the proposals were not fairly evaluated. 
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441. Based on the foregoing, Subject 5 breached Regulation 1.2(b) of the Staff 
Regulations of the United Nations because he failed to “uphold the highest standards of 
. . . integrity” when he failed to be to impartial, fair, honest and truthful when 
participating in this procurement exercise.  

442. Subject 5 breached Regulation 1.2(g) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations when he used his “office or knowledge gained from [his] official functions for 
private gain, financial or otherwise, or for the private gain of any third party, including. . . 
those he favor[ed],” specifically, Dinasa.  

443. Subject 5 breached Regulation 1.3(a) of the Staff Regulations of the United 
Nations because he did not “uphold the highest standards of . . . integrity in the discharge 
of [his] functions” during this procurement exercise. 

444. Subject 5 breached Rule 101.2 of the Financial Regulations and Rules of the 
United Nations because he intentionally did not “comply with the Financial Regulations 
and Rules and with administrative instructions issued in connection with those 
Regulations and Rules” during this procurement exercise. 

445. Subject 5 breached Regulation 5.12(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules 
of the United Nations because this procurement exercise was purposefully not 
conducted in a fair manner, with “integrity and transparency.”  

446. Subject 5 breached Rule 105.15(b) of the Financial Regulations and Rules of 
the United Nations because the recommended award to Dinasa was not initially 
“awarded to the qualified proposer whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most 
responsive to the requirements set forth in the solicitation documents.” 

447. Subject 5 breached Section 11.1(1)(b) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the “procurement process [was not] fair, objective and transparent,” nor 
did the process “give due consideration to” the general principles of “[f]airness, integrity 
and transparency.”  

448. Subject 5 breached Section 11.1(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the selection process was not “objective and . . . conducted in accordance with 
the above principles.” 

449. Subject 5 breached Section 11.3(2) of the United Nations Procurement Manual 
because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated based on “objective, 
non-discretionary” criteria or with an “objective analysis” in accordance with the RFP 
and the Procurement Manual. 

450. Subject 5 breached Section 11.6.1(1) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the selection process was not “open and transparent,” nor was the 
evaluation of the proposals “fair, reasonable and objective.”  

451. Subject 5 breached Section 11.6.1(3) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the recommended award to Dinasa was not to “the qualified proposer 
whose proposal, all factors considered, [was] the most responsive to the requirements set 
forth” in the RFP.  
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452. Subject 5 breached Section 11.6.7(4) of the United Nations Procurement 
Manual because the technical and commercial proposals were not evaluated “in a 
manner that [was] consistent and fair to all prospective Vendors.”  

XIII. RECOMMENDATIONS 
A. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/1 

453. The Task Force recommends that appropriate action be taken against Subject 1 
for the violation of the UN Staff Regulations and Rules, UN Financial Regulations and 
Rules, and the UN Procurement Manual, and for his failure to cooperate fully and 
truthfully with the Task Force’s investigation.   

B. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/2 
454. The Task Force recommends that appropriate action be taken against Subject 2 
for the violation of the UN Staff Regulations and Rules, UN Financial Regulations and 
Rules, and the UN Procurement Manual, and for his failure to cooperate fully and 
truthfully with the Task Force’s investigation.  However, the Task Force recommends 
that Subject 2’s brief tenure as Officer-in-Charge of Procurement should be considered a 
mitigating factor.   

C. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/3 
455. The Task Force recommends that appropriate action be taken against Subject 6 for 
the violation of the UN Staff Regulations and Rules, UN Financial Regulations and 
Rules, and the UN Procurement Manual, and for his failure to cooperate fully and 
truthfully with the Task Force’s investigation. 

D. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/4 
456. The Task Force also recommends that Subject 6 be referred to the United States 
Attorney’s Office, Southern District of New York, for wilfully and intentionally making a 
material misstatement while testifying under oath in violation of Title 18 U.S.C. Section 
1621.  

E. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/5 
457. The Task Force recommends that appropriate action be taken against Subject 3 
for the violation of the UN Staff Regulations and Rules, UN Financial Regulations and 
Rules, and the UN Procurement Manual, and for his failure to cooperate fully and 
truthfully with the Task Force’s investigation.   
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F. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/6 
458. The Task Force recommends that appropriate action be taken against Subject 4 
for the violation of the UN Staff Regulations and Rules, UN Financial Regulations and 
Rules, and the UN Procurement Manual, and for his failure to fully and truthfully 
cooperate with the Task Force’s investigation. 

G. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/7 
459. The Task Force recommends that appropriate, yet mitigated, action be taken 
against Subject 4 be referred to the appropriate criminal authorities for a possible 
violation of bribery and corruption laws. 

H. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/8 
460. The Task Force recommends that no action be taken against Subject 5 for several 
reasons.  First, Subject 5 was the first witness to fully and truthfully cooperate with the 
Task Force’s investigation.  His testimony greatly aided the Task Force with its 
investigation.  Second, Subject 5, who was new at the Mission during this time, was 
working under the direction of his supervisor, Subject 3.  Finally, Subject 5 immediately 
transferred out of the Fuel Unit after this procurement exercise because he was so 
uncomfortable with his and the others’ actions. 

I. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/9 
461. Pursuant to Rule 112.3 of the Staff Regulations of the United Nations, Subject 
1, Subject 2, Subject 6, Subject 3 and Subject 4 should be “required to reimburse the 
United Nations either partially or in full for any financial loss suffered by the United 
Nations as a result of” their violations for the above Staff and Financial Regulations and 
Rules, and Procurement Manual. 

J. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/10 
462. Finally, it has been established in this report that, in numerous ways, Dinasa was 
shown favouritism during the MINUSTAH fuel procurement exercise.  There has also 
been a credible account, reported in a timely manner, of an attempt by a MINUSTAH 
Procurement staff member to obtain a financial benefit from one of the competing 
vendors. 

463. It has been the experience of the Task Force investigators involved in this case, 
who have a combined law enforcement background of more than 35 years, that 
favouritism to a particular vendor is often accompanied by financial remuneration that 
benefits one or more of the co-conspirators.  This has equally been demonstrated in the 
previous Task Force investigations which involved Mr. Alexander Yakovlev and several 
United Nations vendors (including Volga-Dnepr Airlines, Cogim S.p.A., and Avicos), as 
well as Mr. Sanjaya Bahel and the vendors, Telecommunication Consultants of India Ltd. 
and Thunderbird Industries, LLC. 
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464. As stated above, the Task Force has limited coercive authority.  In light of this, 
and because of the strong connection between vendor favouritism and financial benefit, it 
is recommended that the Secretary General direct the staff members, who have been 
identified participating in wrongdoing in this investigation and report, to provide full and 
complete financial disclosure.  Specifically, that Subject 1, Subject 2, Subject 6, Subject 
3, and Subject 4 be required to provide bank account information, bank statements, 
property and business records, and other such similar information requested by the Task 
Force for the time period both prior to and after this procurement exercise. 

K. RECOMMENDATION PTF-R010/07/11 
465. The Task Force recommends that the matter be referred to prosecutorial 
authorities in the host country. 
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ANNEX A: SUBJECT 2 LETTER TO THE TASK FORCE 
(11 JUNE 2007) 
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ANNEX B: SUBJECT 6 LETTER TO THE TASK FORCE 
(25 JUNE 2007) 
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ANNEX C: SUBJECT 4 LETTER TO THE TASK FORCE 
(25 JUNE 2007) 
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ANNEX D: SUBJECT 3 LETTER TO THE TASK FORCE 
(29 JUNE 2007) 
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FUEL (11 JUNE 2007) 

 



OIOS PROCUREMENT TASK FORCE 
REPORT ON MINUSTAH GROUND FUEL PROCUREMENT  
STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PAGE 150 

 



OIOS PROCUREMENT TASK FORCE 
REPORT ON MINUSTAH GROUND FUEL PROCUREMENT  
STRICTLY CONFIDENTIAL 
____________________________________________________________________________________________________________ 

PAGE 151 

ANNEX F: SANJAYA BAHEL TRIAL EXCERPT (4 JUNE 
2007) 
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ANNEX G: SUBJECT 1 LETTER TO THE TASK FORCE 
(6 JULY 2007) 
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